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Financial Highlights
IR E

2008 2007 %
—EENFE C—ZTTtHF Increase/
US$'million US$'million (Decrease)
BEBER BEET #% /R
Operating Results rexE
Revenue Wk 289.7 383.6 (24.5)
EBITDA RS L - BIE - T8 REHEADER (4.2) 13.8 N/A 3 A
Operating loss R (20.9) (27.9) (25.1)
Loss for the year FEEE (20.4) (30.9) (34.0)
Financial Position B AR R
Total assets BERE 103.6 139.9 (25.9)
Cash reserves REFHE 16.8 30.4 (44.7)
Net assets BERE 52.5 74.3 (29.3)
Financial Ratio B te =
Current ratio (Times) MBI E (F) 1.1 1.2 (8.3)
Gearing ratio (%) BREELE (%) 2.5% 8.1% (69.1)
Dividends BE
Interim dividend per share (HK cents) SIS &) - 1.8 N/AT 3 A
Final dividend per share (HK cents) FRCREARRE (GBI - 2.5 N/AZT 18
Full year dividend per share (HK cents) SR ZFEE GEL) - 43 N/AZT & A
Breakdown of Breakdown of Shipment Value Revenue
Revenue by Nature Shipment Value by Market HEEHE W 5
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Chairman's Statement
FEREE

n Linmark Group Limited annual report 2008

On behalf of the board of directors ("Board”), I present the results of Linmark Group
Limited ("Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the "Group” or “Linmark”) for the
year ended 30 April 2008.

Faced with economic slowdown coupled with escalating oil prices and increasing
inflationary pressure globally, fiscal year 2008 was indeed a challenging year for the
Group. Consumer sentiment, particularly in the US market, was severely affected by
the aftermath of sub-prime crisis. For the year under review, the Group's bottom
line fell short of our expectations.

The performance of our electronics division based in the UK has also not met our
expectations as it has been affected by higher returns from customers and write-
down in returned goods during the fiscal year. To address these issues, we have put
in place a new management team in March 2008 with an objective of stabilising the
business and to find ways to improve its performance.

Nevertheless, Linmark during the past year has been focusing its efforts on areas that
require valued-added services such as design and development. The shift in focus will
enhance the Group's overall profitability in the long run though in the short-term
it will see a drop in turnover. Operating expenses on the other hand have been kept
under control. | am also pleased to see that Linmark has managed to secure new
customers during the year under review which is expected to have a positive impact
to our business looking ahead.

Despite an uncertain economic outlook in the coming year in the major markets
which Linmark operates in, the Group will continue to look for ways to streamline
its operations where possible in order to maximise operating efficiencies and at the
same time strive to derive more cross-selling opportunities amongst the various
business divisions.

Furthermore, the business consolidation and restructuring initiatives made by
Linmark during the past two years have strengthened the Group's foundation to
grow. Although undoubtedly we see uncertainties on the global economic front as
we move into the new financial year, we are optimistic about Linmark's long-term
development.

In closing, | would like to express my gratitude to the members of the Board for their
constant guidance and support and to our shareholders for their unwavering support
to the Group during the past year. Finally, | am grateful to the management team
and the staff for their commitment and hard work during the past year.

WANG Lu Yen
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 July 2008
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Report of the Chief Executive Officer

TTHARRES
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Business review

Overview

For the year ended 30 April 2008, shipment value amounted to approximately
US$590.7 million (equivalent to HK$4,607.5 million), a decrease of approximately
32.4% as compared to approximately US$874.1 million (equivalent to HK$6,818.0
million) for last year. The decrease was mainly attributable to a decline from the
traditional commission-based business and drop in sales from the electronics division
operated by Dowry Peacock Group Limited ("Dowry Peacock”). Revenue decreased by
approximately 24.5% to approximately US$289.7 million (equivalent to HK$2,259.7
million).

For the year ended 30 April 2008, the Group reported a loss after tax of approximately
US$20.4 million (equivalent to HK$159.1 million), against a loss after tax of
approximately US$30.9 million (equivalent to HK$241.0 million) for last year. The
loss for the year under review was attributed to (1) non-cash items of approximately
US$13.3 million (equivalent to HK$103.7 million), representing the impairment
losses on goodwill and patents and trademarks and (2) weak trading results of
Dowry Peacock which was largely attributed to higher warranty charges arising from
customer returns and write-down in returned stock.

Operating expenses excluding finance costs decreased by approximately US$6.1
million (equivalent to HK$47.6 million) to approximately US$39.9 million (equivalent
to HK$311.2 million). The decrease was attributable to several factors, namely, decline
in doubtful debts, reduction in staff and downsizing of certain offices. The decline
also reflects the effectiveness of the Group's cost and credit control measures put
in place during the year under review.

Dowry Peacock experienced a difficult year as it had been impacted by higher
warranty charges arising from customer returns, write-down in returned stock,
and decline in sales due to weaker demand from some of its key customers. In
March 2008, a new management team was put in place to lead this business going
forward. For the year ended 30 April 2008, Dowry Peacock reported a loss after tax
(including trademark impairment charges) amounting to US$19.1 million (equivalent
to HK$149.0 million).
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Report of the Chief Executive Officer
THERRES

Segmental analysis
The table below shows the shipment value to different markets during the

year under review as compared to amounts in the previous year:

DEIW
TERBOBEFETRATISNNES L
(EBHEEDTE :

BEEEFH

Shipment value
For the year ended 30 April

HEEHE
BEMA=+tHLEE
2008 2007
—EENFE —_TTLHF
US$'million US$'million
BEER BEET
Europe M 218.7 320.9
North America JE=M 218.0 303.8
Others HAh 154.0 249.4
Total CEa 590.7 874.1

During the year under review, shipment to Europe decreased by
approximately 31.8% to approximately US$218.7 million (equivalent to
HK$1,705.9 million). The decrease in shipment was mainly attributable to a
drop in sales from the electronics division in the UK. Europe now represents
the Group's largest market, contributing to approximately 37.0% of the
Group's total shipment.

Shipment to North America accounts for approximately 36.9% of the
Group's total shipment. Shipment to North America decreased by 28.2%
largely due to a drop in hardgoods business as well as weaker-than-
expected demand from certain customers in North America.

Shipment grouped under "Others", mainly representing shipment to the
southern hemisphere, amounted to approximately US$154.0 million
(equivalent to HK$1,201.2 million). The drop was mainly due to the
departure of a key customer in the beginning of the year under review as
well as the lower-than-expected orders from South Africa as a result of
the temporary import quota imposed by the South African authority earlier
in the year under review.

Indian tax case

In January 2007, the Group lodged objections to the India tax authority
against the assessment orders charging the Group for a tax liability
of approximately US$10.5 million (equivalent to HK$81.9 million) in
respect of the operation of the Group's liaison office in India ("India
Liaison Office") for tax assessment years 1999/2000 to 2004/2005. In
March 2008, The Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals) ("CITA") of India
issued an order that the India Liaison Office is liable to tax in India.

Total tax payment demanded by the Director of Income Tax of India in

Linmark Group Limited annual report 2008
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respect of tax assessment years 1999/2000 to 2005/2006 amounted
to approximately US$835,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$6.5
million) which has already been paid. However, under the advice of
an independent firm of certified public accountants (who is not the
Company's auditor) engaged by the Group, the Group has lodged appeals
to the Tax Tribunal in India in May 2008. The Group is of the view that
adequate provision has been made for the potential tax liability in India.

Financial review

The Group's financial position remains healthy with cash and cash
equivalents of approximately US$16.8 million (equivalent to HK$131.0
million) as at 30 April 2008. In addition, the Group has total banking
facilities of approximately US$62.9 million (equivalent to HK$490.6 million)
including borrowing facilities of approximately US$7.6 million (equivalent
to HK$59.3 million) as at 30 April 2008.

The Group has a current ratio of 1.1 and a low gearing ratio of 0.02, based
on interest-bearing borrowings of approximately US$1.3 million (equivalent
to HK$10.1 million) and total equity of approximately US$52.5 million
(equivalent to HK$409.5 million) as at 30 April 2008. There has not been
any material change in the Group's borrowings since 30 April 2008.

During the year under review, trade receivables decreased from
approximately US$31.4 million (equivalent to HK$244.9 million) as at
30 April 2007 to approximately US$21.4 million (equivalent to HK$166.9
million) as at 30 April 2008.

The Group's net asset value as at 30 April 2008 was approximately US$52.5
million (equivalent to HK$409.5 million).
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As at 30 April 2008, there was a fixed and floating debenture over the
assets of Dowry Peacock to cover banking facilities granted to its subsidiary
in the ordinary course of business. The Group had no material contingent
liability as at 30 April 2008 and there has been no material change since
then.

Foreign exchange exposure

The majority of the Group's transactions during the year under review were
denominated in US dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Sterling. To minimise
exchange risks, sales and purchases are generally transacted in the same
currency.

As the exchange rate of US dollars and Hong Kong dollars is pegged,
management considers the foreign exchange risk in this respect is not
significant. The Group has certain investments in foreign operations, whose
net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk. However, as the
net foreign exchange exposure of the foreign operations is not significant,
the Group does not actively hedge this foreign exchange exposure. During
the year under review, the Group used foreign exchange forward contracts
to manage foreign exchange risks from Sterling transactions. There was no
outstanding foreign exchange forward contract as at 30 April 2008.

The Group periodically reviews monetary assets and liabilities held in
currencies other than US dollars and Hong Kong dollars to ensure that net
exposure is kept at an acceptable level, and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Remuneration policy and
scheme

As at 30 April 2008, the Group had 716 staff. The total staff costs
for the year under review amounted to approximately US$24.3 million
(equivalent to HK$189.5 million) (2007: US$26.7 million (equivalent to
HK$208.3 million)). The Group offers competitive remuneration schemes

staff development

to its employees based on industry practices, individual and the Group's
performance. In addition, share options and discretionary bonuses are also
granted to eligible staff based on both the Group's as well as individual
performance.
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Prospects

The Group has secured new customers during the year under review.
Management expects the new customer base will make a positive
contribution to the Group's revenue next year.

While management expects moderate growth in certain markets, the
overall trading environment for the Group will continue to be challenged
by rising fuel and labor costs, inflation and a weak US dollar. With current
economic slowdown in both the US and UK and its potential spillover
effects into other markets, management expects business climate to be
increasingly challenging and uncertain as we move into the new financial
year. However, management will continue to look for ways to promote sales
and cross-selling opportunities, consolidate its operations and maximise
operating efficiencies.

In respect of Dowry Peacock, the new management recognises that markets
are changing in the UK and are implementing strategic programmes
in response to the current market conditions. Future focus will be on
expanding the current range of licensed branded products and putting in
efforts to further develop its own range of brands both in the UK and other
markets in Europe to improve margins and at the same time to reduce the
reliance on commoditised electronic products. Furthermore, specific actions
have been taken with an aim to reduce both the incidence and financial
impact of customer returns.

With a strengthened foundation as a result of business consolidation

and widespread restructuring initiatives made during the past two years,
management is optimistic about the Group's long-term prospects.

Peter Loris SOLOMON
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 31 July 2008
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
E=NEAEEEEN

Executive directors

Mr. WANG Lu Yen, aged 54, is an executive director and
the chairman of the Company and is presently responsible
for the Group's corporate and strategy planning. Mr. Wang
joined the Group in 1998. He is a co-founder, an executive
director and chairman of Roly International Holdings Ltd. ("Roly
International”), the indirect holding company of the Company
which was listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited from February 1996 to April 2007, since 2000. Mr.
Wang was the chairman and an executive director of Byford
International Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the
Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited ("Stock Exchange”) from September 2004 to September
2007.

Mr. Wang has over 25 years of experience in the trading and
distribution business. He was awarded Outstanding Businessman
by Taiwan's Ministry of Economic Affairs in 1985. Mr. Wang is
a member of the China Overseas Friendship Association, a vice-
chairman of China Association for Middle and Small Commercial
Enterprises, the vice-chairman of China Committee of Hong
Kong General Chamber of Commerce, a member of Garment
Advisory Committee of Hong Kong Trade Development Council,
a member of the Hong Kong Policy Research Institute Limited,
a founder and a director of the Taiwan Design Center, the
chairman of the Soochow Management Academic Foundation of
Soochow University, the honorary chairman of Taiwan Business
Association (Hong Kong) Limited, a director of International
Chamber of Commerce - Hong Kong, China, a member of
Shanghai Chinese Overseas Friendship Association and a member
of The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region Central Policy Unit Pan-Pearl River Delta Panel. Mr.
Wang holds a Bachelor's degree in Business Administration
from Soochow University, Taiwan and an EMBA degree from
Guanghua School of Management, Peking University, PRC. Mr.
Wang received the Directors of The Year Awards 2005 hosted by
The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

Mr. Peter Loris SOLOMON, aged 49, was appointed an executive
director of the Company and the chief executive officer of the
Group in late February 2006. Mr. Solomon was appointed a
director and the chief executive of Tamarind International
Limited in 1991. The Tamarind business was acquired by the
Group in December 2004. Mr. Solomon is primarily responsible
for the development of sales both in terms of signing new
accounts and managing existing customer relationships. Prior
to joining Tamarind, he was the managing director of Sussan
Groups buying office in Hong Kong. Mr. Solomon was a director
of Stirling Group Plc., a company listed on the London Stock
Exchange, during the period 1999 to 2003. He has over 30 years
of extensive experience in the full spectrum of supply chain
management.
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Mr. KHOO Kim Cheng, aged 57, has been an executive director
of the Company since 2002. He has also been an executive
director and the chief financial officer of Roly International
since 1995. Mr. Khoo advises the Group on corporate finance
related matters. He has over 10 years of experience in corporate
finance and financial management industry. Mr. Khoo worked
for an international accounting firm and an investment bank
prior to joining a subsidiary of Roly International in 1994. He
holds a Master of Business Administration degree from Southern
Methodist University, Dallas, Texas, the US. Mr. Khoo qualified as
a Certified Public Accountant in the US and is a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA").

Non-executive directors

Mr. WONG Wai Ming, aged 50, is a non-executive director of
the Company. Mr. Wong has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since it was listed in 2002 and was
redesignated as an executive director of the Company in 2005
and then further redesignated as a non-executive director
of the Company in 2007. Mr. Wong is a senior vice president
and the chief financial officer of Lenovo Group Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He is
also an independent non-executive director of I.T Limited and
China Unicom Limited and a non-executive director of Kingsoft
Corporation Limited, all of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong was an executive director and
chief executive officer of Roly International from 2005 to 2007.
He was previously an investment banker with over 16 years of
experience in investment banking business in Greater China. Mr.
Wong is a chartered accountant of the United Kingdom and an
associate member of the HKICPA. He holds a Bachelor's degree
of Science (with Honours) in Management Sciences from The
Victoria University of Manchester, the UK.
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Mr. Mark HSU, aged 38, is a managing director of H&Q
Asia Pacific ("H&Q") and has been with the firm since 2001.
H&Q manages Asia Pacific Growth Fund V, LP., a substantial
shareholder of the Company. He has also been a director of R
Holdings Bermuda Limited and Rl Investment Holdings Bermuda
Limited, both of which are intermediate holding companies of
the Company, since November 2007. Mr. Hsu was initially based
in H&Q's Palo Alto office working on venture capital transactions
and joined the Shanghai office in early 2005. Before joining
H&Q, he was a director of business development for Sina.com,
a company listed on NASDAQ, focusing on technology, media
and branded consumer partnerships. From 1999 to 2001, Mr.
Hsu was an attorney with Simpson Thacher & Bartlett where he
engaged in securities and merger and acquisition transactions
in the private equity industry, principally working with The
Blackstone Group.

Mr. Hsu holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from the University
of California at Los Angeles and a Juris Doctorate degree from
Columbia University, the United States. Mr. Hsu has served on
the boards of various corporations and business organisations,
including GRIC Communications, Inc. (now known as GoRemote
Internet Communications, Inc., a company previously listed on
the NASDAQ) during the period from 2002 to 2003, The Churchill
Club (www.churchillclub.org) and Asia America MultiTechnology
Association (www.aamasv.com) both for the period from 2001
to 2005.

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. WANG Arthur Minshiang, aged 47, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since 2002. Mr. Wang is
also the chief executive officer of GigaMedia Limited, a NASDAQ
listed online entertainment and game provider. Previously,
Mr. Wang was a co-founder and executive director of KGlI
Asia Limited, the investment banking arm of the Koos Group
of Taiwan. Mr. Wang also serves on the board of directors of
several finance and technology companies in the region and
was previously a member of the board of Softbank Investment
International (Strategic) Limited (now known as China Renji
Medical Group Limited), the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wang received his Juris
Doctorate degree from Yale Law School and practised corporate
and securities law in Hong Kong and New York. He also holds a
Bachelor of Arts degree from the University of California at Los
Angeles, the US.
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Mr. TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius, aged 60, has been the independent
non-executive director of the Company since 2005. Mr. Tse is a
fellow of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales, and the HKICPA. Mr. Tse is a past president of the HKICPA.
He joined KPMG in 1976, became a partner in 1984 and retired
in March 2003. Mr. Tse was a non-executive Chairman of KPMG's
operations in the PRC and a member of the KPMG China advisory
board from 1997 to 2000. Mr. Tse is currently an independent
non-executive director of Wing Hang Bank, Limited, CNOOC
Limited, China Telecom Corporation Limited, China Construction
Bank Corporation, Sinofert Holdings Limited and SJM Holdings
Limited, all listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr.
Tse is also the chairman of the International Advisory Council
of the People's Municipal Government of Wuhan. Mr. Tse holds
a Bachelor of Social Sciences degree from The University of
Hong Kong.

Mr. Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS, aged 61, was managing
director before he retired from Otto International Asia in
September 2007. He joined Otto International Asia in 1994 as
managing director and was responsible for all of its sourcing
offices and trading companies in the Asia Pacific region. Prior
to that, he worked his way through different aspects of the
garment industry for 22 years in South Africa. Having been
managing director for the manufacturing subsidiary of a major
retailer in South Africa and a board member of such retailer for
4 years, he joined a large American apparel manufacturer in
Hong Kong in 1992. He holds a Bachelor's degree in Garment
Engineering received from a college in Netherlands.
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Senior management

Mr. WONG Hing Lin, Dennis, aged 38, has been the chief
financial officer of the Group since January 2006 and oversees
the finance, shipping, human resources and investor relations
functions of the Group. Prior to that, Mr. Wong was the head
of corporate development department of Roly International
primarily responsible for Roly International and the Group's
corporate development, mergers and acquisitions and investor
relations activities. Before joining Roly International in 2000, he
had worked at several major international financial institutions
where he gained extensive experience in finance and banking. He
holds a Master of Business Administration degree in finance from
Boston University, the United States, and a Bachelor of Science
degree from the University of British Columbia, Canada.

Mr. Arthur Etienne Marie PRUIJT, aged 41, has been the
senior vice president of group operations since July 2007. Before
that, Mr. Pruijt served the Group as the general manager of
the offices in Thailand and Bangladesh and as the SBU general
manager of the Group's European accounts. Prior to joining the
Group, he worked as an account manager for a Dutch buying
agency in Indonesia from 1993 to 1997 and as general manager
for an Italian buying agency from 1997 to 2005. Mr. Pruijt has
extensive experience in merchandising and quality control as
well as general management including financing, budgeting and
human resources.

Company secretary

Ms. CHEUNG Hoi Yin, Brenda, aged 40, is the company
secretary of the Company and Roly International. Ms. Cheung
joined a subsidiary of Roly International in 1997 as an assistant
company secretary. She has over 15 years of company secretarial
experience gained in listed companies. Ms. Cheung holds a
Bachelor of Arts degree in Accountancy and is an associate
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators,
the UK.
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Corporate Governance Report
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The Company has adopted most of the Code Provisions as stated in the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices (“CG Code") contained in Appendix
14 to the Rules (“Listing Rules") Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange as the Code on Corporate Governance Practices ("Code")
of the Company and the Board is committed to complying with the Code
to the extent that the directors consider it is applicable to the Company
and practical.

The corporate governance principles of the Group emphasise an effective
Board, sound internal controls, appropriate independence policy, and
transparency and accountability to all shareholders of the Company.

The Company has fully complied with the Code Provisions save for
modifications made to Code Provision B.1.3, details of which will be
explained below.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company are
summarised as follows:

The Board

Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company's business is vested in the Board,
which assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of the Company
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company
by directing and supervising its affairs. All directors should make decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company.

The functions of the Board are carried out either directly or through Board
committees. To ensure the Board is in a position to exercise its powers in
an informed manner, all members of the Board have full and timely access
to all relevant information and may take independent professional advice
if necessary.

The Board has the full support of the chief executive officer and senior
management to discharge its responsibilities.

Appropriate insurance cover for directors' and officers' liabilities in respect
of legal actions against the directors and officers of the Company and
its subsidiaries arising out of corporate activities of the Group has been
arranged by the Company.
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AREREE

Composition

The composition of the Board reflects the necessary balance of skills
and experience desirable for effective leadership of the Company and

independence in decision making.

The Board currently comprises eight directors in total, with three executive
directors, two non-executive directors and three independent non-executive
directors. The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date

of this report were as follows:

EEgNAKBRARRAREERBILRRAE
BE 2RI R B o

ExgAatm/\UEFAEK  BE=UNTE
= MUFRTEFR=MUBIIERNTES - AT
RARBFRALBEAREAHIENES -

Name of Directors Positions

EEnR B A

WANG Lu Yen Chairman and executive director
F#E FERATES

Peter Loris SOLOMON

KHOO Kim Cheng
Ef 87 7R

FU Jin Ming, Patrick
EEEA

WONG Wai Ming
&HIEHA

Mark HSU
w3

Gregory Scott LEONG
= a S

WANG Arthur Minshiang
FHE

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius
HEDT

Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS

WOON Yi Teng, Eden

HIAE
KWOK Tai Ki

FBEH
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Chief executive officer and executive director

TREHFATES

Executive director

HITES

Executive director (retired on 5 July 2007)
HITEES (RZEZLFEAABRK)

Non-executive director (redesignated from executive director to non-executive director
on 5 July 2007)
INTES (R EELtF AT HBERTESEENERAIFERITES)

Non-executive director (appointed on 4 January 2008)

FRTERE (R_TTN\F-HEHBEZE)

Non-executive director (appointed on 5 July 2007 and then resigned on 4 January 2008)
HFNTEE (RZZZLF AR BERE  ABR-ZZN\F—AMBEHE)

Independent non-executive director

BUIFATEF

Independent non-executive director

BIFATES

Independent non-executive director (appointed on 5 May 2008)

BIERNTEE (R ZZE\FHEARAEERE)

Independent non-executive director (resigned on 31 August 2007)
BNIERTES (R_ZEELFNA=+—HET)

Independent non-executive director (appointed on 5 July 2007 and then resigned
on 5 May 2008)
BYENTEE (RZZEZELF AR AELZE  ARRZZENFHARAEE)



The list of directors by category is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules
from time to time. None of the members of the Board is related to one
another.

During the year ended 30 April 2008, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive directors with at least one independent
non-executive director possessing appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive director of his independence pursuant to rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on the contents of such confirmation, the
Company considers that all of the independent non-executive directors
are independent.

The independent non-executive directors bring a wide range of business
and financial expertise, experiences and independent judgement to the
Board. Through active participation in Board meetings, taking the lead in
managing issues involving potential conflict of interests and serving on
Board committees, all independent non-executive directors make various
contributions to the effective direction of the Company.

Appointment, re-election and removal of directors

The Board as a whole is responsible for reviewing the Board composition,
developing and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of directors, monitoring the appointment and succession
planning of directors and assessing the independence of independent
non-executive directors.

The Board reviews its own structure, size and composition regularly to
ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate
to the requirements of the business of the Company.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Board will carry out the selection
process by making reference to the skills, experience, professional
knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments of the proposed
candidates, the Company's needs and other relevant statutory requirements
and requlations. An external recruitment agency may be engaged to assist
in the recruitment and selection process when necessary.

On 5 May 2008, the appointment of Mr. Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS
as independent non-executive director in place of Mr. KWOK Tai Ki was
approved by the Board at a meeting held on 5 May 2008.
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Each of Mr. WANG Lu Yen and Mr. KHOO Kim Cheng, being an executive
director, has entered into a service contract with the Company with an
initial term of three years from May 2002 and has continued thereafter
until terminated by either party by not less than six months' notice in
writing. Mr. Peter Loris SOLOMON and the Linmark Group have entered
into three letters of appointment pursuant to which Mr. Solomon has
been appointed as chief executive officer and executive director of the
Company, managing director of Linmark (HK) Limited and managing
director of Linmark Development (BVI) Limited for an initial term of two
years commencing on 1 May 2006, during or after which either party may
terminate the appointment at any time by giving to the other no less than
twelve months' notice in writing or payment of twelve month's salary in
lieu of notice.

Each of the two non-executive directors, namely Mr. WONG Wai Ming
and Mr. Mark HSU, has been appointed (or redesignated in the case of Mr.
WONG Wai Ming) on 5 July 2007 and 4 January 2008 respectively for a
term of two years under a letter of appointment. The appointments may
be terminated by the non-executive directors by not less than one month's
notice in writing.

Each of the three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. WANG
Arthur Minshiang, Mr. TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius and Mr. Jakob Jacobus Koert
TULLENERS, has first been appointed for a term of two years under a letter
of appointment. Such term has been/will be renewed for a further two years
upon expiry. The appointments may be terminated by the independent non-
executive directors by not less than one month's notice in writing.

The Company's bye-laws provide that all directors are subject to retirement
by rotation once every three years and any new director appointed by the
Board to fill a causal vacancy shall be subject to re-election by shareholders
at the first general meeting after appointment.

The Company's bye-laws also allow for removal of a director by an ordinary
resolution.

The Board recommended the re-appointment of the directors standing for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

The Company's circular to be despatched to shareholders of the Company

on or about 12 August 2008 will contain detailed information of the

directors standing for re-election.
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Training for directors

Each newly appointed director has received comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment, so as to ensure
that he has appropriate understanding of the business and operations of
the Group and that he is fully aware of his responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing briefing and
professional development to directors whenever necessary.

Board meetings

Number of meetings and directors’ attendance

Regular Board meetings are held four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals primarily for reviewing and approving the financial
and operating performance, and considering and approving the overall
strategies and policies of the Company.

The Board met five times during the year ended 30 April 2008 for considering
the budget of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2008, approving the
audited final results for the year ended 30 April 2007, unaudited interim
results for the six months ended 31 October 2007, reviewing business
strategy and approving a continuing connected transaction.
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The individual attendance record of each director at the meetings of the
Board, Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee during the year

ended 30 April 2008 is set out below:

X%%%@ﬁifg NFUA=TRILFENES

BREEERFHEE e 2 EAALFERE

§|JZZDT :

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HER GRAH

Audit Remuneration
Name of Directors Board Committee Committee
EEnE EEg EREEE FMEESE
WANG Lu Yen 5 N/A 2
F 1A TER
Peter Loris SOLOMON 3" 1%
KHOO Kim Cheng 3" 2"
PR
WONG Wai Ming (Note 1) 2 N/A N/A
=E (M5 1) T3 A T3 F
Mark HSU (Note 2) 3 N/A N/A
e (BFEE 2) NiE A T EA
TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius (Note 3) 5 3 2
MEHT (M5E 3)
WANG Arthur Minshiang (Note 4) 5 2 2
F o (M 4)
Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS (Note 5) N/A N/A N/A
(Pfi3E 5) TEA TEA T EA
FU Jin Ming, Patrick (Note 6) N/A N/A N/A
B1&88 (ML 6) i T EA NEA
WOON Yi Teng, Eden (Note 7) 1 - 2
SAE (M3 7)
Gregory Scott LEONG (Note 8) 2 1* N/A
58 (M 8) TEA
KWOK Tai Ki (Note 9) 5 3 N/A
2R (FfTEE 9) N3
Number of meetings held 5 3 2
BITGHRRH
Notes: B 5E
1. Mr. WONG Wai Ming was redesignated to non-executive director and ceased to act as 1. HERERASER-ZEZLFE AR BESHEIRAIENT

a member of each of the Executive Committee, Investment Committee and Strategy

Committee of the Board on 5 July 2007.

2. Mr. Mark HSU was appointed a non-executive director and a member of Investment

Committee of the Board on 4 January 2008.

3. Mr. TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius was appointed the chairman of Audit Committee of the Board

on 4 January 2008.

4. Mr. WANG Arthur Minshiang was appointed the chairman of Remuneration Committee and

ceased to act as the chairman of Audit Committee of the Board on 4 January 2008.

Mr. Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS was appointed as an independent non-executive
director and a member of Audit Committee of the Board on 5 May 2008.

Mr. FU Jin Ming, Patrick retired as an executive director and ceased to act as a member
of each of the Executive Committee and the Strategy Committee of the Board on 5 July
2007.
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7. Dr. WOON Yi Teng, Eden resigned as an independent non-executive director, ceased to
act as a member of Audit Committee and the chairman of Remuneration Committee of
the Board on 31 August 2007.

8. Mr. Gregory Scott LEONG was appointed a non-executive director and a member of
Investment Committee of the Board on 5 July 2007 and then resigned as a non-executive
director and a member of Investment Committee of the Board on 4 January 2008.

9. Mr. KWOK Tai Ki was appointed an independent non-executive director and a member of
Audit Committee of the Board on 5 July 2007 and then resigned as independent non-
executive director and ceased to act as a member of Audit Committee of the Board on 5
May 2008.

The directors are not members of the committee at the relevant time but attended the
meetings by invitation.

In place of physical meetings, the Board and Board committees also
circulate written resolutions for approval by the relevant members of the
Board and Board committees.

Practices and conduct of meetings
Meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are made available
to directors in advance.

Notices of reqular Board meetings are served to all directors at least
14 days before the meetings. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are generally sent to all directors at least three days before
each Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the directors apprised
of the latest developments and financial position of the Company and to
enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and each director also
have separate and independent access to the senior management whenever
necessary.

The chief executive officer, chief financial officer, qualified accountant and
company secretary of the Company attend all reqular Board meetings and
when necessary, other Board and committee meetings to advise on business
developments, financial and accounting matters, statutory compliance,
corporate governance and other major aspects of the Company.

The company secretary is responsible for taking and keeping minutes
of all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft and final versions
of minutes of Board meetings are normally sent to directors for their
comments and records respectively, in both cases within a reasonable time
after each meeting is held.
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According to the current Board practice, any material transaction, which
involves a conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder or a director,
will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened
Board meeting. The Company's bye-laws also contain provisions requiring
directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at
meetings for approving transactions in which such directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.

Chairman and chief executive officer

The role of the chairman is separate from that of the chief executive officer
of the Group. Currently, the two positions are held by Mr. WANG Lu Yen and
Mr. Peter Loris SOLOMON (who are not related to each other) respectively.
Their respective responsibilities are clearly defined and set out in writing,
details of which are stated below.

The chairman's principal role is to provide leadership for the Board, in
particular, the Executive Committee, on corporate and strategic planning and
ensure proper proceedings of the Board and the Executive Committee.

Supported by the executive directors and the senior management, the chief
executive officer's principal role is to manage and operate the Group's
day-to-day business, including the implementation of major strategies and
initiatives adopted by the Board.

Board committees

The Board has established five committees, namely, the Executive Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee, Investment Committee and
Strategy Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's
affairs.

Terms of reference of all Board committees are available on the Company's
website at www.linmark.com for reference.
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Current structure of the Board

Executive Committee
HITLZER

Audit Committee
ERLZE®

Remuneration Committee

FMZES

Investment Committee
RELZBE

Strategy Committee
RREEEE

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company's
expenses.

Executive Committee
The Executive Committee consists of all the executive directors as
follows:

WANG Lu Yen (chairman of the committee)

Peter Loris SOLOMON (chief executive officer)

KHOO Kim Cheng

FU Jin Ming, Patrick (ceased to act as member of the committee
on 5 July 2007)

WONG Wai Ming (ceased to act as member of the committee
on 5 July 2007)

The Board has delegated the day-to-day management and operation
functions of the Group to the Executive Committee save to the extent that
certain powers and authorities are reserved to the other Board committees
or the full Board. The powers and authorities reserved to the full Board
include the following but are not limited to:

(@) matters involving a conflict of interest for a substantial shareholder
and/or a director;

(b) making decisions on whether or not to declare, recommend or pay
dividend;
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(c) approving (i) the publication of preliminary announcement of the
profits or losses in respect of annual results or interim results and
(i) the related financial statements and/or accounts;

approving any proposed change in the capital structure, including any
redemption of its securities listed on the Stock Exchange;

(e) approving any decision to change the general character or nature of
the business of the Company;

(f) approving any discloseable transaction, major transaction, very
substantial acquisition or connected transaction within the meaning
of Chapters 14 and 14A of the Listing Rules;

matters specifically set out in the Listing Rules which require an
approval at a full board meeting; and

any regulations or resolutions or restrictions that may be imposed
upon the committees by the Board from time to time.

The authorities reserved to the Remuneration Committee are more

particularly discussed below.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises all independent non-executive directors
as follows:

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius (appointed chairman of the committee
on 4 January 2008)

WANG Arthur Minshiang (ceased to act as chairman of the committee
on 4 January 2008 but remains as member of the committee)

Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS (appointed member of the committee
on 5 May 2008)

WOON Yi Teng, Eden (ceased to act as member of the committee
on 31 August 2007)

KWOK Tai Ki (appointed member of the committee on 5 July 2007 and
then ceased to act as member of the committee on 5 May 2008)

None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the
Company's existing external auditor.
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The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the Company's
annual reports and accounts, interim reports and results announcements
and to provide advice and comments thereon to the directors. The
members meet regularly with the internal auditor, external auditor and
the Company's senior management for the review and supervision of
the Company's financial reporting and internal control procedures. The
Audit Committee is also responsible for monitoring integrity of financial
statements of the Company and the Company's annual report and accounts
and interim report, and to review significant financial reporting judgments
contained in them.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held three meetings
to:

(@) review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the qualified accountant,
internal auditor or external auditor before submission to the Board;

(b) review the relationship with the external auditor by reference to the
work performed by the auditor, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditor; and

(c) review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's financial
reporting system, internal control system and risk management

system and associated procedures.

The Audit Committee also reviewed the terms and conditions of connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions of the Company which

took place during the year under review.

The Company's annual results for the year ended 30 April 2008 has been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
on the selection and appointment of the external auditor during the year
under review.

ERZEENIZRBEERF AR RFRERAE
THBERFERM  THRERAESREEZREK
R BREBEKEEHEABZEE - M\Hﬂ?%(
MEARBRRERERITESE  HARFTNUB
WE R E &Vﬁ&ﬁ% REEE - IS B
ZEENTAEREBARRAMBRE ARFFHRA
RERPHRENERNE  URBEEPAAERD
A7 S s HI g o

EAZ}S@E5¢F ERERERBRTT=ZREE BN
(a) BRMBRERMS LEZXEZGHEE

mEEREETA - AR BN SIS B iR
HHERNEAX TS HIER

o) SESEEBEMBITOLIE - BHRIE
EEMOME  AMeRBERK LRE
£ ENECRBBNERBAAEE R
B R

(0 % ENA R IEHRE RGF - REEIRRL - R
ERZBMEAREFNTEREERR -

o BEREZE T EZIKAT NN [El BEF JE A
TTHRER 5 KI5 B REE R R R S & -

EREZBQEEFARRBE_TT\FOA=1
BILFEMFEEEE -

EEgUBRRZE e M AmEFEANRERE
EIMNERHE L |ERBR I o

—ET\FEEH HEEEERAT JKY



Corporate Governance Report
NEIERRE

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, the majority of
which are independent non-executive directors, as follows:

WANG Arthur Minshiang (appointed chairman of the committee
on 4 January 2008)

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius

WANG Lu Yen

WOON Yi Teng, Eden (ceased to act as chairman of the committee
on 31 August 2007)

The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations on and approving the remuneration policy and structure
and remuneration packages of the directors and senior management. The
Remuneration Committee is also responsible for establishing transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure
that no director or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/
her own remuneration, which remuneration will be determined by reference
to the performance of the individual and the Company as well as market
practice and conditions. The Remuneration Committee shall consult the
chairman and/or the chief executive officer of the Company about their
recommendations on remuneration policy and structure and remuneration
packages.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee were in compliance
with the Code Provisions except modifications have been made to Code
Provision B.1.3(a) such that the Remuneration Committee has the power
to do such things and to approve all matters in relation to compensation
regarding all the directors and senior management of the Group in
accordance with the terms and conditions of their respective agreement/
contract with the Company, or as the case may be, the relevant subsidiary
of the Company and Code Provision B.1.3(b) has been deleted. In addition,
the Remuneration Committee is also delegated with the authority to
exercise all the powers of the Board in relation to the share option scheme
of the Company.

Management considers that the Remuneration Committee can better serve
its functions under the modified terms (“Modified Terms") of reference of
the Remuneration Committee set out above as its duties under the Modified
Terms are more extensive and onerous than those prescribed in the Code
Provisions. The Company therefore proposes that the Remuneration
Committee shall continue to abide by the provisions of the Modified
Terms in the future. Management will review the terms regularly and make
appropriate changes if necessary.
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On 24 July 2007 and 3 August 2007, meetings of the Remuneration
Committee were held to review and approve the remuneration packages
of the executive directors and senior management (including grant of
share options) and no directors were involved in deciding his own
remuneration.

Investment Committee
The Investment Committee comprises three executive directors as
follows:

KHOO Kim Cheng (chairman of the committee)

Peter Loris SOLOMON

Mark HSU (appointed member of the committee on 4 January 2008)

Gregory Scott LEONG (appointed member of the committee on 5 July 2007
and then ceased to act as member of the committee on 4 January 2008)

WONG Wai Ming (ceased to act as member on 5 July 2007)

The primary duties of the Investment Committee are to review or recommend
to the Board the investment transactions of the Group.

The main duties of the Investment Committee include the following:

(@) to review, recommend and approve matters relating to mergers and
acquisitions, disposal and formation of any entities and joint ventures
which would not constitute notifiable transactions under the Listing
Rules;

(b) to review and recommend matters to the Board for approval relating
to mergers and acquisitions, disposal and formation of any entities
and joint ventures which would constitute notifiable transactions
under the Listing Rules; and

(c) to review and recommend capital market activities.

During the year under review, the Investment Committee did not hold any
meeting.
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Strategy Committee

The Strategy Committee comprises three executive directors as follows:

WANG Lu Yen (chairman of the committee)

Peter Loris SOLOMON

KHOO Kim Cheng

FU Jin Ming, Patrick (ceased to act as member of the committee
on 5 July 2007)

WONG Wai Ming (ceased to act as member of the committee
on 5 July 2007)

The primary duties of the Strategy Committee are to formulate and review
the strategies for the development of the Group and to review and make
recommendations to the Board on corporate strategies for approval and
for subsequent implementation by the chief executive officer and other
executive directors.

During the year under review, the Strategy Committee did not hold any
meeting.

Internal control
The Board is responsible for maintaining the system of internal controls of
the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness.

During the year ended 30 April 2008, the Board has conducted a review
of the effectiveness of the system of internal controls of the Group. The
review covers all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions.

Internal audit

During the year ended 30 April 2007, the Group's Internal Audit Department
("IAD") had performed an internal control review on the Group's UK-based
business unit, Dowry Peacock Group Limited and its subsidiaries ("Dowry
Peacock"), 60% interest of which was acquired in October 2005 and had
reported to the Board and the Audit Committee. As the management
considered this business unit was relatively high risk area amongst
the Group and should divert more effort to strengthen its internal
control system. Therefore, during the year ended 30 April 2008, IAD had
allocated additional resources to assist Dowry Peacock in following up
the implementation of agreed management actions in accordance with
the internal audit report and to assist in monitoring its finance function.
Follow up progress and issues had been reported to the Board and the Audit
Committee from time to time.
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On the other hand, IAD had performed an internal control review of the
Group's sales and merchandising process in its Hong Kong operation. Major
audit findings and related recommendations and agreed management
actions had been submitted to the Board and the Audit Committee.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the directors and the directors have
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code throughout the
year ended 30 April 2008.

The Company has also established written guidelines on no less exacting
terms than the Model Code ("Employees Written Guidelines") for securities
transactions by relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information in relation to the Company and
its securities.

No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by the
relevant employees was noted by the Company.

Responsibilities in respect of the financial
statements and auditor's remuneration

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, price-sensitive announcements
and other publications of the Company and other disclosures required
under the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 30 April 2008.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor's Report" contained in this annual report.

The remuneration paid to the external auditor of the Company in respect
of audit services and non-audit services for the year ended 30 April 2008
amounted to approximately US$397,000 and US$36,000 respectively. The
non-audit services were mainly related to tax services.
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Shareholder rights and investor relations
The Company follows the practices stated in the CG Code regarding
shareholder rights and investor relations.

The rights of shareholders and the procedures for demanding a poll on
resolutions at shareholders' meetings are contained in the Company's
bye-laws. Details of such rights to demand a poll and the poll procedures
are included in all circulars to shareholders and are reiterated during the
proceedings of meetings.

Poll results will be published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company on the business day following the shareholders' meeting.

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for communication
between the shareholders and the Board. The chairman of the Board as well
as chairman of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Investment
Committee and Strategy Committee or in their absence, other members
of the respective committees, and where applicable, the independent
Board committee, are available to answer questions at the shareholders'
meetings.

Separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders' meetings on each
substantial issue, including the election of individual directors.

The Company continues to enhance communications and relationships
with its investors. Designated senior management maintains regular
dialogue with institutional investors to keep them abreast of the Company's
developments. Enquiries from investors are dealt with in an informative
and timely manner.

Besides, as to promote effective communication, the Company also
maintains a website at www.linmark.com, where extensive information and
updates on the Company's business developments and operations, corporate

governance practices and other information are posted.

Hong Kong, 31 July 2008
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Report of the Directors
EEGREE

The directors present their report together with the audited financial
statements for the year ended 30 April 2008.

Principal activities

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of
its subsidiaries are set out in Note 37 to the financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year under review by
business and geographical segments is set out in Note 6 to the financial
statements.

Results and appropriations
The results of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2008 are set out in
the consolidated income statement on page 60.

No interim dividend was declared and paid during the year under review.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend in respect
of the year ended 30 April 2008.

Ultimate holding company

Since 28 March 2007, Rl Special Holdings Bermuda Limited ("Rl Special”)
has been the controlling shareholder of the Company and Megastar
Holdings Limited ("Megastar") has been the ultimate holding company of
the Company. The ultimate controlling party of the Group is Mr. WANG Lu
Yen, a director of the Company.

With effect from 25 October 2007, Roly International Holdings Ltd.
amalgamated with Rl Special pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda and the terms and conditions of the amalgamation agreement
entered into among Rl Holdings Bermuda Limited, Rl Special and Roly
International Holdings Ltd. ("Amalgamation”). The name of the amalgamated
company is Roly International Holdings Ltd. (“Roly International” which
refers to the company before and after the Amalgamation as applicable) and
it continues to be a Bermuda exempted company with limited liability.

As at 30 April 2008, Roly International, directly and indirectly, held
approximately 71.64% of the issued share capital of the Company.

Property, plant and equipment
Details of movements in the Group's property, plant and equipment during
the year under review are set out in Note 17 to the financial statements.
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Share capital
Details of movements during the year under review in the share capital of
the Company are set out in Note 31 to the financial statements.

Reserves
Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year under review are
set out in Note 33 to the financial statements.

Distributable reserves

Distributable reserves of the Company at 30 April 2008, calculated under
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and consisted of the aggregate of
contributed surplus and retained earnings, amounted to US$13,485,000
(2007: US$15,700,000).

Share options

The Company's share option scheme (“Scheme”) was adopted pursuant
to a resolution of the then sole shareholder passed on 22 April 2002 for
the primary purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible persons
for their contribution or potential contribution to the Group. Under the
Scheme, the Board or a committee thereof may grant options to eligible
persons (see summary below) to subscribe for shares in the Company.
Pursuant to an ordinary resolution relating to the amendments to the
Scheme passed at the annual general meeting of the Company held on
16 August 2004, the exclusion of Mr. WANG Lu Yen from participating in
the Scheme so long as he remains as a substantial shareholder (as such
term is construed in accordance with the Listing Rules) of the Company
has been removed.

Summary of the Scheme is as follows:

1. Eligible persons
The eligible persons under the Scheme include:

(i)  any director or proposed director (whether executive or non-
executive, including any independent non-executive director),
employee or proposed employee (whether full time or part time)
of any member of the Group or any controlling shareholder
of the Company or any company controlled by a controlling
shareholder of the Company; or
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Share options (Continued)

s

Eligible persons (Continued)

(i) any holder of any securities issued by any member of the Group
or any controlling shareholder of the Company or any company
controlled by a controlling shareholder of the Company; or

(iii) any business partner, agent, consultant, representative, supplier
of goods or services or customer of any member of the Group
or any controlling shareholder of the Company or any company
controlled by a controlling shareholder of the Company.

Maximum number of shares

The initial total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue immediately following the listing of
the Company's shares.

At a special general meeting of the Company held on 5 August 2003,
the Company's shareholders approved the refreshment of the Scheme
mandate and the total number of shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of options granted under the Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company was re-set at 10% of the shares in
issue on 5 August 2003, the date of approval of the refreshment (i.e.
64,740,000 shares).

Subject to the approval by the Company's shareholders, the aggregate
number of the Company's shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
shall not exceed 30% of the Company's shares in issue from time to
time. Options granted to the independent non-executive directors or
substantial shareholders of the Company or any of their respective
associates in excess of 0.1% of the Company's shares in issue and
with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5 million resulting in the
total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
options already granted and to be granted to such person under
the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) in any
12-month period up to and including the date of grant of such option
must be approved in advance by the Company's shareholders.
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Share options (Continued)

3

Maximum entitlement for each eligible person

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted under the Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company to any eligible persons (including those
cancelled, exercised and outstanding options), in any 12-month
period up to the date of the latest grant shall not exceed 1% of the
Company's shares in issue. Any further grant of options in excess of
such limit must be separately approved by the Company's shareholders
in general meeting.

Acceptance and payment on acceptance

Options granted must be taken up within 30 days inclusive of the
day on which such offer was made, upon payment of HK$1 per
option. Options may be exercised at any time commencing on the
date as the Board may determine and ending on such date as the
Board may determine but shall not exceed 10 years from the date
of grant. The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, and will not be less than the higher of the closing price of
the Company's shares on the date of grant and the average closing
price of the shares for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant.

Remaining life of the Scheme

Subject to the earlier termination of the Scheme in accordance with
the rules governing the Scheme, the Scheme will expire on 22 April
2012.
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Share options (continued) BRE

Movement of the options to subscribe for shares of the Company granted ALCEEERNTETAATIESLES (M:E i) AR
to the directors of the Company and employees (Note ii) during the year  BEAABIIRD 2 BEIEEEE) SR T

under review was as follows:

Options granted by the Company
Number of underlying shares of the Company

AR BRERDZ AL AROHA

Outstanding Outstanding Exercise
as at as at price Date of
1 May 2007  Granted Cancelled Lapsed 30 April 2008 per share grant Exercise period
(HKS)
RZBBLE R=BENE
iA-A MA=TH
HATE  BEE  BHE  EXX HATE BROEE RiLAH TSR
(1)
Directors %
Peter Loris SOLOMON Peter Loris SOLOMON 1,000,000 - (1,000,000) - - 2315 14/10/2005  14/10/2006-13/10/2011
(Note iv) (M iv) - 10,500,000 - - 10,500,000 0830 24/08/2007  24/08/2008-23/08/2013
1,000,000 10,500,000 (1,000,000) - 10,500,000
KHOO Kim Cheng i 3,800,000 - (3,800000) - - 2550 2110502002 21/05/2003-20/05/2008
2,200,000 - (2,200,000) - - 1,600 06/11/2002  06/11/2003-05/11/2008
920,000 - (920,000) - - 2125 30/05/2003  30/05/2004-29/05/2009
1,400,000 - (1,400,000) - - 2975 30/03/2004  30/03/2005-29/03/2010
- 5,660,000 - - 5,660,000 0830 24/08/2007  24/08/2008-23/08/2013
8320000 5660000 (8,320,000) - 5,660,000
INONG Wai Ming E[EH 1,000,000 - (1,000,000) - - 2315 1411012005 14/10/2006-13/10/2011
- 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 0830 24/08/2007  24/08/2008-23/08/2013
1,000,000 1,000,000 (1,000,000 - 1,000,000
WWANG Arthur Minshiang THE 250,000 - (250,000) - - 2315 14110/2005  14/10/2006-13/10/2011
- 625000 - - 625,000 0830 24/08/2007  24/08/2008-23/08/2013
250000 625000 (250,000) - 625,000
TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius AEfT 250,000 - (250,000) - - 2315 14/10/2005  14/10/2006-13/10/2011
- 625000 - - 625,000 0830 24/08/2007  24/08/2008-23/08/2013
250000 625000 (250,000 - 625,000
FU Jin Ming, Patrick e 4,200,000 - - (4200,000) - 2550 21/05/2002  21/05/2003-20/05/2008
(Note v) (FirzE v) 600,000 - - (600,000) - 1,600 06/11/2002  06/11/2003-05/11/2008
830,000 - - (830,000) - 2125 30/05/2003  30/05/2004-29/05/2009
1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) - 2975 30/03/2004  30/03/2005-29/03/2010
6,630,000 - - (6,630,000) -
INOON YiTeng, Eden (Note vi)  HIBAE (HifzE vi) 250,000 - - (250,000) - 2315 1411002005 14/10/2006-13/10/2011
Continuous contract employees HEAXES 4,672,000 - (3,849,000)  (823,000) - 2550 21/05/2002  21/05/2003-20/05/2008
(Note ii) (Btsxii) 2910000 - (2370000)  (540,000) - 1.600 06/11/2002  06/11/2003-05/11/2008
1,140,000 - (970,000  (170,000) - 2125 30/05/2003  30/05/2004-29/05/2009
3,550,000 - (3,250,000 (300,000) - 2975 30/03/2004  30/03/2005-29/03/2010
2,250,000 - (15500000)  (750,000) - 2315 1411002005 14/10/2006-13/10/2011
- 22,169,500 - (3,199,0000 18,970,500 0830 24/08/2007  24/08/2008-23/08/2013
14,522,000 22,169,500 (11939000 (5782,000) 18,970,500
Total ait 32,222,000 40,579,500 (22,759,000) (12,662,000 37,380,500
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Share options (Continued)

Notes:

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

The closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheet on 23 August 2007 (being the date immediately before the date of grant
of the outstanding options) was HK$0.860.

Employees include employees of the Group and of the subsidiaries of Roly International
(other than the directors of the Company) working under employment contracts with the
Group or subsidiaries of Roly International which are regarded as "continuous contracts”
for the purpose of the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57, Laws of Hong Kong).

The Company has used the Black-Scholes Model for estimating the fair value of options
granted under the Scheme. The Black-Scholes Model is one of the commonly used models
to estimate the fair value of an option which can be exercised before the expiry of the
option period. The assumptions used in the calculation are:

(a) Risk-free interest rate - the yield of 4-year Exchange Fund Notes on the date of
grant

(b) Expected volatility of share price - annualised volatility for one year immediately
preceding the date of grant

(c) Expected life of share options - 3.5-4.5 years

(d)  Expected dividend paid out rate - 40%
The amount written off in the income statement for the year ended 30 April 2008 was
approximately US$202,000 (2007: US$199,000).

The fair value of options granted during the year under review using the Black-Scholes
Model was approximately US$430,000 (2007: Nil).

The calculation of the fair value of options using the Black-Scholes Model is based on
various assumptions and is only an estimate. It is possible that the financial benefit
accruing to the option holders may be substantially different from the value of options
calculated.

Options to subscribe for 10,500,000 shares of the Company were granted to Mr. Peter
Loris SOLOMON. The number of shares underlying such option are in excess of the
individual limit permitted under the rules of the Scheme and the Listing Rules. Approval
from shareholders of the Company in relation to the grant of options in excess of the
individual limit to Mr. Solomon was obtained at special general meeting of the Company
held on 24 September 2007. Details of the grant of such options were disclosed in the
Company's circular dated 7 September 2007.

Mr. FU Jin Ming, Patrick retired as an employee of the Group with effect from 30 April
2007, the outstanding share options held by him lapsed on 31 October 2007. Mr. Fu retired
as director of the Company with effect from 5 July 2007.

Dr. WOON Yi Teng, Eden resigned as director of the Company with effect from 31 August
2007. On the effective date of his resignation, the outstanding share options held by Dr.
Woon lapsed.
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Directors
The directors of the Company during the year under review and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive directors
WANG Lu Yen

Peter Loris SOLOMON
KHOO Kim Cheng

FU Jin Ming, Patrick (retired on 5 July 2007)

Non-executive directors

WONG Wai Ming (redesignated from executive director to
non-executive director on 5 July
2007)

Mark HSU (appointed on 4 January 2008)

Gregory Scott LEONG (appointed on 5 July 2007 and then resigned

on 4 January 2008)

Independent non-executive directors

WANG Arthur Minshiang

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius

Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS (appointed on 5 May 2008)

WOON Yi Teng, Eden (resigned on 31 August 2007)

KWOK Tai Ki (appointed on 5 July 2007 and then
resigned on 5 May 2008)

Mr. WANG Lu Yen and Mr. KHOO Kim Cheng, in accordance with bye-laws
87(1) and 87(2) of the Company's bye-laws, and Mr. Mark HSU and Mr.
Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS in accordance with bye-law 86(2) of the
Company's bye-laws, will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ service contracts

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting have a service contract with the Group which is
not determinable within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).
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Directors’ interests in shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations

As at 30 April 2008, the interests and short positions of the directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571,
Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO")) as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or were required, pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
contained in the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange, were as follows:

(a) Interests and short positions in the shares of the Company
and its associated corporations

EERARAREMEBEE 2R
MERDRESP Z2ER

RZZBZENFEA=+H ARRIZES RITHA
HRAR A A BB EE (& REFEENE
STMERS KRB G ([EH MGG FEXVER)
2t - HERG RESFTHEEALARRBRE
5 MG GRPIE35218F E 2 & D2 # m SR
B (FE) BELTETAEFTETESFRS
ZIRESFRIZRRME RN A B R P 2 i g NOK B 1A
T~

() RADBARERBEBE 2RO P 2 BHER Y

B

Percentage

shareholding in

Company/Name the same class

of associated Number and class of securities as

corporations Name of directors Capacity of securities at 30 April 2008
(Note 1)

R=ZZBZNF

mMA=+A

DT A EE ERERIE S P

2B EEpE 514 H5EE RER ZREB DL
(F47E1)

Company WANG Lu Yen Beneficial owner 620,000 0.09%
PiN/NE] TR BE=EBA ordinary shares
AR
(L)

Company WANG Lu Yen Interest of controlled 483,535,619 71.64%
PAN/N] F 1% corporations ordinary shares
(Notes 2 and 3) =Rl
RiEH AR 2 s (L)

(M$5E2%3)

Company Peter Loris Beneficial owner 468,000 0.07%
/NG| SOLOMON BREBA ordinary shares
=gl
(L)

Company WANG Arthur Beneficial owner 260,000 0.04%
ZIN/NG| Minshiang EmEAA ordinary shares
G =gl
(L)

Company WONG Wai Ming Beneficial owner 100,000 0.01%
PiN/NE] ={EH BE=EBA ordinary shares
=gl
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Directors’ interests in shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (Continued)

(a) Interests and short positions in the shares of the Company

and

its associated corporations (Continued)

Company/Name
of associated

BEERNEAQATAREMBABLIE KRG
HERORESFPZ2ERE @

(a) RADAREMEBEE 2RO T 2 EHER K
B @

Percentage
shareholding in
the same class

Number and class of securities as

corporations Name of directors Capacity of securities at 30 April 2008
(Note 1)

RBENE

mA=+H

AT HEEE ERERIESF

ZHB EEpE &4 HHEEARER ZREADTL

(FfiEE1)
Megastar WANG Lu Yen Beneficial owner 1 ordinary share 100%
(Note 3) A BEmBEEA gl
(PfFEE3) (L)
Westman Linmark WANG Lu Yen Beneficial owner 2 preference shares 0.07%
(Thailand) Ltd. T BERmBEEA Bk
(Note 4) (L
(Fff7E4)
Westman Linmark Peter Loris SOLOMON  Beneficial owner 1 preference share 0.03%
(Thailand) Ltd. EmEAA BEER
(Note 4) (L
(Fff3E4)
Westman Linmark WONG Wai Ming Beneficial owner 1 preference share 0.03%
(Thailand) Ltd. =IEH EnEAA B5ER
(Note 4) (L)
(BtaEa)
Westman Linmark KHOO Kim Cheng Beneficial owner 1 preference share 0.03%
(Thailand) Ltd. ERER R BEmBEEA B
(Note 4) (L
(Fff3E4)

Notes: B &

(1) The letter "L" represents the director's interests in the shares. (1 TU DEEEERRG 2 -

(2)  With effect from 25 October 2007, Roly International amalgamated with Rl Special Q =2HBEEREREERZE-—_AN-—FRAZER
pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and the terms and conditions of Rl Holdings Bermuda Limited ~ RI Specia\&%@iﬁ%
the amalgamation agreement entered into among RI Holdings Bermuda Limited, FISL 2 FeOF 1 2 R (54T » BRI Special3R 6 -
RI Special and Roly International. The name of the amalgamated company is Roly H_TTRLETA-TARRER - FHEDRZ
International Holdings Ltd. and it continues to be a Bermuda exempted company ZEAEBBERERARAR - WEBERARE
with limited liability. ERR 2 BRAREEER

(3)  As at 30 April 2008, (i) RGS Holdings Limited ("RGS"), a wholly owned subsidiary Q) RZZETNFOHA=1R - (\ZHEREZ BB
of Roly International, owned 437,720,000 shares of the Company, representing ARJRGS Holdings Limited ([RGS ) #74 437,720,000
approximately 64.85% of the issued share capital of the Company; and (i) as B R R - A5 2N 2 B 2 3 1T BN #964.85%
a result of the Amalgamation, Roly International owned 45,815,619 shares of (i) B 3% 0F - 2 Eh BB 78 5 45,815,619/ N 1 B A%
the Company, representing approximately 6.79% of the issued share capital 12 EARA]E HEITRALI679% o R T X [
of the Company. By virtue of the relationship between Mr. WANG Lu Yen and SRR BARRE 77 R HE RO EXVER AN B S 2
Roly International as stated in Note (2) to the paragraph headed "Substantial Hopd A= | — B BT RE (2) AT T 45 8 5% A 82 2 ot B R
shareholders and other persons who are required to disclose their interests ZEHBER - RIEFE TR A GG EXVEEZ EX
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO" below, Mr. WANG Lu Yen was deemed, by virtue FHREEEWR BTS2 RBPR RRCSFTFA ZFT
of the provisions of Part XV of the SFO, to be interested in all the shares of the BARRBRG 2 o
Company in which Roly International and RGS were interested.

(4)  Westman Linmark (Thailand) Ltd. is a subsidiary of the Company. As at 30 April (4)  Westman Linmark (Thailand) Ltd. &R &2 & A

2008, the issued share capital of Westman Linmark (Thailand) Ltd. was 12,000,000
Baht divided into 2,940 ordinary shares of 2,000 Baht each and 3,060 preference
shares of 2,000 Baht each.

Ale RZZEZNEMA=+H » Westman Linmark
(Thailand) Ltd. 2 B #4THRZR/%12,000,000Z- 8K * 9 7%
2,940% & B% E (82,0003 # 2 & A% + LA %23,0600%
SRR (E2,00028k 2 B ERY ©
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Report of the Directors
ExeRsE

Directors’ interests in shares, underlying shares

and debentures of the Company and its associated

corporations (Continued)

(b) Interests and short positions in the underlying shares of
the Company and its associated corporations

EERNAQAREEBEIEZRG
HERORESFP 2R @

(b) RADAREEEEZE ZEBARS T 2 &S
kKRR

Company/Name of

Number of underlying
shares comprised in

associated corporations Name of directors Capacity the options and warrants

(Notes 1 and 2)
ARATF S HEEE BRERZRER
ZERB BEEpE &4 ez HERDEE

(HisE1 &2)
Company Peter Loris SOLOMON Beneficial owner 10,500,000 (L)
PAN/NE] EnEAA
Company KHOO Kim Cheng Beneficial owner 5,660,000 (L)
PN/NE] Ef 8RR E=EAA
Company WONG Wai Ming Beneficial owner 1,000,000 (L)
PAN/NE] e EmERA
Company WANG Arthur Minshiang Beneficial owner 625,000 (L)
PN/NE] F & E=EAA
Company TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius Beneficial owner 625,000 (L)
PAN/NE] N EZEDT EmER A
Roly International WANG Lu Yen Beneficial owner 5,050,000 (L)
2 Rl B F 1% E=EAA
Roly International WANG Lu Yen Interest of spouse 87,500 (L)
E=1ES F %A feiB 2 #E e
Roly International WANG Lu Yen Interest of controlled 74,861,807 (L)
2 B F 1A corporations (Note 3)
SEGEE 2 s (HEs)

Notes: MisE -
(1) The letter "L" represents the director's interests in the shares. (1) [L] ThEE BN 2 ks o
(2) Details of the above underlying shares are set out in the paragraph headed () LR ZHEEHR [EERERNKELE Y

"Directors' rights to acquire shares or debentures”.

(3) 30,310,875 warrants were held by Megastar, a company wholly owned by Mr. (3)
WANG Lu Yen, and 44,550,932 warrants were held by Roly International as a result
of the Amalgamation. By virtue of the relationship between Mr. WANG Lu Yen,
Roly International and Megastar as stated in Note (2) to the paragraph headed
"Substantial shareholders and other persons who are required to disclose their
interests pursuant to Part XV of the SFO" below, Mr. WANG Lu Yen is deemed to be
interested in all warrants in Roly International in which each of Roly International

and Megastar is interested.
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30,310,87517 7RRXAE 75 FIMegastar (E#xREEERE
HHEZ AR A + 44,550,932 RARAEF R 2B
BREZRMEE  c BRTX [EZRRRBEEFESH
AR GBI EXVEN B R a2 Efth A+ ] — B
Q)P E B L L © 2B EIBR BMegastar Z fE A9
AR - RGBS 2 B BIFE MMegastar
EERERBERTRHFE A RIREE 2 o



Directors’ interests in shares, underlying shares

and debentures of the Company and its associated

corporations (Continued)

(c) Interests and short positions in the debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations
As at 30 April 2008, none of the directors and chief executive of the
Company had interests or short positions in the debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Companies.

Directors’ rights to acquire shares or debentures

(1) Movement of the options granted by the Company to the directors
of the Company under the Scheme during the year under review was
set out in the paragraph headed "Share Options" above.

(2) Pursuant to the share option scheme of Roly International, an
intermediate holding company of the Company, the directors of the
Company and employees of the Group may, at the discretion of the
directors of Roly International, be granted options to subscribe for
shares of Roly International. Movement of the options granted by
Roly International to a director of the Company during the year under
review was as follows:

EERNAQTAREEBLIE RS
HERORESFDP 2R @

() RELARARAEEBEIBZES P 2RER
RE
RIZZENFOA=1TH KRB ZEERIT
BARSHERARRRERBEABZ BT H#
BARARRRRIEE S M E GRPIZE 3521577
EZECMzERIAR  IRBLTARE
FETRFRHZBETRIAMG AR R KB
R ERBORR

EERERODHESF 2ER
(1) ARARFEBFEAREZADET AR
52 BRES DR X R 8 -

(2 REBEAQEFTHEZERARZEBERZERER
g ARREEkAKEERTREHEBERE
ENRREERARBBEZHER KN 2B
#-RALBEFEAZRBERETARAES
ZIBREREIT

Options granted by Roly International
Number of underlying shares of Roly International

2EBERRLBRERR2RERKROHHE

Outstanding Outstanding Exercise
Name of as at as at price
director Date of grant 1 May 2007 Lapsed 30 April 2008 per share Exercise period
(Note) (US$)
2 o2 RZBENE
ARA—H MA=+AH
EEpE R B tef R AT BE BAK i R AT B BRTEE TR
G (%®7)
WANG Lu Yen 23/08/2004 1,600,000 (1,600,000) - 0.248 23/08/2005-22/08/2010
B

Note: The options granted by Roly International to Mr. WANG Lu Yen lapsed after
six months from 28 March 2007 when the exit share offer relating to Roly
International became unconditional.

M EAR2EBERZRRBORSEGMER 26
BERETIREEECBREA —STLF=A
T NREFAREARKK

“TERN\FFER MEEEERAF



Report of the Directors
ExeRsE

Directors' rights to acquire shares or debentures EEREERMBESZERN @

(Continued)
(3)  On 29 April 2004, Roly International issued bonus warrants carrying  (3) R-_ZTEWEN A=+ H @ 2EBEREITAT

the right to subscribe for new ordinary shares of US$0.10 each in the MRREZTF —_ZZNEN B —+/xBR%5 2
capital of Roly International to its shareholders whose names were BB LM 2 IR - AT F3RAR% kS A 2
on the register of members of Roly International as at 26 April 2004 B2 BN SR MEEICET ZH TR
on the basis of one bonus warrant for every four existing ordinary Rz #EF - BEEUIREHBEERIRAE L @A
shares of Roly International held by them. Each bonus warrant entitles ENa] R — AT F R AR MESE o D41 F R R4
the holder to subscribe for one new share at the exercise price of FAHEFEEAREZNMENE -_+HLBE=
S$0.75 at any time during the period commencing on 29 April 2004 TEHFEMA =+ N\ H Hﬂ B LAfT{E(B0.75%
and expiring on 28 April 2009. Particulars of the warrants issued to DN TR — AR c R—ZEENEFEMA =+
the director of the Company and remained outstanding as at 30 April H @ NARIEZESDERITM N ARITE 2 BIRHE
2008 were as follows: BT :

Warrants issued by Roly International
Number of underlying shares of

Name of director Capacity Roly International outstanding
as at as at
1 May 2007 30 April 2008
ZHERE L 2R REREEZ
EEpRE 54 2EERRAEE
R=ZTLHF R=ZTN\F
HEH—H mA=+H
WANG Lu Yen Beneficial owner 5,050,000 5,050,000
F 1A EmEAA
Interest of spouse (Note 1) 87,500 87,500
Befd e s (PfTEE1)
Interest of controlled corporations (Note 2) 68,913,971 74,861,807

REHLEE 2 s (FRE2)

Notes: BYEE -

(1) These warrants in Roly International were held by Mrs. WANG LIAW Bin Bin, the (1) ZE2EERRREBHTEEEEZEFEWWN
wife of Mr. WANG Lu Yen. LERA -

(2) As at 30 April 2008, these warrants in Roly International were held as to 30,310,875 (2 E@:gg/\g MA=1+H - R2FEBER 2 Rk
warrants by Megastar and as to 44,550,932 warrants by Roly International itself ' 30,310,87517 32 IR # & HMegastaris & M
following the Amalgamation. By virtue of the relationship between Mr. WANG 44 55093210 R EB B2 EBER A 5 B ET
Lu Yen, Roly International and Megastar as stated in Note (2) to the paragraph 2 o AT X [ EAEEE RARIE &4 & 2 & (&40
headed "Substantial shareholders and other persons who are required to disclose EXVEN AR B i A+ | —BRH QT E
their interests pursuant to Part XV of the SFO" below, Mr. WANG Lu Yen is deemed AL - 2EBE BMegastar 2 RIRIBE - Ei%
to be interested in all the warrants in Roly International in which each of Roly B L AR AR 2 BB FE B MegastarFTs B 2 B
International and Megastar is interested. BEEBER RS -

Other than as disclosed above, at no time during the year under review  Bx E X BEEIN RADBEEEFEMER - A2
was the Company, or any of its holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or T HFMAIZERA T - FRH B R 7 =M B A 785
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the LRI (FMELHUAFEARATESAJEEALAD

Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or T gk {F{a] E Ath Sk E 2 B% (5 sk (& & M AR S o
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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Substantial shareholders and other persons whoare FERRRBEFSRBEKHSE
required to disclose their interests pursuant to Part XVEPEHWBEER ZHM A+

XV of the SFO

(a) Substantial shareholders of the Company (a)
As at 30 April 2008, the following shareholders (other than the
directors and chief executive of the Company whose interests and
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
are set out above) had interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required

ARAAZEERR

RZZFZENFOA=1THE  TIER (ERE
RAZBMD RPN ZEEAREHR £
XZARRBEERITHREERIN RARE 2
Betn K AR A Bx {0 o B AR AR R BIR 1B & 55
K EIR IR F 3361617 B 2 B e fit 2 #E a8 30K

to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO: i
Number of Approximate
shares of percentage of
Name of the Company held interests as at
substantial shareholders Capacity (Note 1) 30 April 2008
R-BENF
BEAATRGEE mE=+HZ
FTERRAE 54 (FgzE1) BRSNS
RGS Beneficial owner 437,720,000 (L) 64.85%
EmEEA
Roly International Interest of controlled 483,535,619 (L) 71.64%
2 Rl B corporations (Note 2)
REHEE 2 ew (HiEE2)
Rl Holdings Bermuda Limited Interest of controlled 483,535,619 (L) 71.64%
corporations (Note 2)
ZEHER 2 iR (i)
RI Investment Holdings Bermuda Limited Interest of controlled 483,535,619 (L) 71.64%
corporations (Note 2)
ZEGERE 2 s (FisE2)
Megastar Interest of controlled 483,535,619 (L) 71.64%
corporations (Note 2)
REHEE 2w (Hi5E2)
Rl Investment Holdings, Ltd. Interest of controlled 483,535,619 (L) 71.64%
corporations (Note 2)
ZEHER 2 i (i)
Asia Pacific Growth Fund V., L.P. ("APGF V")  Interest of controlled 483,535,619 (L) 71.64%
corporations (Note 2)
ZEEGERE 2 s (i)
Asia Pacific Associates V., L.P. Interest of controlled 483,535,619 (L) 71.64%

corporations (Note 2)

REHDAE 2 s (M)

“TERN\FFER MEEEERAF



Report of the Directors
ExeRsE

Substantial shareholders and other persons who are

FTERREBERZRBEEHE

required to disclose their interests pursuant to Part XV EFRBRBZ ZHMA L @
XV of the SFO (Continued)

(a) Substantial shareholders of the Company (Continued)

(b)

() XRAAZEERR (#)

Number of Approximate

shares of percentage of

Name of the Company held interests as at

substantial shareholders Capacity (Note 1) 30 April 2008

R=ZZBZNF

BEAXRARRDEE MA=+AZ

FTERREHE &1 (BRF3ET) Sy RS E

Arisaig Greater China Fund Limited Beneficial owner 66,469,000 (L) 9.85%

BB A

Arisaig Partners (Mauritius) Limited Investment manager 66,469,000 (L) 9.85%
(Note 3) (Pff7E3) BELE

Lindsay William Ernest COOPER Interest of controlled 66,469,000 (L) 9.85%

(Note 4) (Ff5E4)

Notes: BisE
(1) The letter “L" represents the entity's interests in the Linmark shares. (1)
(2) As at 30 April 2008, (i) RGS, a wholly owned subsidiary of Roly International, owned ()

corporation

1A 2 2

437,720,000 shares of the Company, representing approximately 64.85% of the
issued share capital of the Company; and (i) as a result of the Amalgamation, Roly
International owned 45,815,619 shares of the Company, representing approximately
6.79% of the issued share capital of the Company. Roly International was wholly
owned by RI Holdings Bermuda Limited. Rl Holdings Bermuda Limited was held
by Rl Investment Holdings Bermuda Limited as to 92%. Rl Investment Holdings
Bermuda Limited was held by each of Rl Investment Holdings, Ltd. and Megastar
as to 49.9% and 50.1% respectively. Rl Investment Holdings, Ltd. is wholly owned
by APGF V. APGF V is a limited partnership which Asia Pacific Associates V., L.P. as
its general partner which is in control of the limited partnership.

(3) Arisaig Partners (Mauritius) Limited is the fund manager of Arisaig Greater China (3)
Fund Limited.
(4) Mr. Lindsay William Ernest COOPER owns 100% interest in Madeleine Ltd which in (4)

turn owns 33.33% interest in Arisaig Partners (Holdings) Limited. Arisaig Partners
(Holdings) Limited, through its wholly owned subsidiary Arisaig Partners (BVI)
Limited, owns 100% interest in Arisaig Partners (Mauritius) Limited.

Other persons who are required to disclose their interests  (b)
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed "Directors' interests in
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations” and paragraph (a) above, as at 30 April 2008,

no other person had interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which are required to be recorded

in the register required to be kept by the Company under section

336 of the SFO.
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Related party transactions

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken during the
year under review are disclosed in Note 36 to the financial statements.
Save as disclosed below, these related party transactions fall under the
definition of a connected transaction, but are exempt from the reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders' approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Connected transactions

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in Note 36 to the financial
statements also constitute connected transactions or as the case may be,
continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules and are subject
to the reporting requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The following transactions between certain connected persons (as
defined in the Listing Rules) and the Company have been entered into
and/or are ongoing for which relevant announcements, if necessary, had
been made by the Company in accordance with the requirements of the
Listing Rules.

1. Continuing connected transactions relating to Dowry
Peacock
As a result of the completion of the acquisition (“Acquisition”) of
60% interest in Dowry Peacock on 19 October 2005, Dowry Peacock
is 60%-owned by the Company, 30%-owned by Mr. Raymond Anthony
NUGENT, a director of Dowry Peacock, and 10%-owned by Lucky
Marriot Consolidated Limited, an independent third party. During the
year under review, the Group had the following continuing connected
transactions (within the meaning of the Listing Rules) arising on
completion of or subsequent to the Acquisition:

1.1 Licence Agreements

On 19 May 2005 and 27 June 2005, Linmark Electronics Limited
("LEL", formerly known as Schneider United Kingdom Limited),
Dual France Sarl (“Dual France") and DGC GmbH (“DGC") entered
into two trademark licence agreements (“Licence Agreements”)
respectively pursuant to which LEL granted to Dual France and
DGC exclusive licences in certain countries and territories to
use the "Dual" and “Nordmende" trademarks for a period of
three years for a royalty fee of 0.75% of the net purchases
of Dual France and DGC. Dual France and DGC were licensed
by LEL to sell goods in specified classes carrying the "Dual”
and "Nordmende" trademarks in France (in the case of Dual
France) with licence fee commencing on 1 January 2005 and
in Germany, Austria, Switzerland, Liechtenstein, the Benelux
countries, Croatia, Spain and Hungary (in the case of DGC) with
licence fee commencing on 1 October 2004.

BEREALRS
AOBFERNETHNERBREALTI SN H R
EHIFEI6ARKEE - BT XATREES - Ik EHM@E
ALRGER ETRAUFVUAERENEERS
BRERLRR - DM MBI RIEZRE °

BERXS
MEREMECMBEENETEBEALRS @ 7§
BRETHRAMENBERZH (RIERTE) K&
MERS  AETLETRUFUABZRRATE - &
TEREAL (ERRLMARA) BARRZHBHET
R,/ RFHFEETTIRS  AAREER WA
BHE - EH B EER DM o

1. ERBDowry Peacock ZIFBEBER S

RZZEZTRF+ A+ N A KW EDowry
Peacock®I6000/% 4 ([ Y88 |) & » Dowry Peacock
AR T3 A 60% * Dowry PeacockZ ZERaymond
Anthony NUGENTSE £ %5 5300 B L 5 =71
Lucky Marriot Consolidated Limited#7100% ° ZX
BIEFEAN  NEERETKUES N EEE
AR EEER S (R EMARIFRR) :

1.1 tFarE s
RZBEZRFRAATAAR=-ZZRF
7NHZ=+-+8 - Linmark Electronics Limited
([LEL] - AT % ASchneider United Kingdom
Limited) * Dual France Sarl ([ Dual France])
EIDGC GmbH ([DGCI) 53 Bl 5T 3Z A3 1 im hé
FA R = ([T =)« 3L - LEL
[MDual France XDGCHE T & T RK kit
1% 1 A [Dual ] & [Nordmende | 5 k2 &) 58
RIFETHE - BEI=4F - WiZDual France &
DGCHE & JF 58 M0.75%:T EZ & o LEL
FEFF B AEDual FrancefE/AB (EAFRFEE
H-ZTRF— A —BRABHN) RDGC
EEE - BF - It AT EHEE
=BT R BER (RrH8 - b AR &2 B AR
&) wAEMDE  ANTRETH (K
FEBH_TEWNFE T A —BRBEAMN)
$HE 8 5 A [Dual] % [Nordmende]

RS -
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Connected transactions (continued)
1. Continuing connected transactions relating to Dowry
Peacock (Continued)

1.1

Licence Agreements (Continued)

Net purchases of Dual France and DGC refer to exworks prices,
without carriage, duty or other surcharges. The rate of royalty fee
is similar to that of the rate charged by LEL to an independent
third party licensee.

The aggregate consideration received by LEL under the
Licence Agreements from DGC during the year under review
was approximately US$95,094 (equivalent to approximately
HK$740,000). During the year under review, there were no
transactions between Dual France and LEL pursuant to the
Licence Agreements.

The Licence Agreements allow the Dowry Peacock Group to
maintain and expand the markets in Germany, France and
some other European countries for the "Dual” and "Nordmende"
trademarks without setting up its own operations in these
markets.

When the Licence Agreements were entered into by the parties,
Dual France and DGC were each owned as to over 30% by
Mr. Raymond Anthony NUGENT who has been substantial
shareholder of Dowry Peacock, a 60%-owned subsidiary of the
Company and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company,
Dual France and DGC, as associates of a director of a subsidiary
of the Company, were connected persons of the Company. On
30 August 2006, Mr. Raymond Anthony NUGENT ceased to have
any shareholding interest in Dual France and accordingly, Dual
France ceased to be a connected person of the Company. As
at 30 April 2008, DGC was owned as to 64% by Mr. Raymond
Anthony NUGENT and remained as a connected person of the
Company.

The directors of the Company (including the independent non-
executive directors) consider that the above transactions were
conducted in the usual and ordinary course of business of the
Group on normal commercial terms and in accordance with the
Licence Agreements. The directors of the Company (including the
independent non-executive directors) are of the view that the
terms of the above transactions were fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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Connected transactions (continued) BEXS @)

1. Continuing connected transactions relating to Dowry 1. 7BIDowry Peacock 2 HBERBER S (%)
Peacock (Continued)
1.2 Service Agreement 1.2

HRT hase

The Company entered into a service agreement (“Service
Agreement") dated 10 April 2006 with Dowry Peacock for a
term of three years. The Service Agreement serves as a top-level
framework agreement between the Company and Dowry Peacock
to regulate the transactions to be entered into by the Group and
Dowry Peacock and its subsidiaries which constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules
by virtue of Dowry Peacock and its subsidiaries being associates
of Mr. Raymond Anthony NUGENT.

The services include provision of management, administrative
and consultancy services by the Group to Dowry Peacock and/
or its subsidiary(ies), provision of sourcing services, agency
services and/or services in relation to trading of merchandises
or supply chain activities by the Group to Dowry Peacock and/or
its subsidiary(ies) or provision of the sourcing services, agency
services and/or services in relation to trading of merchandises or
supply chain activities to be provided by Dowry Peacock and/or
its subsidiary(ies) to the Group, provision of quality inspection
services on merchandises by the Group to Dowry Peacock and/
or its subsidiary(ies) and provision and receipt of such other
services ancillary or to facilitate the business activities of the
Group and Dowry Peacock and/or its subsidiary(ies).

The Service Agreement serves as a platform to allow the
Company and Dowry Peacock and its respective subsidiaries to
enjoy synergies in terms of complementary services that could
be provided by one to another.

During the year under review, the aggregate amount received
by the Group from Dowry Peacock and its subsidiary(ies) for
services provided by the Group to Dowry Peacock and its
subsidiary(ies) under the Service Agreement was approximately
US$807,019 (equivalent to approximately HK$6,295,000); and no
service was provided by Dowry Peacock or any of its subsidiaries
to the Group under the Service Agreement during the year
under review.

The directors (including the independent non-executive directors)
consider that the above transactions were conducted in the
usual and ordinary course of business of the Group on normal
commercial terms. The directors (including the independent
non-executive directors) are of the view that the transactions
were entered into in accordance with the Service Agreement on
terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

RZZEZFWEA+H - KRR EDowry
Peacock 7] 3 AHI=FHRH HE IR
5% X & 2K A &) B2 Dowry Peacock &] 3
H—ME=mIERGZE S KEEASERE
Dowry Peacock M EHIB AR FHEITHIR
5+ ZE) Dowry Peacock MEMIEBARA
Raymond Anthony NUGENT %¢ 4 AJH#EZE A
T BB ETHA - ZEXZEXARA A

#Z% 5 R 2 15 4N & B [Dowry Peacock
R/ SRHEMBRARREER TEBER
R TE + A& B WDowry PeacockX X
HB AR ERERY - REBRER,
HEAEmE SN HEEEBNRT ;- X
Dowry Peacock® sk H [ B A Al M AN &
ERERBRY  RERB R SEH
B SR EEEBHRS  ANEEM
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AIA B 8540 /5807,019 T (FHERLY
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Connected transactions (Continued)

2.

Continuing connected transaction relating to Linmark (HK)
Limited

On 14 February 2008, Linmark (HK) Limited ("Linmark HK") entered
into a tenancy agreement (“Tenancy Agreement”) with Ken Ball
Limited ("Ken Ball", a company wholly owned by Mr. Peter Loris
SOLOMON, an executive director and the chief executive officer of
the Company and the managing director of Linmark HK) whereby
Ken Ball agreed to lease to Linmark HK House 127, The Portofino,
88-188 Pak To Avenue, Clearwater Bay, Sai Kung, New Territories,
Hong Kong on a fully-furnished basis (“Premises”) for a term of 24
months commencing on 14 February 2008, provided that Linmark
HK has an option to terminate the Tenancy Agreement in the second
year after the commencement date by giving two months notice to
Ken Ball in writing. The monthly rent (inclusive of rates, government
rent and service charges) payable by Linmark HK to Ken Ball under
the Tenancy Agreement is HK$135,000.

Prior to the date of the Tenancy Agreement, Linmark HK had a
tenancy arrangement with Ken Ball pursuant to which Linmark HK was
required to pay monthly rental of HK$83,000 to Ken Ball in respect
of another premises then owned by Ken Ball.

The aggregate rental (inclusive of rates, government rent and service
charges) paid by Linmark HK during the year ended 30 April 2008 to
Ken Ball is HK$1,053,999 (as to HK$344,483 paid under the Tenancy
Agreement and as to HK$709,516 paid under the prior tenancy
arrangement for the period from 1 May 2007 to 17 January 2008).

As the entire issued share capital of Ken Ball is owned by Mr. Solomon,
an executive director and the chief executive officer of the Company
and the managing director of Linmark HK. Accordingly, Ken Ball is an
associate of Mr. Solomon and a connected person of the Company.

The directors (including the independent non-executive directors)
consider that the above transaction was conducted in the usual and
ordinary course of business of the Group on normal commercial
terms and in accordance with the Tenancy Agreement. The directors
(including the independent non-executive directors) are of the view
that the transaction was fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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Connected transactions (continued)

All connected transactions were reviewed by the independent non-executive
directors of the Company at the meeting of the audit committee of the
Board held on 25 July 2008. The independent non-executive directors of
the Company confirmed that the aforesaid connected transactions were
entered into (a) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(b) on normal commercial terms; and (c) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

In accordance with paragraph 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the Board of
Directors engaged the auditor of the Company to perform certain factual
finding procedures on the above continuing connected transaction on
a sample basis in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Related
Services 4400 "Engagements to Perform Agreed-Upon Procedures Regarding
Financial Information” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has reported their factual findings on the selected
samples based on the agreed procedures to the Board of Directors that the
continuing connected transactions stated in items 1 and 2 above: (a) have
received the approval of the Board; (b) are based on specified percentages
of the related shipment/purchase value or specified fixed monthly rental, as
appropriate; (c) have been entered into in accordance with the provisions
of the relevant agreements governing the transactions; and (d) have
not exceeded the caps disclosed in the previous announcements of the
Company.

The Company confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect
of the transactions stated in items 1 and 2 above.

Directors’ interests in contracts

Save as disclosed above and in Note 36 to the financial statements, no
contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business to which the
Company, any of its holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year under review.
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Report of the Directors
ExeRsE

Major customers and vendors of the Group

During the year under review, the five largest customers of the Group
in aggregate accounted for approximately 61.4% of the turnover of the
Group and the largest customer accounted for approximately 30.2% of the

turnover of the Group.

The five largest vendors of the Group in aggregate accounted for
approximately 22.6% of the Group's total shipment volume and the largest
vendor accounted for approximately 6.19% of the Group's total shipment

value.

None of the directors, their respective associates or any shareholders of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of
the issued share capital of the Company) had any interest in the top five
vendors or customers noted above.

Purchase, sale or redemption of the Company's
listed securities

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's securities during the year under review.

Pre-emptive rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's bye-
laws or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Financial summary
A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on pages 142 and 143 of the annual

report.

Charitable donation
During the year under review, no charitable donation was made by the
Group.

Corporate governance

Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the Company are
set out in the section headed "Corporate Governance Report” on pages
21 to 36.

Sufficiency of public float

From information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the directors of the Company, the Company has maintained
a sufficient public float throughout the year under review.

Linmark Group Limited annual report 2008

rEEFEEFRASE ZMHER
RABEFEAN  AEBARHZARTF A KOG
EEEXE2614%  HARAK—RELHEASE
& FH 230.20 ©

AEBZEARSAREEGXNVEAEENFEER
E222.6%  HRSAEREFOGASEENESRE
Z6.1% °

ARFIBESF  WEZTBZMBEALITMARR (&
EEMAREAARREBHITRAZ N %E) HER
FREMAREEESER SR EA TS

BE HEIBEAXAQRzLHRES

REBFEAR  ARASEERANEQRARER
B HEXBEEARRUERMES °

BREERE
ARRZATMAREREERERENELBE
2 ESUREAR D AERSRIL PR SRR &
FRG -

BEEE
AEERE ERARYBREEZX¥EHEEREE]
BHNANFRE142%1438 °

EEBX
REREEER - AEEDRIELEREH -

NEIER

RRABFERANERZRARIERER TR R E2
E36EHM [RREARE | —f0 -

DABFRETE
RARAMNESZ AMEAHET  URARAES
B ARAIRBEABESE - EERARHR
EBRR -



Auditor

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who will retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting
to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the Company to hold
office until conclusion of the next annual general meeting at a fee to be
agreed with the directors.

On behalf of the Board

WANG Lu Yen
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 July 2008
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Independent Auditor's Report
B AZBEN RS =

PRICEWATERHOUSE(COPERS

BERUKEST SR

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF LINMARK GROUP LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Linmark Group
Limited (the “"Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group") set
out on pages 60 to 141, which comprise the consolidated and company
balance sheets as of 30 April 2008, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash
flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This
responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal
control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

Auditor's responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from

material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and true and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Company and of the Group as of 30
April 2008, and of the Group's financial performance and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Other matters

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 31 July 2008
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Consolidated Income Statement

A | 2%
iR e Wax
For the year ended 30 April 2008
HE_ZZ \FHA=THIFE

2008 2007
—EENFE —TTEF
Note USs$'o00 Us$'000
B =E FEx FET
Revenue Wz 5 289,707 383,583
Cost of sales SHE A 8 (260,109) (329,897)
Gross profit ER 29,598 53,686
Other income HAb A 7 2,594 2,593
General and administrative expenses —REITERAX 8 (39,855) (45,925)
Impairment loss on goodwill AR EEE 9 (3,000) (2,494)
Impairment loss on purchase consideration AU E Y (B
recoverable RIEBE 9 - (5,699)
Impairment loss on patents and trademarks =2F & iR EEE 10 (10,254) (51,529)
Write-back of purchase consideration payable FERTUEE R E R Bl 10 - 21,469
Operating loss REEE (20,917) (27,899)
Interest income FEUA 598 905
Finance costs B 7% & A 12 (418) (1,164)
Share of loss of a jointly controlled entity FEE—RERZEHIERE 2
&5 19 (45) (53)
Loss before income tax BRETB R AT E 18 (20,782) (28,211)
Income tax credit/(expense) Fr8fiiksn /(2 H) 13 365 (2,659)
Loss for the year FEEE (20,417) (30,870)
Attributable to: U&7 FEfh
Equity holders of the Company KAFERFEEA (12,789) (11,062)
Minority interest LHIRRE L (7,628) (19,808)
(20,417) (30,870)
Loss per share for loss attributable to AAREBTE AELEER
equity holders of the Company ZBREE
(expressed in US cents per share) (ABRREWZ5)
- Basic and diluted — EARREE 15 (1.9) (1.7)
Dividends B2 16 - 3,679

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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Balance Sheets
BEAER

As at 30 April 2008
R-ZEZ)\FMA=+H

Group Company
REE P NN
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENE ZTT+HF ZEENFE ZZTITtHF
Note us$'o00 Us$'000 Us$'o00 Us$'000
k=3 SFESw FET F=E FEx
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEISERE 17 2,758 3,501 - -
Intangible assets BB E 18 43,223 57,594 - -
Other asset Hih &= 84 83 - _
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZIRE 37 = = 46,932 43,221
Investment in a jointly controlled A — K $k B 2
entity BER2RE 19 23 68 - =
Deferred income tax assets BIEFMBHEE 30 1,221 - - _
47,309 61,246 46,932 43,221
Current assets REEE
Inventories s 20 13,030 9,792 - -
Trade receivables JEIE B BRFN 21 21,428 31,351 - =
Prepayments, deposits and BAFIE - BE Rk
other receivables H b fE WSk IE 22 5,105 7,065 72 12
Amounts due from a related EWEE R 2
company I 36(b) 5 64 = =
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREFEEE 23 16,752 30,405 2,267 7,166
56,320 78,677 2,339 7,178
LIABILITIES =L
Current liabilities nEBAE
Trade payables JERTE 5 8RR 24 24,543 31,331 - =
Accruals and other payables JE5t B R R H A
FEfTFRIE 25 10,765 13,939 24 22
Warranty provision R 26 9,365 2,953 - =
Short-term bank loan RHESRITER 27 - 5,000 - =
Trust receipts bank loan ErEBIRRITER 27 1,284 1,046 - _
Balance of consideration UM B AR/
payable for acquisitions of EBREEZ
subsidiaries/businesses and R REHREE
assets - due within one year — —FARHH 28 1,149 3,752 = =
Dividend payable to a minority FER—RM B A A
shareholder of a subsidiary —ZLBIRRZ
) 1,030 1,039 = -
Current income tax liabilities BIERFTIS T A (& 1,786 3,931 = =
49,922 62,991 24 22
Net current assets REBEEFE 6,398 15,686 2,315 7,156
Total assets less current liabilities REERREEME 53,707 76,932 49,247 50,377

—IE\FEER HEEEERAT JO



Balance Sheets

BEEAER
Group Company
AEE AT
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENE —_TTHHF ZBENE _—_TTLHF
Note us$'ooo US$'000 Us$'oo0 US$'000
i FEx FZET FEx FZET
Non-current liabilities FRBEAE
Balance of consideration I BEHT B A Al /
payable for acquisitions of EBREEZ
subsidiaries/businesses and FER R EfREE
assets - due after one year — —F2 5 28 - 1,149 = _
Post-employment benefits 1B B R IKEF 29 1,189 1,362 = =
Deferred income tax liabilities BEFMSHAE 30 = 116 = =
1,189 2,627 - -
Net assets BEERE 52,518 74,305 49,247 50,377
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves attributable AR EEBFEA
to equity holders of G IRA R &1
the Company
Share capital R A 31 13,500 13,418 13,500 13,418
Reserves (GN] 33 34,501 48,762 35,747 36,959
48,001 62,180 49,247 50,377
Minority interest DR RER 4,517 12,125 - =
Total equity ERBE 52,518 74,305 49,247 50,377
WANG Lu Yen FE KHOO Kim Cheng Ep#35R
Director EFE Director EZE

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial — B&B Z M sE Tyt S4R A B TSR E 2 — 201D o
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GARSEDE

For the year ended 30 April 2008
HE_ZZ)\FHA=THIFE

Attributable to equity Minority
holders of the Company interest Total
RATERIFEAENL  DBERER wrEg
Share
capital Reserves
;& ]
Note US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000
P& FET FEx FEx FET
Balance at 1 May 2007 R=-ZZLF
TA-—RAZ&®E 13,418 48,762 12,125 74,305
Loss for the year FEEE = (12,789) (7,628) (20,417)
Currency translation differences EBERZEHE - (622) 20 (602)
Total recognised loss for the year —F/EEHEREEAEE - (13,411) (7,608) (21.019)
13,418 35,351 4517 53,286
Employees share option scheme & B REAHERT &)
- value of employment services ~ —{EERBEE - 236 _ 236
Business combination FBast
- issue of shares —BITIRD 31833 82 1,068 - 1,150
Dividends a5,
- paid to equity holders of — B FARRAEA
the Company BEFAA - (2,154) = (2,154)
Balance at 30 April 2008 REZBBNEF
MA=+HZ&ERF 13,500 34,501 4,517 52,518
Balance at 1 May 2006 REZZARF
BEA—BZ&F 13,337 61,907 29,533 104,777
Loss for the year FEBE - (11,062) (19,808) (30,870)
Currency translation differences ~ EH¥ER Z5 - 1,237 2,869 4,106
Total recognised loss for the year —F/E E R E 1B E R - (9,825) (16,939) (26,764)
13,337 52,082 12,594 78,013
Employees share option scheme & BfEAHERT 3
- value of employment services ~ —{EEREEE - 199 _ 199
Business combination EBAH
- issue of shares — TR (D 31833 81 1,068 = 1,149
Waiver of dividend receivable from BEEHEEK —KIER
a non-wholly owned subsidiary B BARZE = (569) 569 =
Dividends [igs)
- paid to equity holders of —BENFARRA]
the Company BEmFEA A = (4,018) = (4,018)
- paid/payable to a minority —Bf S ENT
shareholder of a subsidiary —XME A
—RDBRE = = (1,038) (1,038)
Balance at 30 April 2007 R=BZLF
MA=tTHZ&ER 13,418 48,762 12,125 74,305

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial &t 7 B3t o1t 424 BIIERE 2 — 205 o
statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
I\‘/\ Eﬁi/ﬂbi%

For the year ended 30 April 2008
HE_ZZ \GFHA=THIFE

2008 2007
—EENFE —TTEF
Note USs$'o00 Us$'000
B =E FEx Tt
Cash flows from operating activities REXBEERE
Cash generated from operations KEEEMEBIRE 34(a) 421 5,894
Interest paid EfFE (418) (643)
Income tax paid B ATEH (3,167) (1,710)
Net cash (used in)/generated from R (FTRE) /TS IR & F58
operating activities (3.164) 3,541
Cash flows from investing activities REFZBH2EHERE
Payment of consideration for acquisition of BB AR EBREE
subsidiaries/business and assets Pt RME (2.603) (3,073)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME  BEKEE (990) (2,256)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - BB KRB
plant and equipment FTiS 08 34(b) 42 48
Interest received BUFE 598 905
Decrease in bank deposits with original AR ERIEZ
maturity over three months RITIF OB A 7,000 -
Net cash generated from/(used in) SEREFNE S (FTHE) IReIF5
investing activities 4,047 (4,376)
Cash flows from financing activities RETHZHERE
Increase in trust receipts bank loan, net EEWIRIRITTE RN 2 F5E 238 1,046
Repayment of short-term bank loan EBEEHRITER (5,000) (3,850)
Dividends paid to the Company's equity holders ENARRERIFTE A ZEKR (2.154) (4,018)
Net cash used in financing activities BB EB TR SRR (6,916) (6,822)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents HeRkELEEERRDFE (6,033) (7,657)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FzReRREFEEE
of the year 23,405 30,609
Exchange (losses)/gains on cash and ReRIAEEEEENINE
cash equivalents (B18),/ s (620) 453
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FRZHEREELEHER 34(d) 16,752 23,405

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial — BEF Z st Th L S4R A BTG HRE 2 — 3015 ©
statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
AR S B

General information

Linmark Group Limited (the “Company”) is an investment holding
company and its subsidiaries (together with the Company are
collectively referred to as the "Group") are principally engaged in
sales of merchandise and provision of services.

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 25 January 2002 as
an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda. The address of its registered office is Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda. The Company's
shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited since 10 May 2002.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States
dollar (US$), unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements were approved for issue by the
Company's Board of Directors on 31 July 2008.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements comprise the consolidated
and company balance sheets at 30 April 2008, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and the explanatory

notes.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied in all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRS"). They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B FS R4S O v

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 FESHBEME »
(Continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (Continued) (a)

MUEAE ()

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of
applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where
judgments and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4. These estimates
and judgments affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the year.
Although these estimates are based on management's best
knowledge of events and actions, actual results ultimately may
differ from those estimates.

Effective from 1 May 2007, the Group adopts the first-in,
first-out ("FIFO") costing method to determine the cost of its
inventories in preparing these consolidated financial statements.
Previously, cost was determined on the weighted average basis.
FIFO costing method has been used as the Directors consider
that it will more appropriately reflect the recent cost levels of
the Group's inventory.

The Directors estimate that the change in accounting policy has
an immaterial impact on the Group's inventories as at 30 April
2008 and each of the prior years presented. As such, a prior year
adjustment as required by International Accounting Standard
("IAS") 8 has not been incorporated.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)
(i) Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in
2007 and relevant to the Group's operations

The following standards, amendments and interpretations
are mandatory for the year ended 30 April 2008 and are
relevant to the Group's operations:

° IFRS 7, "Financial Instruments: Disclosures”, and the
complementary amendment to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of
financial statements - Capital disclosures', introduces
new disclosures relating to financial instruments and
does not have any impact on the classification and
valuation of the Group's financial instruments.

° International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee Interpretation ("IFRIC-Int") 10, “Interim
Financial Reporting and Impairment”, prohibits the
impairment losses recognised in an interim period
on goodwill and investments in equity instruments
and in financial assets carried at cost to be reversed
at a subsequent balance sheet date. This standard
does not have any impact on the Group's financial
statements.

° [FRIC-Int 11, "IFRS 2 - Group and Treasury Share
Transactions”, provides guidance on whether
share-based transactions involving treasury shares
or involving Group entities (for example, options
over a parent's shares) should be accounted for as
equity-settled or cash-settled share-based payment
transactions in the stand-alone accounts of the
parent and group companies. This interpretation
does not have an impact on the Group's consolidated
financial statements.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)
(i) New standards, amendments and interpretations to existing
standards that are not yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group

The following are the new standards, amendments and
interpretations to existing standards that have been
published and are mandatory for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2008 or later periods that the Group
has not early adopted:

. IAS 1 (Revised), “Presentation of Financial Statements”
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2009). IAS 1 (Revised) requires all owner
changes in equity to be presented in a statement
of changes in equity. All comprehensive income
is presented in one statement of comprehensive
income or in two statements (a separate income
statement and a statement of comprehensive
income). It requires presenting a statement of
financial position as at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period in a complete set of financial
statements when there are retrospective adjustments
or reclassification adjustments. However, it does not
change the recognition, measurement or disclosure
of specific transactions and other events required by
other IFRSs. The Group will apply IAS 1 (Revised) from
1 May 2009.

. IAS 23 (Amendment), “Borrowing Costs" (effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009). The amendment requires an entity to
capitalise borrowing costs directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of a
qualifying asset (one that takes a substantial period
of time to get ready for use or sale) as part of
the cost of that asset. The option of immediately
expensing those borrowing costs will be removed. The
Group will apply IAS 23 (Amendment) from 1 May
2009 but is currently not applicable to the Group as
there are no qualifying assets.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 FESHEREME »

(Continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (Continued) (a) MmMEEZE (%)
(i) New standards, amendments and interpretations to existing (ii) B 2K AR e K F F AR R R A
standards that are not yet effective and have not been early ZEER (KGN 1 A ER
adopted by the Group (Continued) PFE (B)

IFRS 8, “Operating Segments" (effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009). IFRS
8 supersedes |AS 14, "Segment Reporting”, which
requires segments to be reported based on the
Group's internal reporting pattern as they represent
components of the Group regularly reviewed by
management. The expected impact is still being
assessed in detail by management, but it appears
likely that the number of reportable segments, as well
as the manner in which the segments are reported,
will change in a manner that is consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision maker. The Group will apply IFRS 8 for
annual periods beginning from 1 May 2009.

IAS 27 (Revised), “Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements” (effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 July 2009). The amendment requires
non-controlling interests (i.e. minority interests) to be
presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position within equity, separately from the equity
of the owners of the parent. Total comprehensive
income must be attributed to the owners of the
parent and to the non-controlling interests even if
this results in the non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance. Changes in a parent's ownership
interest in a subsidiary that do not result in the
loss of control are accounted for within equity.
When control of a subsidiary is lost, the assets and
liabilities and related equity components of the
former subsidiary are derecognised. Any gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any investment
retained in the former subsidiary is measured at its
fair value at the date when control is lost. The Group
will apply IAS 27 (Revised) from 1 May 2010.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (Continued) (a) mMEEE (%)
(i) New standards, amendments and interpretations to existing (ii) B 2K AR Je K £ B F R B R A

standards that are not yet effective and have not been early

ZHER - BATREEFEAZ

adopted by the Group (Continued) PFE (8B)

IFRS 3 (Revised), "Business Combination" (effective
for business combinations with acquisition date
on or after the beginning of the first annual
reporting period beginning on or after 1 July 2009).
The amendment may bring more transactions into
acquisition accounting as combinations by contract
alone and combinations of mutual entities are
brought into the scope of the standard and the
definition of a business has been amended slightly.
[t now states that the elements are ‘capable of being
conducted' rather than ‘are conducted and managed'.
It requires considerations (including contingent
consideration), each identifiable asset and liability
to be measured at its acquisition-date fair value,
except leases and insurance contracts, re-acquired
right, indemnification assets as well as some assets
and liabilities required to be measured in accordance
with other IFRSs. They are income taxes, employee
benefits, share-based payment and non-current
assets held for sale and discontinued operations. Any
non-controlling interest in an acquiree is measured
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest's
proportionate share of the acquiree's net identifiable
assets. The Group will apply IFRS 3 (Revised) from 1
May 2010.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)
(i) New standards, amendments and interpretations to existing
standards that are not yet effective and have not been early

adopted by the Group (Continued)

° IFRS 2 (Amendment), “Share-based Payment Vesting
Conditions and Cancellations" (effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009).
The amendment clarifies the definition of "vesting
conditions" and specifies the accounting treatment
of "cancellations" by the counterparty to a share-
based payment arrangement. Vesting conditions are
service conditions (which require a counterparty
to complete a specified period of service) and
performance conditions (which require a specified
period of service and specified performance targets
to be met) only. All “non-vesting conditions” and
vesting conditions that are market conditions shall
be taken into account when estimating the fair value
of the equity instruments granted. All cancellations
are accounted for as an acceleration of vesting
and the amount that would otherwise have been
recognised over the remainder of the vesting period
is recognised immediately. The Group will apply
[FRS 2 (Amendment) from 1 May 2009, but it is not
expected to have any impact on the Group's financial
statements.

(iii)  Amendments and interpretations to existing standards
that are not yet effective and not relevant to the Group's

operations

The following amendments and interpretations to existing
standards have been published and are mandatory for
the Group's accounting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2008 or later periods but are not relevant for the
Group's operations:

° IAS 32 and IAS 1 (Amendments), "Puttable Financial
Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation”
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2009). The amendments require some
puttable financial instruments and some financial
instruments that impose on the entity an obligation
to deliver to another party a pro rata share of the
net assets of the entity only on liquidation to be

classified as equity.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

(iii)  Amendments and interpretations to existing standards
that are not yet effective and not relevant to the Group's

operations (Continued)

o [FRIC-Int 12, "Service Concession Arrangements”
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2008). IFRIC-Int 12 applies to contractual
arrangements whereby a private sector operator
participates in the development, financing, operation
and maintenance of infrastructure for public sector
services. IFRIC-Int 12 is not relevant to the Group's
operations because none of the group entities provide

for public sector services.

o [FRIC-Int 13, "Customer Loyalty Programmes”
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 July 2008). IFRIC-Int 13 clarifies that where
goods or services are sold together with a customer
loyalty incentive (for example, loyalty points or free
products), the arrangement is a multiple-element
arrangement and the consideration receivable from
the customer is allocated between the components of
the arrangement using fair values. IFRIC-Int 13 is not
relevant to the Group's operations because none of
the group entities operate any loyalty programmes.

° [FRIC-Int 14, "IAS 19 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit
Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and Their
Interaction” (effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2008). IFRIC-Int 14 provides
guidance on assessing the limit in IAS 19 on the
amount of the surplus that can be recognised as
an asset. It also explains how the pension asset or
liability may be affected by a statutory or contractual
minimum funding requirement.
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(a) ﬁ;ﬂéﬁ

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

(iv) Standards, amendments and interpretations effective for
annual periods beginning on 1 May 2007 but not relevant
to the Group's operations

The following standards, amendments and interpretations

(iv) R=ZZFZF fiﬁﬁ H 152 F /&
B[] 4 AX E £ K 55 [B] % 7 AR 2 B
B (E5TR 22

AR -_ZZLF—H—- B’

to published standards are mandatory for annual periods Hibz EFEHE@RSIE(T  BEAK
beginning on or after 1 January 2007 but are not relevant EEEKERER - BT REE

to the Group's operations:

° [FRIC-Int 7, "Applying the Restatement Approach

Rz 2k
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i

under IAS 29, Financial Reporting in Hyper- BEIR [ERENEARERS

inflationary Economies”; and =t 2 B 552957 B & B AR A B
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e |FRIC-Int 9, "Re-assessment of Embedded e FRUKBREREZES R

Derivatives".

(b) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and all its subsidiaries made up
to 30 April.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies generally
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assessing whether the Group controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated
from the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for
the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an
acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given,
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equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed BFFEASAEZEE  SMBEIERAESR
at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to EAXZHERAZ A FEETE - #1546

the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date,
irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of
the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group's share
of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised
directly in the income statement.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 FESHEREME »
(Continued)

(b) Consolidation (Continued) (b) #EEREB (&)

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with minority
interests as transactions with parties external to the Group.
Disposals to minority interests result in gains and losses for the
Group that are recorded in the consolidated income statement.
Purchases from minority interests result in goodwill, being the
difference between any consideration paid and the relevant
share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the
subsidiary.

In the Company's balance sheet, investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable.

Jointly controlled entities are entities where the Group and
other parties undertake an economic activity which is subject to
joint control and none of the participating parties has unilateral
control over the economic activity. Investments in jointly
controlled entities are accounted for by the equity method of
accounting and are initially recognised at cost.

The Group's share of jointly controlled entities' post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognised in the income statement, and its
share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised
in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are
adjusted against the carrying amount of the investments. When
the Group's share of losses in a jointly controlled entity equals
or exceeds its interest in the jointly controlled entity, including
any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the jointly controlled entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
jointly controlled entities are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interests in the jointly controlled entities. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(c) Segment reporting
A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged
in providing products or services that are subject to risks and
returns that are different from those of other business segments.
A geographical segment is engaged in providing products or
services within a particular economic environment that are
subject to risks and returns that are different from those of
segments operating in other economic environments.

(d) Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
("functional currency”). These financial statements are
presented in United States Dollar, which is the Company's
functional and presentation currency.

(i) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the income statement.

(iii)  Group companies
The results and financial positions of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflation
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

- assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented
are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
balance sheet;

- income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the dates of the transactions); and

- all resulting exchange differences are recognised as
a separate component of equity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B HS R4S Y v

2 FESHBERBE @

(d) SMEBRE (50

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
(d) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii) - Group companies (Continued)
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and

(iii) FEENE] (&)
RERRB R BRENGINEE
ZEEFEMEEZELZ8 '

of borrowings and other currency instruments designated FEENEEEAL PZERER
as hedges of such investments, are taken to shareholders’ B HMEKTH B ARERE
equity. When a foreign operation is partially disposed of Ao & &I E I EINER

or sold, exchange differences that were recorded in equity
are recognised in the income statement as part of the gain
or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the

B - R AE 2B EE DR G
KRR AL E 2 HORE -

W — BN EREEZHERA
TEEABRND/EZBINEEZE
ENBEERE WEEERAZEX

closing rate. BE o
(e) Property, plant and equipment (e) Y% BERREE
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less ME - BE RREIRK ARG RHITE &

accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses,
if any. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

REPREER (WA) 7%k - RABREK
BZEREEREHZAX -

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount wEEIE B AR KRR ER SIS R A
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when ANEE MAEBEB ZKABESH A i

it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to the income statement during the period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

AHEE - TEIEEBEREL ZKAG
ABERHAEARERRBILEE (M@

) - EEMEEREERNELHRE
B s R AR o

WME - BERRBITER TG AE
RERAERETE - BERKABIEER
REREME

Leasehold improvements over the shorter of 5 years or HEER(E T 3 7B 49 2
the terms of the leases (ABAS & ABXE)

Furniture and equipment 3 to 5 years UG =FR%E

Motor vehicles and yacht 5 to 10 years SREE R Fi 2

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount and are included in the income
statement.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(f) Intangible assets

(i

(ii)

(iii)

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition
over the fair value of the Group's share of the net
identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary/business/
jointly controlled entity at the date of acquisition.
Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries/businesses is
included in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisitions
of jointly controlled entities is included in investments
in jointly controlled entities. Goodwill is tested annually
for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Impairment losses on goodwill
are not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of a
subsidiary/business/jointly controlled entity include the
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the subsidiary/
business/jointly controlled entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the
purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to
those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the business
combination in which the goodwill arose.

Deferred expenditure

Material items of expenditure that do not relate solely
to revenue which has already been accounted for are
deferred to the extent that they are recoverable out of
future revenue, and will contribute to the future earning
capacity of the Group.

Deferred expenditure is amortised over the period in which
the related benefits are expected to be realised. Deferred
expenditure is reviewed annually to determine the amount,
if any, that is no longer recoverable and any such amount
is written off to the income statement.

Patents and trademarks

Patents and trademarks that have an indefinite useful life
are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if
any, and are tested at least annually for impairment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B HS R4S Y v

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Intangible assets (Continued)

(iv) Licence rights
Licence rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if
any. They are initially measured as the fair value of the
consideration given to acquire the licence at the time of
the acquisition, which represents the capitalised present
values of the fixed minimum periodic payments to be made
in subsequent periods.

Licence rights are amortised over the licence period on a
straight-line basis.

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries and jointly
controlled entities and non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to
amortisation but are tested at least annually for impairment
and are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that carrying amount may not
be recoverable. Assets that are subject to depreciation and
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). Assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets, except for those
with maturities greater than 12 months in which case they are
classified as non-current assets.

Loan and receivables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment, if any. The Group
assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

()

0

(k)

0

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out method
of costing and comprises all costs of purchase and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling

expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for impairment, if any.
A provision for impairment of trade and other receivables is
established when there is an objective evidence that the Group
will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the
original terms of receivables. Significant financial difficulties
of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy
or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in
payments are considered indicators that the receivables are
impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference between
the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest
rate. The amount of the provision is recognised in the income
statement within general and administrative expenses. When a
receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
for receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against general and administrative
expenses in the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at
call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdraft.
Bank overdrafts, if any, are shown within borrowings in current
liabilities on the balance sheet.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B TS R4S Y v

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
(m) Borrowings

(n)

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Transaction costs are incremental
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or
disposal of a financial asset or financial liabilities, including fees
and commissions paid to agents, advisers, brokers and dealers,
levies by regulatory agencies and securities exchanges, and
transfer taxes and duties. Borrowings are subsequently stated
at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the
income statement over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability
for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Current and deferred income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries
and jointly controlled entity operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid
to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the financial statements. However, deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply
when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(n) Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled
entity, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

(o) Employee benefits
(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the balance sheet date. Employee
entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of the leave.

(i) Pension obligations

Group companies participate in various pension schemes.
The schemes are generally funded through payments to
insurance companies or trustee-administered funds. The
Group has both defined benefit and defined contribution
plans. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under
which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate
entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations
to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating
to employee service in the current and prior periods. A
defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined
contribution plan. Typically, defined benefit plans define an
amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive
on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors
such as age, years of service and compensation.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B TS R4S Y v

2 FTESHBERBE @

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)
(o) Employee benefits (Continued) (o) EEBA (5)
(i) Pension obligations (Continued) (i) RESEE (8B)
The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of MEHERRSEBANFEREEGRE
defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the KPR CEBEAFEER 2 TG
defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less NMEEZBEBEREEEZAFEE
the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments B URAEAZEERIZRBE
for unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past service RIEKAN 2 FAE - TREEBANEEH
costs. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually B G E M S F ATE B B EA
by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit HE . FRRENEEZ2HEIETE
method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation FHERSREERARSNEA
is determined by discounting the estimated future cash ZEEMHER BFEEMEEERER
outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate BEHBLYOZEEATES 2 X
bonds that are denominated in the currency in which rE o
the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity
approximating the terms of the related pension liability.
Past service costs are recognised immediately in the B E 7 RS Ak 2N BN B X UR &S 3R RE
income statement, unless the changes to the pension plan R BIFERKREFE ZEHRERT
are conditional on the employees remaining in service for EXETERE (GFER) EEERMD
a specified period of time (the vesting period). In this case, R RIB - L BERT  BEZ
the past service costs are amortised on a straight-line basis BRAE A AN 57 B8 B LA B AR EL B 8 o
over the vesting period.
For defined contribution plans, the Group pays EREREFTAE T R AEFIR
contributions to trustee-administered pension insurance s A4 EREEREEEE
plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. RINIRER T E/E L 38 o B 4t
The Group has no further payment obligations once KON - AN EE B — B E RGE H A
the contributions have been paid. The contributions are REE - ZEHFTNE A RR A
recognised as employment costs when they are due. EBEKAK o (§A KR XK HH
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the BARRMETAHIE - AIFEMN T
extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future BIEBE °
payments is available.
(i) Bonus plan (iii)  7EATETZ)

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for
bonuses. It recognises a provision where contractually
obliged or where there is a past practice that has created
a constructive obligation.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(o) Employee benefits (Continued)
(iv)  Share-based compensation

v)

The Group operates a share option scheme which is an
equity-settled, share-based compensation plan. The fair
value of the employee services received in exchange for
the grant of the options under the share option scheme is
recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed
over the vesting period is determined by reference to
the fair value of the options granted, excluding the
impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for example,
profitability and sales growth targets). Non-market vesting
conditions are included in assumptions about the number
of options that are expected to become exercisable. At
each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to become
exercisable. It recognises the impact of the revision of
original estimates, if any, in the income statement, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable
transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal
value) and share premium when the options are
exercised.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated before the normal retirement date or whenever
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for
these benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits
when it is demonstrably committed to either: terminating
the employment of current employees according to a
detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal;
or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer
made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling
due more than 12 months after the balance sheet date are
discounted to their present value.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B TS R4S Y v

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(p)

(a)

(r)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is more likely
than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined
by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision
is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect
to any one item included in the same class of obligations may
be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase
in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

Provision for warranties is recognised when the underlying
products or services are sold, and is estimated based on historical
warranty data as well as recent trends.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction from the
proceeds.

Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable for the sales of merchandise and services in the
ordinary course of the Group's activities. Revenue is shown net
of value-added tax, returns, rebates and discounts and after
eliminating sales within the Group.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(r)

(s)

(t)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been
met for each of the Group's activities as described below. The
amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably measured
until all contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved.
The Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into
consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and
the specifics of each arrangement.

(i) Sales of merchandise
Sales of merchandise are recognised when a group entity
has delivered products to the customer, the customer has
accepted the products and collectibility of the related
receivables is reasonably assured.

(i) Commission income
Commission income is recognised upon shipment of the
underlying goods procured by a group entity.

(iii) -~ Service income
Service income is recognised when the services are
rendered.

(iv) Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis
using the effective interest method.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction, installation or production of an asset that
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for
its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of
that asset. All other borrowing costs are charged to the income
statement in the period in which they are incurred.

Operating leases (as the lessee)

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income
statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
(u) Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

(v)

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also
be a present obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic
resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot
be measured reliably. A contingent liability is not recognised
but is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. When
a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow
is probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain events
not wholly within the control of the Group. Contingent assets
are not recognised but are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.

Dividend distributions

Dividend distributions to the Company's shareholders are
recognised as a liability in the financial statements in the
period in which the dividends are approved by the Company's
shareholders.

3 Financial risk management

(a)

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk, fair value and
cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk.
The Group's overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial
performance.

Management regularly monitors the financial risks of the Group.
Because of the simplicity of the financial structure and the
current operations of the Group, no major hedging activities
are undertaken by management.
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3 Financial risk management (continued)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i

(ii)

Foreign exchange risk

The Company's functional currency is United States dollar
and the functional currencies of majority of the subsidiaries
are United States dollar, Hong Kong dollar or Sterling. The
Group's transactions, trade receivables and trade payables
are mainly denominated in these three currencies.

As the exchange rate of United States dollar and Hong
Kong dollar is pegged, management considers the foreign
exchange risk in this respect is not significant. The Group
has certain investments in foreign operations, whose net
assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk.
However, as the net foreign exchange exposure of the
foreign operations is not significant, the Group does not
actively hedge this foreign exchange exposure. During
the year under review, the Group used foreign exchange
forward contracts to manage foreign exchange risks from
Sterling transactions. There was no outstanding foreign
exchange forward contract as at 30 April 2008.

The Group periodically reviews monetary assets and
liabilities held in currencies other than United States dollar
and Hong Kong dollar to ensure that net exposure is kept
at an acceptable level, and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Credit risk

The carrying amounts of bank deposits, trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables included in the consolidated
balance sheet represent the Group's maximum exposure to
credit risk in relation to its financial assets.
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3 Financial risk management (continued)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(ii)

BEREREE @
() HHEERBREE (&)

Credit risk (Continued) (i) 1EERE S (&)
As at 30 April 2008, all the bank deposits are deposited in N-_EZNEWMAB=+H" FiEHE
reputable financial institutions. The Group has no policy TEZRAEFEAEZ2 S0 2%
to limit the amount of credit exposure to any financial T o 7N & F M 5 F B PR ) H &
institutions. The table below shows the bank deposits ENEMeREENEZERR - T~
balances with major banks at the respective balance sheet RINEEEREGERATEHRTOGF
dates. Management does not expect any losses from non- it e EEENTBE S E LR
performance by these banks. FOTBOERS B MEE -
Group Company
rEE PN

Counterparty Rating 2008 2007 2008 2007
B—7 AR —EENF —TT+HF ZBBENF —TTLHF

(Note) US$'m US$'m US$'m US$'m

(BR3E) BEET BEZET BEETR AExET
Bank A HRTTA AA 6.5 11.0 - -
Bank B #R178B AA 3.0 - - -
Bank C HR1TC AA- 2.9 8.8 - 7.0
Bank B #R178B AA- - 6.2 - -
Bank D #R47D AA- 2.1 - - -
Bank E HR1TE A+ 1.6 3.7 - -

16.1 29.7 - 7.0

Note: The source of credit rating is from Standard & Poor's. Mizr : EEIRERKRAEELR -

The Group's credit sales are only made to customers with
an appropriate credit history and the Group performs
periodic credit evaluations of its customers. Since the
Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. All receivable
balances are reviewed on an ongoing basis and overdue
balances are followed up by senior management. The
Directors are of the opinion that adequate provision for
uncollectible trade and other receivables has been made in
the relevant years after considering the Group's historical
experience in collection of trade and other receivables.

At the balance sheet date, the Group has certain
concentration of credit risk on the Group's trade receivables,
as the largest five debtors amounted to approximately
US$11,077,000 (2007: US$21,052,000), representing 51.7%
(2007: 67.1%) of the Group's trade receivables. In order
to minimise the credit risk, management continuously
monitors the level of exposure to ensure that follow-up
actions are taken promptly to reduce the risk exposure or to
recover overdue balances. The Group will also continuously
exploit new opportunities and forge relationships with new
customers with the aim of broadening its clientele.

Linmark Group Limited annual report 2008

AEBEMBEFERBEAENT
FRrREREHE  YEMIHER
FREEMRR BHRAREERR
AREBASENE=71X5 1TE
REERBOER - A ERFR
‘wREFERY BRERBARR
EEERE - EFHEAKEB
FEUERE 5 Ko Ho Al 8 W R IR B 1 B
% RBREEAEBEAKOFENE
5 M E MR WSIAIE L RSB -

REEH - REBERERE 5588
EETSEREENEERR AKX
X RS IEA) 511,077,000 7T
(ZZZ £ :21,052,000%7T) * {h
REBREWE ZHRTBERS1.7% (—F
THF 1 67.1%) © BT RIEEER
% BIEEREERRRAKY - U
TR BN B FREBR 1T E) - BRI R
I - B EAHER o ANEE R
ISHBEEY R - WETR PR
YRR LIRERPER o



3 Financial risk management (continued)

3 BHRERERE @

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) () MEEREBREZE (&)
(iii) ~Liquidity risk (i) FEBESER
Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining HENLRHESRMETEREER
sufficient cash and cash equivalents and the availability of EHRSLEESZSEER r YiaiB
funding through an adequate amount of committed credit REHE RSB CEREEEESE
facilities. The Group aims to maintain flexibility in funding S  REBEENRESDE EA#AD
by maintaining availability under committed credit lines. CEEBRBEENEEESAENE)
Details of the banking facilities obtained by the Group are o REFESNETREHEES
disclosed in note 27 to the accounts. [STEER B MisE273H 58 o
As at 30 April 2008, all of the Group's and the Company's R-_ZBEZNENMA=+H  A5£FH
financial liabilities are due for settlement contractually EARABINFEMEBED NG
within 12 months. The table below shows the financial REAREE - TRIHAEER
liabilities of the Group and the Company at the respective AAREESRALERBNTKEE-
balance sheet dates. The contractual undiscounted cash AR ENY NE K 5] KR
flows balances equal their carrying balances, as the impact RS RERESERNEERESR °
of discounting is not significant.
Group Company
rEE ARFE
2008 2007 2008 2007
ZBBN\F _—ITT+F ZBENF _"TTLF
Us$'000 Us$'ooo US$'000 Us$'oo0
FEx TET FEx TET
Short-term bank loan RERRITE R - 5,000 - -
Trust receipts bank loan SRt ER IRTT B K 1,284 1,046 - -
Trade payables ENE S508 24,543 31,331 = =
Accruals and other payables FE&tE R EA
e RIR 10,765 13,939 24 22
Warranty provision RARE 9,365 2,953 = =
Balance of consideration WHEHE AR,
payable for acquisitions of ~ FBREEH
subsidiaries/businesses R ELS
and assets - 2,603 - =
Dividend payable to JERT—K KB R A
a minority shareholder of D EEZRAR
a subsidiary )i e 1,030 1,039 = =
46,987 57,911 24 22
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3 Financial risk management (continued)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iv) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
Except for certain interest-bearing bank deposits and
borrowings, the Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets and liabilities. The Group's income and operating
cash flows are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates. Bank deposits and borrowings issued
at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest-
rate risk. Details of the Group's borrowings have been
disclosed in Note 27 to the accounts.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate swaps to
hedge its exposure to interest risks.

The sensitivity analysis presents the effects on the Group's
loss after taxation for the year as a result of change in
interest income on interest-bearing bank deposits and
interest expense on floating rate borrowings. Same interest
rate shift is used for all currencies. Based on the analysis
performed, the impact on pre-tax profit or loss of a 50
basis-point shift would be an increase or decrease of
US$79,000 (2007: US$123,000).

(b) Capital risk management
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safequard
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders or issue new shares.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This

ratio is calculated as total borrowings divided by total equity as
shown in the consolidated balance sheet.
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Capital risk management (Continued)
The gearing ratios as at 30 April 2008 and 2007 were as

BERERERE @
(b) EXREBEE ()
R-BE\ER-"FET+EMA=1+HH

follows: BESBLEXRMT :
2008 2007
—®BNE  —ETLEF
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FETT
Total borrowings BEE 1,284 6,046
Total equity HARZR 52,518 74,305
Gearing ratio BEBELX 0.02 0.08

The decrease in the gearing ratio as at 30 April 2008 is mainly
due to the repayment of short-term bank loans.

(c) Fair value estimation

The carrying value less impairment provisions (where applicable)
of receivables, payables and bank loans are a reasonable
approximation of their fair values due to their short maturities.
The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is
estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at
the current market interest rate that is available to the Group
for similar financial instruments.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(i) Useful lives of intangible assets (other than
goodwill)
The Group's management determines the estimated useful
lives and consequently related amortisation rate (if any) for
its intangible assets (other than goodwill). These estimates
are based on the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of intangible assets of similar nature and functions.
Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives.
Periodic review could result in a change in amortisable lives and
consequently increase or decrease in amortisation expenses in
future periods.

RE-ZZENFOA=THNEEAGBLX
T TERRMEEERRITERA -

() DFEEMGE
e IR - BN RIARRITERZ REE
BMEREREE (WMER) RZBE &R
EHME  RRERBRRAFEEZAEM
e REEER  BMBEBEZAFEET
BASERBRY B TAMAZRITHS
MERFMARKE HNREMELEH G ©

ERETMEARRBR
ARE-HRBEEHREMEERTEE B
B AN - REREOEERSHRT
HRRFEBELRNHL -

7 8 B B R R AR I T BB R - R R B R
E o BUESSH S BN SRANER
HR - EHBHARMREEANEERAE
BEEEEAREY X ERBRABNZEE
HRBE - BR TR -

() |EEE (BERN) 2T EAFHY

AEBZEREETEVEE (BER
SN) 2z Al at R 5 R A HA DA K% (R 1t 4 B o
HE(A) - ZEGHATDREEERY
RO BV EEERTERAFH 2B
KERMIEL - BRGEFHARER/KZ
AIE R FEINIR o TE HAie wf A {6 4 55 4 21
HIREE) - A 5| UK REAR 2 # 55
1E sk A -

RRNFFH MELEERAF RN



Notes to the Financial Statements
B TS R4S Y v

4 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives

The Group tests annually whether goodwill and intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives have suffered any impairment. For
the purposes of impairment reviews, the recoverable amount
of goodwill and intangible assets is determined based on
value-in-use calculations or market valuations. The value-in-
use calculations and market valuations primarily use cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by management
and estimated terminal value at the end of the budget period,
by reference to prior years' performance, current business
plans and market development expectations. There are also a
number of estimates involved in the preparation of cash flow
projections for the period covered by the approved budgets.
Key estimates include expected growth in revenues and gross
margin, timing of future capital expenditure, and selection of
discount rates to reflect the risks and cost of capital involved.
Changes to these key judgment and estimates could materially
affect the determination of whether there is an impairment and
the related amounts. If there are significant adverse changes
in the aforementioned judgment and estimates, it may be
necessary to record significant additional impairment charge
in future periods.

Trade and other receivables

The Group's management determines the provision for impairment
of trade and other receivables based on an assessment of the
recoverability of the receivables. This assessment is based on
the credit history of its customers and other debtors and the
current market condition which requires the use of judgments
and estimates. Management reassesses the provision at each
balance sheet date.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
prices in the ordinary course of business, less estimated selling
expenses. These estimates are based on the current market
condition and the historical experience of selling products
of similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of
changes in economic conditions in places where the Group
operates, changes in customer taste and competitor actions
in response to changes in market conditions. Management
reassesses these estimates at each balance sheet date.
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4 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(v)

(vi)

Warranty provision

Warranty provision is based on the estimated cost of product
warranties when revenue is recognised. Factors that affect the
Group's warranty liability include the number of sold units
currently under warranty, historical and anticipated rates of
warranty claims on those units, and cost per claim to satisfy
the warranty obligation. The estimation basis is reviewed on an
on-going basis and revised where appropriate.

Income taxes and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions.
There are certain transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated
tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due and, where necessary, after considering advice from
tax consultants. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
and tax losses are recognised when management considers it is
likely that future taxable profits will be available against which
the temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. When
the expectations are different from the original estimates, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred tax assets
and income tax charges in the period in which such estimates
have been changed.
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5 Revenue W 2=
2008 2007
—EEN\F —ETLF
Us$'o00 US$'000
FEx FET
Sales of merchandise 7 SH 272,006 357,287
Commission income Be A 17,243 25,656
Service income PR 7 U A 458 640
289,707 383,583

Sales of merchandise primarily represents revenue from sales of
garment, labels and consumer electronic products. Commission income
primarily represents revenue from garment-related procurement
agency services. Service income primarily represents revenue from
provision of value-added services relating to the procurement
agency business, including inspection and social compliance auditing

service.
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6 Segmental information

(a) Primary reporting format — business segments

At 30 April 2008, the Group is organised on a worldwide basis
into two main business segments: (i) sales of merchandise
(garment, labels and consumer electronic products); and (ii)
provision of services (procurement service and value-added

services relating to the procurement agency business).

The segment information for the year ended 30 April 2008 is

6

() TE2HHX - ¥HHE

RZZEZNFMA=1H A&EEKEIK
EBHENAMBEEEBRSLE - () miE
E (KR BRHEMHEEFEM) ¢+ &)
AR (FHE RS A R BRI T
BEANEERT) °

BE_ZTN\FHA=+THILFENHH

as follows: BRI
Sales of Provision of
merchandise services Total
EmHEE RERE &5t
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
SFEiom FEETE SPES T

Revenue &
External revenue ShR Wz 272,006 17,701 289,707
Segment results DIAFELE (5,069) (1,851) (6,920)
Impairment loss on goodwill R EEE = (3,000) (3,000)
Impairment loss on patents and =R & AR RE R

trademarks (10,254) - (10,254)
Interest income M EUA 598
Finance costs BMsE R (418)
Share of loss of a jointly controlled  F&f5 —Z HEZH

entity BERBZEE (45)
Unallocated corporate expenses ROBEEFERS (743)
Loss before income tax Kk PT1S A4 A ET 18 (20,782)
Income tax credit FrfS F 40 365
Loss for the year FEEE (20,417)
Segment assets DREE 81,901 18,167 100,068
Deferred income tax assets BIEFTISTE EE 1,221
Unallocated corporate assets ROBEEEEE 2,340
Total assets BEBE 103,629
Segment liabilities DEEE 40,074 7,943 48,017
Current income tax liabilities BIEAFTIS T B (& 1,786
Unallocated corporate liabilities RO EEEE 1,308
Total liabilities BERTE 51,111
Capital expenditure BEARRR 240 750 990
Depreciation charge HEER 1,014 701 1,715
Amortisation of intangible assets BB ERE 154 1,004 1,158
Impairment of trade and FEWE 5 8RR S B At

other receivables & WRIE R (E 145 427 572
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6 Segmental information (continued) 6 ZTEEHRw
(a) Primary reporting format — business segments (a) EEEHFX - K28 (@)
(Continued)

The segment information for the year ended 30 April 2007 is BHE_ZZE+FNA=TRHILEENHEE

as follows: BRI -
Sales of Provision of
merchandise services Total
[SEREk= AR A&t
Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FET FZET SFEEm
Revenue Wz
External revenue SR U 7 357,287 26,296 383,583
Segment results PaR ES 9,563 3,444 13,007
Impairment loss on goodwill AR EEE - (2,494) (2,494)
Impairment loss on purchase B 45 [o] Y B (B R (E B 1R
consideration recoverable = (5,699) (5,699)
Impairment loss on patents and = R AR RE R
trademarks (51,529) = (51,529)
Write-back of purchase consideration MK K (EREEE
payable 21,469 - 21,469
Interest income F B A 905
Finance costs B E F (1,164)
Share of loss of a jointly controlled ~ F&f5 —Z R Z
entity P ot (53)
Unallocated corporate expenses RO BERS (2,653)
Loss before income tax KR PSR AT ES 18 (28,211)
Income tax expense FriSHiA (2,659)
Loss for the year FEEE (30,870)
Segment assets DEEE 107,958 24,787 132,745
Unallocated corporate assets ROBREEEE 7,178
Total assets BERE 139,923
Segment liabilities SDEBEE 45,289 10,213 55,502
Current income tax liabilities BVERFR SR B (& 3,931
Deferred income tax liabilities BELERSHAE 116
Unallocated corporate liabilities RAOBREEEE 6,069
Total liabilities BEEH 65,618
Capital expenditure NG 2,198 465 2,663
Depreciation charge HEEHR 731 844 1,575
Amortisation of intangible assets EEERE = 921 921
Impairment of trade and other FEWTE 5 BR AR I B At
receivables (excluding impairment JEWFIBRE
of purchase consideration (EFER Y E
recoverable) WEERERE) 1,646 1,741 3,387
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6 Segmental information (continued)

(a)

(b)

Primary reporting format - business segments
(Continued)

Segment assets consist of primarily property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, inventories, receivables and
operating cash attributable to individual business segment.
They exclude assets held for corporate use.

Segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities. They exclude
items such as taxation and corporate borrowings.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets as set out in Notes 17 and 18,
respectively, including additions resulting from the acquisitions
through business combinations.

Secondary reporting format - geographical
segments

The Group's two business segments operate primarily in five
main geographical locations. The following table provides
an analysis of the Group's revenue, total assets and capital
expenditure by geographical locations.

6 DEERw®
FEEFHN - E£BK08 ()

(a)

DHEEIZEREME  BEARE &
MEE - 78 - B5IFH D BEEREK
ARRERE - PREEY TEERED
ERMBZEE -

DHABEBRKERAE - 2HAGBAETE

ERERDEEER -

AT TR 8FTE  BEAR T BEY
¥ BMEMREBZAE EREE 18
REBEGAFETRBAEENARE -

(b) BZE2EHFX - @S H

AEERAEEZEHELE

B TRANEE W
P AR A D AT

MIBETE D

Revenue Total assets Capital expenditure
W BEH#E EAXRBX

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
“EENF TSt ZZENF —IZTTHF ZBENF C—TTtF
US$'000 Us§'o00  US$'000 US$'000  US$'000 US$'000
TEx TEn SV TEx TEx TEx
Europe BOM 187,904 268,173 39,409 55,627 69 457
Australia BN 39,240 33,981 - - - -
Africa FEM 21,597 34,098 10 19 - -
North America LM 17,491 21,749 - = = .
Hong Kong B 5,369 7,530 61,427 81,375 839 2,039
Others HAth 18,106 18,052 2,783 2,902 82 167
289,707 383,583 103,629 139,923 990 2,663

Revenue is allocated based on the location of customers. Assets
and capital expenditure are allocated based on the location of
those assets.

WeETDRIBZEFAEMDE - EERER
X DiREZ S EEME D -

ZERR)N\FFEH MEEEBERAT EY



Notes to the Financial Statements

BTG s T e
7 Other income 7 HaA
2008 2007
—BEN\F —ERTAF
US$'000 US$'000
FE5 FEx
Reimbursement income from customers REZEFPHEREA 324 682
Handling fee income FEEWA 999 893
Inspection and lab test income i R E R E RS A 346 436
Others Hith 925 582
2,594 2,593
8 Expenses by nature 8 EMEBESSZHAX
2008 2007
—BEBN\EF —ETAF
US$'000 US$'000
FET FET
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #13 - FiE Ri&tm <91 E 1,715 1,575
Amortisation of intangible assets B & EE 1,158 921
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE  BER&EBZEE
equipment 2 392
Impairment of trade and other receivables JEWE 5 BRI E A FE R IR
(excluding impairment of purchase ZIBME
consideration recoverable) (N EFE] W E W EERERE) 572 3,387
Employment costs including Directors' BRESFHEERNZEEKA
emoluments (Note 11) (BzE11) 24,333 26,730
Changes in inventories FE#S) (3.238) 3,748
Inventories purchased EHBEZTFE 225,760 299,315
Provision for warranties IR 23,600 20,407
Freight charges BB 3,190 3,553
Operating lease rental in respect of BRATIER 2 R EMHERRK
- office premises and staff quarters —MAEBMNETER 1,675 1,723
- furniture and equipment — R ER A 71 93
Net foreign exchange gains SNE Uz 558 (545) (696)
Auditor's remuneration Z AN & 515 497
Other expenses HEx 21,156 14,177
Total cost of sales and general and SHEMR A AR —BRITRFAZ BT
administrative expenses 299,964 375,822
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Impairment loss on goodwill and purchase
consideration recoverable

In November 2003, the Group acquired the entire equity interest
in 1SO International (Holdings) Limited ("ISO") for a consideration
of approximately US$19,872,000 (equivalent of approximately
HK$155,000,000). This consideration is subject to downward
adjustments if the profit after taxation of ISO cannot achieve the
pre-determined levels for each of the years ended 30 April 2004,
2005 and 2006.

For the year ended 30 April 2006, the profit after taxation of I1SO did
not achieve the abovementioned pre-determined level. According to
the related sale and purchase agreement, the purchase consideration
(and consequently goodwill) has to be reduced by approximately
US$7,686,000. During the year ended 30 April 2007, the Group has
recorded a reversal of the outstanding consideration payable for
the acquisition of ISO of approximately US$1,987,000, a receivable
from the vendor (who is also a director of I1SO) of approximately
US$5,699,000 and an impairment of goodwill of approximately
US$2,494,000.

The Company's Directors and the Group's management were of the
view that there was uncertainty associated with the collectibility of
the aforementioned receivable and, accordingly, an impairment of the
entire amount of approximately US$5,699,000 was recognised in the
income statement for the year ended 30 April 2007.

During the year, the Group recognised a further impairment of
goodwill of approximately US$3,000,000. The charge is made based
on the results of the impairment test for ISO as a cash generating unit
using the value-in-use model in accordance with IAS 36.

58RI REBENEZRERS

RZZEE=F+ - K& HWKBESO
International (Holdings) Limited ([1S0J) % 2B %
AR - REH H19,872,000% 7T (F E RN Z@
155,000,000/&7T) ° MR EE —TZMF -
TRHERZZTTNFOA= +Eﬁ¢ﬁxi
IS0 Br %12 4 A AR A R FERE KT - Al SR
FHARAE o

HE_ZTZAAFNA=THILFE ' I1S02k
e afwaEs FMEEKT - REEHEE
Bt WEREREEELEZEEERDL
7,686,000 7T - REIZ—TZELFMA=+H
LEEFE - 2N 5 B9 O it U B | SO FE 1T 1 1) K =2 4<F
/X B 491,987,000 7T+ WExSERIKE T (B
ISOZ B %) 2 FIB495,699,0003 JT & 18 E R (B
#92,494,0003< T °

ARBEERAEBEEERA 'E'K—Wﬂl@
PR RIEY R EERE - AEREE
TELFMNA=+THIEFE 2 ¥ %EPEEW
HUR (B 475,699,000 7T °

RAFE AEEBRRHEE - LRELD
3,000,0003 7T ° LB X JHIRISOtERIR B EE
B RIBEE e £ 3655 F A AER
RIFTHELT 2R E R A RMED ©

ZRRN\FFH MEREERR EE



Notes to the Financial Statements
B FS R4S O v

10 Impairment loss on patents and trademarks and 10 BRI RBEEZ REEERENK

write-back of purchase consideration payable
In October 2005, the Group acquired a 60% equity interest in Dowry
Peacock Group Limited (“Dowry Peacock"), a company incorporated
in the United Kingdom, for a total consideration of approximately
US$41,774,000, of which approximately US$21,915,000 (equivalent
of approximately £11,220,000) was payable according to a pre-
determined formula contingent on Dowry Peacock's achievement of
specified profit targets during specified periods after the acquisition.
The Company's Directors and the Group's management were of the
view at the date of the acquisition that the achievement of the
aforementioned profit targets was probable and, accordingly, the
entire amount of the contingent consideration of US$21,915,000 was
recognised as part of the purchase consideration and a liability.

The profit targets for periods up to 30 April 2007 have not been
met. In this connection, the Company's Directors and the Group's
management have revised their estimates of (i) the amount of the
contingent consideration that is probable, and (ii) the fair value of
the patents and trademarks acquired as part of the acquisition by
reference to a valuation performed by Sallmanns (Far East) Limited,
an independent firm of valuers, as at 30 April 2007. Based on these
revised estimates, the estimated purchase consideration was reduced
by approximately US$21,469,000 and an impairment of patents and
trademarks of approximately US$51,529,000 was recorded. These
amounts were recognised in the income statement for the year ended
30 April 2007.

During the year, the Group recognised an impairment charge of
US$10,254,000 in connection with these patents and trademarks. The
charge is made based on the results of the impairment test for the
patents and trademarks using the fair value less cost to sell model in
accordance with IAS 36, which was made by reference to a valuation
performed by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Limited, an independent
firm of valuers, as at 30 April 2008.
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RZZEZRF+A AEEKE -—RERE
#F it BX 32 2 72 &Dowry Peacock Group Limited
(IDowry Peacock]) Z6000f& AN HEz + BREL
#341,774,000% 7T+ H 1 #921,915,000% 7T (18
55 74 %911,220,0005 §%) 7 U B 12 45 E BRI A
Dowry PeacockiZE 2| #8E /& ) B R ZTEE A
Xfte RAREERASEERBERNWES

H:274 » Dowry Peacockf AJ AE3ZE R Fil5E% 7 B
2 BB Eultsk A E21,915,0003 T #E R
RBEREz —SHR—EEE -

HE_ZTLFMNA=1H - AEL EEIE
FEZE - T E NAREFRAEEERE
@Eﬁ%ﬁiﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ(iﬁ)ﬁ@“

RZZZTLFWNA=+HAENGEmESGE
BRI NNRARERRE  R()EWE
ERRGEENRERZ ATEE -  ERNZE
KASET AT - hET R E R 4921,469,0003
I 8% 15 FH R B IR R E 4951,529,0005 7T ©
ZESHERBE_ZSTLFNA=THIF
EAER SR P RER ©

FI |

RAFE  AEBERZEEFN R EERARE
[3210,254,0003E 7T © ZF % IR EIR & 52
A 3655 7 A A FERHEE X AEX (2BB
M EMITESEETEBERARA RN =
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11 Employment costs, including Directors’ 11 EERA (BIEES#HL)
emoluments

2008 2007

—eENE —TTLH

Us$'o00 US$'000

FTEx T

Salaries, bonuses and allowances E N A= 3: 21,571 23,481
Pension costs RIRE AR

- defined contribution plans (Note a) — TREMREE (Mizka) 512 551

- defined benefit plans (Note 29) — EREMEr S (HaE29) 34 155

Share options, value of employment services ~ FEXE - B ERBEE 236 199

Staff welfare and benefits B T &M &AgEk 1,980 2,344

24,333 26,730

(a) The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to

join the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme"), a defined contribution scheme managed by an
independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group
(the employer) and its Hong Kong employees makes monthly
contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees' earnings
as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation.
The monthly contributions of each of the employer and the
employee contributions are subjected to a cap of HK$1,000 per
month.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the relevant overseas
countries, the Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement plans for its employees in the respective countries.
The Group (the employer) and its employees contribute
approximately 19% to 15% and 1% to 200%, respectively, of
the employees' salary as specified by the overseas countries'
jurisdictions.

During the year ended 30 April 2008, the aggregate amount
of the Group's contributions to the aforementioned pension
schemes was approximately US$512,000 (2007: US$551,000).
As at 30 April 2008, the Group was not entitled to any forfeited
contributions to reduce the Group's future contributions (2007:
Nil).

The Group has no further obligations for the actual payment
of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond the annual
contributions.

(a) AEBELHERBEEDEBBEGINE
AEeE ([BEEFTED - EHETD
BBV EEABE 2 ERHERETE o R
wiEestslc AEE (BEE) HESFE
EB &7 AREREINERTERTE ZEM
& ALAE B WA Z5%st & [ 5% &1 8 E
HR - EBXHEEHREELREAE
A 1,000 7T °

ZEREINER 2B RIERFTEE - &
EEAEBARRNES R EHEERTEIE
Bt AEE (BEE) EEEERE
SNEIR BAKIBATIEEE » D RIAES
A T 192 15% 5 7 T 1002 2000 1E H 14

e
A °

HE-_TZN\FONA=1THLEE &K
SEE ERKS B 2 HARBRELN A
512,000% 7T (= & & + 4 : 551,000%
L) e RZZEZENFWMA=+H  ~5EE
I £ AT DR W TR 2 BRI OB D AR &
EEEER (ZZTLFE &) -

MARBEBRFEEHFIN  SEE—FTER
BN RASHRKRRENZEE

ZERRNFFH MEEEERAA
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11 Employment costs, including Directors’ 11 EERA (BEES#HME) @
emoluments (Continued)

(b) As at 30 April 2008, the Group had 716 (2007: 744) full time () R=ZZEZEN\EWMA=+RH x&E£EHF716
staff. HZ(ZETLF 1 744%) 2BET -
(c) Directors' emoluments (c) E=M2
The emoluments of each Director for the year ended 30 April HE-_ZEZEN\FNUNA=THIFEZES
2008 is set out below: ZMEEH T
Pension
costs -
defined
contribution
plans
Salaries and Discretionary Other Bike
Name of Directors Fees allowances bonus benefits A —EHE Total
ESfE e HeREE BERAL  HtREN  HREE @5t

US$000  US$000  US$'000  US$'000  US$000  US$000
TET TXT TET TET TET TET

Executive Directors HTES

WANG Lu Yen FHHE - 349 - = 10 359
Peter Loris SOLOMON Peter Loris SOLOMON - 631 75 52 63 821
KHOO Kim Cheng B35 - 100 - 28 5 133
FU Jin Ming, Patrick (i) R () - - - - - -
Non-executive Directors BUFHTES

WONG Wai Ming (i) 129 (il 28 6 - 5 - 39
Gregory Scott LEONG (iii) L8 (iii) 17 - - - - 17
Mark HSU (iv) R (iv) 1 - - - - 1

Independent non-executive Directors BYFHTES

WANG Arthur Minshiang Fo 33 - - 3 - 36

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius HENT 33 - - 3 = 36

WOON Yi Teng, Eden (v) HLAE (v) 11 - - - - 11

KWOK Tai Ki (vi) HEH (v 28 - - - - 28
161 1,086 75 91 78 1,491

Notes: B E

(i) Retired on 5 July 2007. (i) RZZET+LFLARBEK-

(i) Redesignated from an executive Director to a non-executive Director on (i) REZEZLFLtARHAPTESTESHIE

5 July 2007. IKRIEITES -
(iii)  Appointed on 5 July 2007 and then resigned on 4 January 2008. (i) RZZZTELFLARBEZE EERZ=

TNF-ANBEFE -

(iv)  Appointed on 4 January 2008. vy RZZTETN\GF—ANBAEERE-

(v Resigned on 31 August 2007. v R=ZFZLFNA=1+—HEIE-

(vi)  Appointed on 5 July 2007 and then resigned on 5 May 2008. vi) R-ZEZ+F+LARHEZRT HEER_-F
ZNFHARBEE-
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11 Employment
emoluments (c
(c) Directors' emoluments (Continued)

costs, Directors'’

ontinued)

including

The emoluments of each Director for the year ended 30 April
2007 is set out below:

11 EEREX (BIEESEML) @

() EEME (&)

BE_ZTALFMOA=THIFERES
ZHEEIIT

Pension
costs -
defined
contribution
plans
Salaries and Discretionary Other Bihe
Name of Directors Fees  allowances bonus benefits FA—EH Total
EEp wE FEREY BREEL  HeRN XY -
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US§'000
FET FET FET TET TET TET
Executive Directors HITES
WANG Lu Yen IS - 349 - - 10 359
Peter Loris SOLOMON Peter Loris SOLOMON - 639 75 14 60 788
KHOO Kim Cheng BRR - 100 - 8 5 113
FU Jin Ming, Patrick (i) B () - 469 10 6 13 498
WONG Wai Ming (i 129 (il - 33 - 14 2 49
Independent non-executive Directors BYFHTES
WANG Arthur Minshiang FaF 33 - - 3 - 36
TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius HENT 33 - - 3 - 36
WOON Yi Teng, Eden SUE 33 - - 3 - 36
99 1,590 85 51 90 1915
Notes: Bt =
() Retired on 5 July 2007. () R-ZEZLFLARHRK-

(if) Redesignated from an executive Director to a non-executive Director on 5
July 2007.

Other benefits include the amortisation in the income statement
of the fair value of share options measured at the respective
grant dates, regardless of whether the share options would be
exercised or not.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
during the year ended 30 April 2008 (2007: Nil).

i—tﬂ hHBETEFENRIK

Hipf@ M BRR S BRER L A 88
H% &1{“155”!& SRAZEE (THRE
A TTEIR) -

><r:
E>
>|

HE-_ZT)\FNA=Z+HLEE  H#E
EEREAMNHESHRA B HETMEE
“TTFEE) o

ZRRNFFH MELEERAF NIK]
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11 Employment costs, including Directors’ 11 EERKX (BEREEZEEME) @

emoluments (Continued)
(d) Five highest paid individuals

() EEREMEESR

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the AEBREZSZSMEREESR ML (ZZ
Group include two (2007: three) Directors whose emoluments ELFE:=Z)ABEE HERNEXZET]
are reflected in the analysis presented above. The emoluments ZONRRE - B ENEG=E (=
paid/payable to the remaining three (2007: two) individuals are EELHF RY) EENBISOT ¢
as follows:
2008 2007
—2EBN\F —ERAF
US$'000 US$'000
FER FET
Salaries and allowances e KoERL 782 761
Discretionary bonus BIEIEAT 126 75
Pension costs - defined contribution plans BRIRE — EREMHAGE 19 27
Share options, value of employment services — FEAXIE - EERBHEE 32 10
959 873
The emoluments fell within the following bands: EMENTFATEE :

2008 2007
e U
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T 2,000,000/ 7T 1 -
(equivalent to US$192,802 to US$257,069) (185 1192,8023 L2 257,069% L)
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 7T 23,000,000/ 7T 1 -
(equivalent to US$257,070 to US$385,604) (1851 257,0705 7L £ 385,60435 7T
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 73,500,000/ 7T 1 1
(equivalent to US$385,604 to US$449,871) (18 12385,604 TL 2 449,8713 L)
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7T 24,000,000/ 7T - 1
(equivalent to US$449,872 to US$514,139) (1851 449,872 TLE514,1395 1)
3 2
(e) During the year ended 30 April 2008, no emolument was paid (e) REEEZE-TEZENFHA=THILFE &
by the Company to any of the Directors or the five highest paid AR ERERNEESR A Ex=MEES
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group S AHERT BN & LA tE A& S B i A B I AR

or as compensation for loss of office (2007: Nil).
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12 Finance costs

12 BI%EH

2008 2007
—EENF —ERAF
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
Interest expense on MEFRX
- short-term and trust receipts bank loans — RE R EFEBRERITER 418 643
- amortisation of balance of consideration —WERB AR EHREEREN = 521
payable for acquisition of subsidiaries/ Z B ATEE
businesses and assets
418 1,164
13 Income tax (credit)/expense 13 FrB% () X H
The Company is an exempted company incorporated in Bermuda and, AARA—FRREBEEFMKINZEHRER
as such, is not liable for taxation in Bermuda on its non-Bermuda 7 A BARITIER B B REHWABNT
income. I o
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 17.5% (2007: EANERNOIBEREBEENRER B 2M
17.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in or derived from g+ru%$ﬂ,/ﬁn*‘J;"£Z17 500 (ZZEZFHF 1 17.5%) Z
Hong Kong. Taxation on overseas (other than Hong Kong) profits has THEREE o BN (BHBLIN) #H 2 FHER S
been calculated on the estimated assessable profits at the rates of SHERG RN A E AR E L ERNR S
taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates. MR E -
The amount of taxation (credited)/charged to the consolidated income TiEAalzsRzD BN THZBHES N
statement represents: N
2008 2007
ZBEN\F —ERTF
US$'000 US$'000
FTEx FET
Current income tax BNEAFRAS R
- Hong Kong profits tax — BENEH 816 1,329
- Overseas taxation — FINRTE 175 1,341
Deferred income tax RIS (1,356) (11)
(365) 2,659

ZRRNFFH MEREERR E.
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13 FiBsl (M), X &)

13 Income tax (credit)/expense (Continued)

The tax on the Group's loss before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average
tax rate applicable to profits less losses of the group companies as
follows:

AEEBRBERABERNHBEERERMBER
REBRBENREBOINEFHREME
HIE A BRI ZERRA0 T -

2008 2007
—EENF —ETAF
US$'000 US$'000
S FEr
Loss before income tax bR P15t Bl &S 18 (20,782) (28,211)
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable REARBER /Bl AREHHET 2
to profits in the respective countries/ EHR R E 2 IR
jurisdictions (4,504) (5,214)
Income not subject to tax BERTUA (1.557) (4,011)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes EE 73 3,459 10,793
Tax losses for which no deferred tax asset WEREREMEEHRIEEE 2
was recognised MIAE 1R 2,343 890
Utilisation of unrecognised tax losses A B AR FER T B ET1E (171) (27)
Under-provision in prior years BEFERETR 65 228
Tax (credit)/expense | EH), X (365) 2,659

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 21.7% (2007: 18.5%).
The change is mainly caused by a change in the distribution of the
profit among group companies in different tax jurisdictions.

In January 2007, Linmark International (Hong Kong) Limited, a
subsidiary of the Company, received from the tax authority in India
certain assessment orders relating to the operations of the Group's
liaison office in India (“India Liaison Office") for tax assessment
years 1999/2000 to 2004/2005. The total amount of the tax
assessment amounted to approximately US$10,500,000 (equivalent
of approximately INR474,884,000). The Group has lodged objections
to the India tax authority against the aforesaid assessment orders
and paid a deposit to the India tax authority of approximately
US$280,000 (equivalent of INR12,500,000). Prior to the receipt of the
assessment orders, the Group has already maintained a tax provision
of approximately US$800,000 in respect of the operation of the India
Liaison Office for tax assessment years 1999/2000 to 2004/2005.
Having considered the advices from a firm of attorney in India and
an independent firm of certified public accountants (who is not the
Company's auditor), the Group has recorded a further provision of
approximately US$228,000 in respect of its tax obligation for tax
assessment years up to 2007/2008 during the year ended 30 April
2007.
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14
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Income tax (credit)/expense (continued)

On 14 March 2008, The Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals)
("CITA") of India issued an order ("Order") and held the India Liaision
Office liable to tax in India. The Order further held that 72% of the
commission is attributable to India with actual expenses of the India
Liaison Office be allowed, subject to verification by the tax authority.
Subsequent to the issuance of the Order, the Director of Income Tax
of India has issued a tax payment demand to Linmark International
(Hong Kong) Limited for US$555,000 (equivalent of approximately
INR21,900,000), the payment of which was made before the end
of March 2008. The payment was calculated based on estimate of
the income and expenses as submitted by the India Liaison Office
for tax assessment years 1999/2000 to 2005/2006, and included
tax liability and interests. The India tax authority is in the process
of verifying the income and expenses and at this moment has no
outstanding information request to the Group. Under the advice of
an independent firm of certified public accountants (who is not the
Company's auditor), the Group has lodged appeals to the Tax Tribunal
in India on 16 May 2008 contesting that CITA has erred in facts and
in law as well as the 72% attribution mentioned above. The Group is
of the view that adequate provision has been made for the potential
tax liability in India.

Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company
The consolidated loss attributable to equity holders of the Company
includes a loss of approximately US$362,000 (2007: profit
of US$4,447,000) dealt with in the financial statements of the
Company.

Loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to
equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

13

14

15

FrEs (), ZH @
RZTEENF=A+WMB " DEMAEH (L
#F) HE (TaTAD) EmE< (ELD - BE
EEBERSEARDERMT - ZESE—
HRTEHNERGASA720  NEBEHEER
WERRAZERBERZERA TR - RHE
hE2k HEMSHERERNR=2ZZN
F = AIEBI{EH 2 4 3555,0003% 7T (BSR4
21,900,000 F E L) MM ER R (HF) BR
N H BT ER o ZNRTIIRENE &P S
BR—NAhh, / —TTZEE-_FTTH —TT
NAIBFEEERZBARBAL GTTE - EF
BEFEEERFE - NERKERE EZEZ
WA KBS - B B R A AR B IR A R A R
TRk RBBIHESFT (WIEARFZ
ZREA) 2BR - AEEER=TZZT/N\FHA
TARBRANEFREARERL EFF - HOTAZE
EREREEILRER B2 FBIR HE -
AEERRERIDEZEEHEABIELRE
LI o

AREEBEFEAREEE
AARREHFBARGEEEREAIEEART
B RS ERER P R IR 2 E5 1R 49362,00055 T (— B E
+4F : 5 754,447,000%7T) °

BRER
SREARG B RIBAR AR H A
AR A NE BT BRI T EE -

2008 2007
ZEBEN\F —ETLF
Loss attributable to equity holders of RARERFA ARIEER
the Company (US$'000) (F=x) (12,789) (11,062)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares B 21T E @A IN4E 1928
in issue ('000) (Fh) 671,925 667,839
Basic loss per share (US cents) FREEAEE (EL) (1.9) (1.7)

No diluted loss per share has been presented as the outstanding share
options were anti-dilutive.

B EARTTEBREL EEEER  BEZ7
FHREEES -

RRN\FFH MELEERAF R
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16 Dividends 16 RE
2008 2007
—EENFE —ETLF
us$'oo0 US$'000
SeE FET
Interim, paid, of nil EFERE - &
(2007: 1.8 HK cents) per ordinary share (Z2ZLF - 1.88(L) gRERKR = 1,529
Final, proposed, of nil BURAHAME &
(2007: 2.5 HK cents) per ordinary share (ZZEZLF 2581l FRRE R = 2,150
- 3,679
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for EETEBRERZ_TZTNFHA=THIE
the year ended 30 April 2008. FEZARERE -
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17 Property, plant and equipment 17 Y% - BERSZHE

Leasehold Furniture and Motor vehicles

improvements equipment and yacht Total
HEMEEE BRI RRE RERIERE &5t
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
Tt TE=rx TE5x Tt
At 1 May 2006 R-ZZEXFHHA—H
Cost AR 1,533 6,033 797 8,363
Accumulated depreciation ZEHTE (759) (4,117) (251) (5,127)
Net book amount BREFE 774 1,916 546 3,236
Year ended 30 April 2007 BE=ZTZLF
MA=+HLEFE
Opening net book amount  SF¥IEREFE 774 1,916 546 3,236
Exchange differences ERERE 8 17 (1) 24
Additions NE 1,719 537 - 2,256
Disposals HE (240) (194) (6) (440)
Depreciation e (637) (817) (121) (1,575)
Closing net book amount FREEEFE 1,624 1,459 418 3,501
At 30 April 2007 R-BELF
WA=+H
Cost B 2,470 5,003 718 8,191
Accumulated depreciation ~ E&HHTE (846) (3,544) (300) (4,690)
Net book amount REFE 1,624 1,459 418 3,501
Year ended 30 April 2008 BE=ZZNF
MA=+HLEFE
Opening net book amount  FHIEREF{E 1,624 1,459 418 3,501
Exchange differences JERERE (8) 31 3 26
Additions NE 386 576 28 990
Disposals HE - (37) ) (44)
Depreciation e (901) (699) (115) (1,715)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 1,101 1,330 327 2,758
At 30 April 2008 R=BEN\F
WA=+H
Cost B 2,763 5,486 669 8,918
Accumulated depreciation  R&HHTE (1,662) (4,156) (342) (6,160)
Net book amount AREDFE 1,101 1,330 327 2,758
Depreciation has been included within general and administrative WEBTARSZR 2 —MEITBASYZA °

expenses in the income statement.
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18 EBEE

18 Intangible assets

Deferred  Patents and Licence
Goodwill  expenditure  trademarks rights Total
BE ELERY ZiREE 1SRTHE &t
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FTET = FT=Ex = T
Year ended 30 April 2008 EE=ZENF
NA=t+HLEE
Opening net book amount FHBREFE 32,266 2,093 22,828 407 57,594
Exchange differences ERER 67 - (25) (1) 41
Impairment loss (Notes 9 and 10) JA{EEE (HIzE9%10) (3,000) = (10,254) - (13,254)
Amortisation g - (1,004) - (154) (1.158)
Closing net book amount FRIREFE 29,333 1,089 12,549 252 43,223
At 30 April 2008 R=ZENF
MA=+H
Cost BEN 34,827 3,014 74,332 406 112,579
Accumulated amortisation and R KR E
impairment (5,494) (1,925) (61,783) (154) (69,356)
Net book amount RHEFE 29,333 1,089 12,549 252 43,223
Year ended 30 April 2007 BE=-EEBtF
NA=+HLFE
Opening net book amount FYREFE 47,446 3,014 67,955 = 113,415
Exchange differences ERER = = 6,402 = 6,402
Additions NE - - - 407 407
Adjustment to purchase BB —RWEA A
consideration for acquisition ~ ZUHEKBATIE
of a subsidiary (Note 9) A (ffzE9) (7,686) = = = (7,686)
Impairment loss AR
(Notes 9 and 10) (FfsE9 Rk 10) (2,494) - (51,529) - (54,023)
Amortisation H = (921) = = (921)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 32,266 2,093 22,828 407 57,594
At 30 April 2007 R-BE2LH
MA=+H
Cost DN 34,760 3,014 74,357 407 112,538
Accumulated amortisation and R 88 KR &
impairment (2,494) (921) (51,529) - (54,944)
Net book amount REHE 32,266 2,093 22,828 407 57,594

Deferred expenditure represents amount incurred for renewing a

buying agency agreement, which is to be amortised over the three-

year period of the buying agency agreement, in which the related

benefits are expected to be realised.
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18 Intangible assets (Continued)

Patents and trademarks relate to certain brands of consumer electronic
products which the Company's Directors and the Group's management
consider to have indefinite useful lives due to the enduring nature
of the brands. Licence rights represent the contractual rights to
distribute consumer electronic products under certain brand names
in the United Kingdom up to January 2010.

Impairment tests for intangible assets

Intangible assets are allocated to the Group's cash-generating units
identified according to country/place of operation and business
segment.

A segment-level summary of the allocation of intangible assets is
presented below.

18

BREE @

R REENEEAA T EE R AL EEEE
RARAREEAETASEREERE
Ny ETHEBTELGRNE - BigEgE—
T AEERNETRREES NS
BFER T AR -

BREAERERR
BREEDSREERELERR R R ES
2R BRI AR ERIR S B o

BEESEKMBERIBEEZZ5MT -

2008 2007
“ZENE ZETLF
Sales of  Provision of Sales of Provision of
merchandise services Total ~ merchandise services Total
BmHE RER &t HmiHE AR GH
us$'ooo Us$'o00 USs$'o00 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000
TER FER TER TET TEX TER
Goodwill HE
- Hong Kong - &% 26,333 3,000 29,333 26,266 6,000 32,266
Deferred expenditure RIER X
- Hong Kong - &% - 1,089 1,089 - 2,093 2,093
Patents and trademarks BH Rtz
- United Kingdom - &E 12,549 - 12,549 22,828 - 22,828
Licence rights RATHE
- United Kingdom — 252 - 252 407 - 407
39,134 4,089 43,223 49,501 8,093 57,594

The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units for which goodwill
is allocated are determined based on their value-in-use. This value-
in-use is calculated using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management for the year ending 30 April 2009,
discounted at a pre-tax discount rate of 10% (2007: 5.8% per annum)
and extrapolated using zero growth rate beyond the period covered
by the budgets.

Management prepared financial budgets that reflect actual and
prior year performance and market development expectations. These
assumptions are determined based on judgement and changes in these
assumptions can significantly affect these cash flow projections, and
therefore the results of the impairment tests. If the pre-tax discount
rate applied in the value-in-use calculations of the cash generating
units for which goodwill is allocated had increased/decreased by
100 basis-point, the recoverable amount of the goodwill as at 30
April 2008 would decreasefincrease by approximately US$200,000
to US$400,000.

BEMSBENRBRSEMNATKRE SR
BEERTEEEE - AEBEMBAEEE 4
ERNBE_ZTENFHA=THLFERBRE
BREENBEGREBAUFERRAFEE &
BAT IR K10 (ZEZLF - FF58%) 5t
B WERAEEMRERRANZ TR T
o

ERERENMBEERMERRBTFEMN
FRERTEHANTISEE - ZEREIRHEE
E - ZERENEHEZEHR MR KA
BEARMNERERKEATE - WEHEMDED
HBIRESBAUERTPEEFETEMERAD
FRATITER RIE IR 10052 ER =T
ZENFHA=THAEMAIKRESES R N
#7200,0003E 7T £ 400,0005 TT °

ZERR)N\FFH MEEEBRAT N
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Intangible assets (continued)

Impairment tests for intangible assets (Continued)

Patents and trademarks at 30 April 2008 were carried at their
recoverable amounts, which were determined by reference to
valuations performed by independent firms of professional surveyors
using the royalty method. Under the royalty method, the values
of the patents and trademarks represent the present value of the
hypothetical royalty income from licensing out the patent and
trademarks. The key assumptions underlying the valuations of patents
and trademarks include growth rates and discount rates.

The annual revenuefincome growth rates assumed in the valuations
of patents and trademarks are generally in the range of 0% to 100%,
averaging at approximately 2% per annum over a five year period, and
extrapolated using 3% growth rate beyond the five year period.

If the revenue/income growth rates had increased/decreased by 100
basis-point per annum over the five year period, the recoverable
amount of the patents and trademarks as at 30 April 2008 would
increase/decrease by approximately US$450,000. The pre-tax discount
rate used in the valuations of patents and trademarks is 9.8% (2007:
10.5%), which reflect specific risks relating to the assets. If the pre-tax
discount rate applied to the valuations of patents and trademarks had
increased/decreased by 100 basis-point, the recoverable amount of
patents and trademarks as at 30 April 2008 would decrease/increase
by approximately US$1,600,000 to US$2,200,000.

Investment in a jointly controlled entity

19 R—KHARZHE

8 BILEE =)

ﬁﬂéﬁ&ﬂﬁfﬁd% (&)
RZZZNFOA=+HNENRERRER
WE SR W2EBLEXRAEMITER
BRRTRETHEEEE - BENETL
ENEkARZBEEHLENRBREZBRRE
WA 2B E - FHEN KB R EEMRS
ZEIBBRRBIERERFIRE -

BRI EEEEEZREASFERALE R R —K
N F0%E10% RAFHBFHHFTHTFE
2% @ WA AFHBFEREREHES -

i g A3 R RN A FHIR S F 0% 22100
B BNERAER=ZZENFHNA=FTHZ
AU el EEE L AN R > £9450,000% 7T © HF
R EEMBOB AR R8w (ZFF
+ 4 10.5%) - RIEEEEERNISFERE i
= RS E AT A B AT IR EIg 0, R
100£%  FAEFAER=_ZEZNFOA=1H
B AT U Bl 6 B R 2> 1 IN491,600,000% 7T &
2,200,000 7T ©

BzirAE

2008 2007

—EENFE —ETLF

us$'o00 Us$'000

FEx FET

At beginning of the year REA]) 68 121
Share of loss of a jointly controlled entity JEMR—REREHIEE 2 EE (45) (53)
At end of the year LR 23 68
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21

Investment in a jointly controlled entity (continues) 19 R—RHERIZGIEB Z2KRE )
Details of the jointly controlled entity as at 30 April 2008 is as R-ZEENENA=+HZHRAIZH| TS
follows: wm
Percentage of
Place of attributable equity
Name establishment Principal activities interest
=L FX 3L 1t 26 FEER BB ER D
CSC Consultancy Co. Ltd. Mainland China Provision of business information, 50
bR IR AR A R A A H management consulting and
social compliance services
REXBEM  BEEARMGEE
e =r A B B AR
Inventories 20 78
2008 2007
—ZEENF —ETLF
US$'000 Us$'000
FTER FET
Finished goods BURK 13,030 9,792

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in cost of
sales amounted to US$222,522,000 (2007: US$303,063,000).

Trade receivables

The credit terms granted to customers range from 60 to 90 days. The

ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

FEK AR AR st AiE222,522,000% 7T
—EBT 4 : 303,063,000%TT) ZHEEKARZ

A o

21 BIRE Z R

BT R 2 —HBIEE HH0XEORTE - /8

WE SRR RE DT

2008 2007

—EZT)N\F e S

US$'000 Us$'000

TEx FET

0 to 30 days 0— 30K 12,338 23,035

31 to 60 days 31— 60K 3,333 4,375

61 to 90 days 61— 90K 3,831 2,790

91 to 365 days 91 — 365K 2,036 2,065

Over 1 year TR 1F 6,125 5,696

27,663 37,961

Less: Provision for impairment of B EE B ERFURE R (6,235) (6,610)
trade receivables

21,428 31,351

The credit quality of trade receivables neither past due nor impaired
has been assessed by reference to historical information about the
counterparty's default rates. The existing counterparties of receivables
are neither past due nor impaired and do not have default history
in the past.

TEBHRMENERESERNEEEET
BR2ERWHF IR LN BEEET
Al o BUCRIRR IR A B F 77 I 8 BSO8R
1B ASGBEL BB R
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21 Trade receivables (Continued)
As of 30 April 2008, trade receivables of US$6,222,000 (2007:
US$12,449,000) were past due but not impaired. These relate to a
number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history
of default. The ageing analysis of trade receivables that were past due
but not impaired is as follows:

21

BWE SRR @)
R-ZEZNEMBE=+H BRZZFEXR
6,222,0003 7T (= T & + 4F : 12,449,000 7T.)
BEHETERE  ZERKEFERS RS
ZITHAY M R LSRR BN B - xS HAE
W R E R EW E 5 IR A RER DT T ¢

2008 2007

—EENE —TTE

US$'000 US$'000

FEx FET

Less than 3 months DLPR=EA 5,423 11,138
3 to 6 months =z=,@A 341 982
Over 6 months ZH =18 R 458 329
6,222 12,449

As of 30 April 2008, trade receivables of US$6,235,000 (2007:
US$6,610,000) were impaired and have been provided for.

R-ZEZNFEFNAE=1+8 BEUESEXR
6,235,0005 T (ZZZ+4F : 6,610,000 7T) B
BB - WEEH B -

Movements on the provision for impairment of trade receivables are JEWE SRR ERE 2 EBT ¢
as follows:
2008 2007
—EENF —ETLF
US$'000 US$'000
TEx FEx
At beginning of the year REH) 6,610 5,577
Provision for receivables JE Y SR TE B 643 2917
Receivables written off during the year A A S A& S AT IR (B /9 8 W SRR (1,021) (1,907)
as uncollectible

Exchange differences EH =R 3 23
At end of the year JICEHS 6,235 6,610

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have
been included in general and administrative expenses in the income
statement. Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally
written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional
cash.

During the year, the Group recognised an income of US$98,000 for
bad debt recovery (2007: loss of US$120,000 for bad debts write-off)
of trade receivables. The income and loss was recognised directly in
the general and administrative expenses in the income statement.
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22

Trade receivables (continued)
Trade receivables were denominated in the following currencies:

FEWE SRR @)
FEUEE 5 BE 2 Th IR A T M B

21

2008 2007
—EENE —TTE

US$'000 US$'000

FEx FET

United States dollar = 22,329 27,743
Sterling (United Kingdom) T 3,998 8,248
Euro BT 656 1,225
Others HAh 680 745
27,663 37,961

The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair
values.

The maximum exposure to credit risk relating to trade receivables at
the reporting date is represented by their carrying amount mentioned
above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

FEWRE BN REERE A FEERS -

RIFEBH - AEBEARZHRAEKE SRR
ZEREERRE Ll HAREE - AEEL

ERAEMERRIERER -

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 22 FANRIE - RERHMWEWRIE
Group Company
rEH AATH
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENE —TTLHF ZEENE ZTITLHF
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
TFERT FET FEx FEx
Prepayments TR FRIE 2,016 1,671 - 12
Rental deposits Heme 583 579 - -
Other receivables EL A RIE 2,506 4,815 72 -
5,105 7,065 72 12

Other receivables comprise primarily amounts recoverable from
customers for payments on their behalf, majority of which are
denominated in United States dollar or Hong Kong dollar.

The existing other receivables are neither past due nor impaired and
do not have default history in the past.

The carrying amount of rental deposits and other receivables
approximate their fair values.

The maximum exposure to credit risk relating to rental deposits and
other receivables at the reporting date is represented by their carrying
amount mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral as
security.

HtEWARBEZEEATLPKE R X 2K

8 - REMPIARTTRBTLIIE

BB MBI FRIRY Eia I SORME - JA NS

EWEHERACER ©

s

+

HEY
EHEE °

& REMBWKIAZ REEEL N F(E

REERH  AEEEAXABRES RS RE
R FBEz&ZREERRE L2 LK@
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22 Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 22 FE{FIE W& R HMEWRE

(Continued) (&)
During the year, the Group recognised a loss of US$27,000 (2007: ER NEEBREMMERRBEREEIRE
US$350,000) for the impairment of its other receivables. The loss has 27,000% 70 (ZZZ £ 4F : 350,000%7T) © G 8
been included in general and administrative expenses in the income ERERWERTA—BETHREYET °
statement.
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables were denominated in FENFIE - e R EH M ERGRIE TR §
the following currencies: HI{E :
2008 2007
ZEBEN\F —ETAF
US$'000 US$'000
TEx FET
United States dollars ETT 859 2,811
Sterling (United Kingdom) S 2,654 1,189
Hong Kong dollars P& T 1,061 2,517
Others Hith 531 548
5,105 7,065
23 Cash and cash equivalents 23 BERBEEEEER
Group Company
rEE PN
2008 2007 2008 2007
ZEENFE —TT+F ZBBENE —TTLHF
US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000
FERT FET FER FET
Bank deposits with original maturity  #HRITFRIREIHIE
- Within three months — ={EA AR 3,273 625 2,122 15
- Over three months - ZR=MEA = 7,000 = 7,000
Cash at bank and in hand RITRFERS 13,479 22,780 145 151
16,752 30,405 2,267 7,166
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EBEN\F —ITTtHF ZBENF —TT+HF
USs$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FERT FEx FER FET
Cash at bank and bank deposits IRITIRE RIBITIFHK
- Maximum exposure to credit risk — Em i SRR 16,692 30,372 2,267 7,166
The effective interest rate on cash at bank and bank deposits was RITHR & RIRITTERAE R FF XL R2.4%
approximately 2.4% per annum (2007: 2.80%). ZETLF 1 280%) °
Cash at bank and bank deposits with original maturity within three REIBR PR =R 2 RTRE RRITHERZ
months have an average maturity of less than one month. FHREBERIR—ER -
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23 Cash and cash equivalents (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the following

24

currencies:

23 RERBARLEEER &
BeRHLSHEEE PR T EEIE :

Group Company
rEE KAFH
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENF —ZTTt+HF ZBENF —TTLHF
USs$'o000 US$'000 USs$'000 US$'000
FEx F=x TEx FET
United States dollar I 10,754 20,989 2,217 7,132
Sterling (United Kingdom) g 3,336 5,775 - =
Hong Kong dollar I 1,554 1,706 50 34
Euro BT 145 903 - -
Others Hith 963 1,032 - -
16,752 30,405 2,267 7,166
Trade payables 24 BHEF R
The ageing analysis of trade payables is as follows: ENE ZRRRR DT ¢
2008 2007
—EENEF —ETAF
US$'000 Us$'000
FET FEx
0 to 30 days 0— 30K 19,293 24,940
31 to 60 days 31— 60K 2,169 3,168
61 to 90 days 61— 90K 1,329 361
91 to 365 days 91 — 365K 468 2,430
Over 1 year A —F 1,284 432
24,543 31,331
Trade payables were denominated in the following currencies: ENE SRR TDIZATERTIE :
2008 2007
—EENF —ETAF
US$'000 US$'000
FE75 FET
United States dollar EIT 13,351 22,871
Sterling (United Kingdom) R 10,865 6,601
Euro BT 10 937
Hong Kong dollar 7BIT 315 922
Others HAth 2 =
24,543 31,331

The carrying amounts of trade payables approximate their fair

values.

N E SRR RAESREA T EERS
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25 Accruals and other payables 25 EtEARHMENSRKIE
Group Company
AEH AT
2008 2007 2008 2007
ZEENFE —TT+HF ZZBENE —TTLHF
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FEx F=ET FEx FET
Accrued bonuses RETIEAL 1,666 1,727 = =
Accrued expenses R2itHAX 3,282 2,706 24 22
Licence fees payable TR ER 424 407 - -
Other payables H b e 508 5,393 9,099 - =
10,765 13,939 24 22
Other payables comprise primarily amounts received from customers HEENRIEEZBEREF ALK Z KK
in advance for future payments on their behalf, majority of which are IR - REB AZETTHINE o
denominated in United States dollar.
The carrying amounts of payables approximate their fair values. JENT IR Z BREEEE N EERE
26 Warranty provision 26 RARE
2008 2007
—EBEN\F ZETHF
Us$'ooo US$'000
FTEx FET
At beginning of the year REH) 2,953 2,358
Provision e 23,600 20,407
Exchange differences EHERE (120) 237
Utilised A (17,068) (20,049)
At end of the year REL 9,365 2,953
A 60%-owned subsidiary of the Group offers warranties for certain REEEe0nER 2 MBARREEE TR
consumer electronic products it sold, for periods from 12 months ZETHBEFEMRHERA RAMHAHAR
from the date of purchase by end customers or 15 months from KB BEEE QAR 1218 A 5 B B R AT
the date of manufacture. The Group's management uses historical 158 H - AEEEREFERABTRARELSR
warranty claims experience as well as recent trends to determine the LARGE BB A ERABBE 2SR

amount of warranty provision.
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27 Bank loans

27 SRITER

2008 2007
—EENF —ERAF
US$'000 Us$'000
S0 FEr
Short-term bank loan RERRITE K = 5,000
Trust receipts bank loan ErEBIRIRTTE R 1,284 1,046
1,284 6,046
The effective annual interest rates at the balance sheet date are as REZRA 2 BRERNERNAT :
follows:
2008 2007
—EENEF —ERAF
Short-term bank loan MHISRITE R N/A 6.3%
Trust receipts bank loan SREBIRIRITE R 7.0% 6.3%
Bank loans were denominated in the following currencies: RITERATIIERBIIE :
2008 2007
ZEBEN\F —ETF
US$'000 Us$'000
FEx FEx
United States dollars ETT = 5,000
Sterling (United Kingdom) g 1,284 1,046
1,284 6,046
The carrying amounts of the Group's borrowings approximate their AEEBEZREEREATFEERES
fair values.
At 30 April 2008, the Group had total banking facilities of RZZEZENFEOA=+H ' NEBEZRT
approximately US$62.9 million (2007: US$58.0 million), including A& 454 5629000003k T (= T T +

£ : 58000000k 7L) r EFBEEEEREDN
7,600,0003% 7T (ZZZH4F : 8,600,000%TT) ©

borrowing facilities of approximately US$7.6 million (2007: US$8.6
million).

RZZEZNFHA=+H  KRQEMH60%ER
the assets of a 60%-owned subsidiary of the Company amounting B BT /B8 22 )75 At 7 B R 814926,270,0005E 7T
to approximately US$26,270,000 (2007: US$33,797,000) to secure — T 4 33,797,000 7T) 2 EE KZE
5 UERETAEEZRITRE

At 30 April 2008, there was a fixed and floating debenture over

certain of the Group's banking facilities.

ZRRNFFH MELEEERAF RHEE
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28 Balance of consideration payable for acquisitions 28 WHEKMB AT %K REEZE

of subsidiaries/businesses and assets

R EHE

2008 2007
—sENE  —TTt4
US$'000 US$'000
FEx Tt
Balances payable: FERTFIAEARE -
Within one year —FRN 1,149 3,752
Between one and two years —FFE_F = 1,149
Present value of consideration payable ERREZEE 1,149 4,901
Less: Current portion (included in B R B Ek S
current liabilities) (BRERSEEAN) (1,149) (3,752)
- 1,149

As at 30 April 2008, the balance of consideration payable for
acquisitions of subsidiaries/businesses and assets represents the
estimated amounts payable for the acquisition of Dowry Peacock.

Certain portions of the consideration for the acquisition of Dowry
Peacock are subject to adjustments based on pre-determined formula
contingent on achievement of specified target profits during specified
periods after the acquisitions. The Company's Directors and the
Group's management have estimated the amounts payable as at 30
April 2008 based on the profits/(losses) of Dowry Peacock stated in
its audited financial statements for the years ended 30 April 2006
and 2007 and in its management accounts for the year ended 30
April 2008.

As at 30 April 2007, the balance of consideration payable for
acquisition of subsidiaries/ousinesses and assets represents the
estimated amount payable for the acquisition of Dowry Peacock and
the business (including certain related assets and liabilities) of Stirling
(HK) Limited (formerly known as Tamarind International Limited), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong.
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R_ZEENFMA=+H  KEHBRAR, %
BREE 2 EARESREE K #EDowry Peacock
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BT HAERNE S EIIEE RN B EmikiE
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ZEET ) \FHOA=THILFENERERE
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B REE 2 B EHRZEIEKIEDowry Peacock
M — REE BT MK 2 2 &lStirling (HK)
Limited (BT#&Tamarind International Limited) &9
X% (BRETHBEERAR) MEMNB MG
TH °



29 Post-employment benefits 29 EERKER

Post-employment benefits were mainly contributed by the Group's BEEEKEBNETERAEER S ENEBR Y
operation in Taiwan. Movements of post-employment benefits in the T - R EEBBRIPERABENEES R
liability recognised in the consolidated balance sheet is as follows: REF BT -
2008 2007
“EENE “ERHE
Taiwan Others Total Taiwan Others Total
4% H att 4 ) At

US$'000  US$'000  US$'000  US$'000  US$000  US$'000
FTER TER xR o TXR S

Note (a) Note (a)
Wt (a) fizta)

At beginning of the year HREA] 927 435 1,362 1,130 561 1,691

Exchange differences ERESE 90 4 94 (38) (5) (43)

Amounts charged to the income statement  ENiERF MR 5

- Pension costs - other post-employment  —RIREHA—EAft
benefits B SRR - 4 4 - 53 53
- Pension costs - defined benefit plans ~ —RAKEHA—ER
(Note 11) wFlErEl (FizEn) 57 (23) 34 65 90 155
Payments made during the year RERFH (274) (31) (305) (230) (296) (526)
Transfer from accruals and other payables ~EBEEEFERR
Hit MR - - - - 32 32

At end of the year NG 800 389 1,189 927 435 1362

Notes: MizE -

(a) According to the laws and regulations in Taiwan, the Group is obliged to pay (a) BIEGEEEREE  AEEARAESEREE I
its employees in Taiwan, upon retirement, disability or death, post-employment ERK  BESEGWAZAZEHN  TiREEE
benefits based on the number of years of services and final average salary. The ERBESHRFZKR TSI MEREH - AEE
Group carried out an actuarial valuation as at 30 April 2008 of its obligation for R-EENFNA=1+HAEEEERKAENEE
post-employment benefits payable to employees in Taiwan. TR 2EEE -

The amount recognised in the consolidated balance sheet in respect of the post- MIRIBE A LR AR EN 2 EERKREINEGES
employment benefits due under the laws and regulations in Taiwan is analysed BEABRPERZESEOIAOT :
as follows:
2008 2007 2006 2005
—ZEENF —ETLF —ETRF —ZEThHF
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FTEx F=7 F=T F=T
Present value of obligations BRINEFEERE 670 807 1,049 1,088
Unrecognised actuarial gains REER B HE W e 130 120 81 19
Liability in the consolidated balance sheet ~ RARAEEBBERT
ZEfE 800 927 1,130 1,107
Experience adjustments on plan liabilities RBEREFEAE
FriERZ = - - 64
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29 Post-employment benefits (continued)

Notes: (Continued) MizE : (48)
(b)  The amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement in respect of the (0) oA
plan in Taiwan is analysed as follows:

T

29 EERAKEBER @

AEFERGERaRER BN

2008 2007
—BBNEF =
US$'000 US$'000
FER FEx
Current service cost fﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁf@zﬁ 37 43
Interest cost B 20 22
57 65
The charge for the year has been included in general and administrative expenses AREERAZEBRDRNNEGERY BB RITEHAX -
in the income statement.
The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows: FTAZEERFERBHAT :
2008 2007
—2TN\F —ETLF
Discount rate (per annum) WRE (§4F) 2.8% 2.8%
Expected rate of salary increases (per annum) TEHE SRR (BF) 2.0% 2.0%

Expected contribution to the plan in Taiwan for the year ending 30 April 2009 is

approximately US$25,000.

30 Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes related to the same
fiscal authority. The amounts shown in the balance sheet include the

following:

I FTVEHL SR 40 A25,000% 7T °

30 EIEFTBH
IR AT ROE BT RIA SR A HIBEE
RBAHEAEEY  HECHERR— %
MR BB SR A EREE - 1
AEABEENE R FERENTRHE :

EHREBE—TEAFHA=THILFEHAET

2008 2007

—EEIN\F —ETLF

us$'o00 Us$'000

Fx FET
Deferred tax assets to be recovered B 1218 Al E 2 EEFIAE E

after more than 12 months 805 10
Deferred tax assets to be recovered B 1218 A R E 2 EEFIAE E

within 12 months 418 -
Deferred tax liabilities to be settled #1218 R BN 2 BERIBRE

after more than 12 months 2 126
Deferred tax liabilities to be settled #1218 A RER 2 BERIER &

within 12 months
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primarily from accelerated/decelerated tax depreciation and tax losses

are as follow:

30 Deferred income tax (Continued)

The movements on the deferred income tax account, which arise

30 LB @

TERB IR OBRTIETE RRAERZE
BB BT

Deferred income

Deferred income

tax assets tax liabilities Total
BEEFISBERE BELEFRESBAE &5t
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
“EENF CZTTHE ZEENF CZZTtE CZBENF CZTTtE
US$'000 US$'000 Us$'oo0 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
Txn FE FER FET TER FE
At beginning of year REY] (10) (4) 126 129 116 125
(Credited)/charged to the consolidated AR A Wz R
income statement (Note 13) (&), T
(Ht3E13) (1,232) (6) (124) (5) (1,356) (1)
Exchange differences ERERR 19 - - 2 19 2
At end of year REFR (1,223) (10) 2 126 (1,221) 116
Accelerated/decelerated tax
depreciation allowances Tax losses Total
M/ WEBEN B 2 HE hIERE &t
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
BB\ —2THE ZEEINE —TTLE ZBBENF —ITTtE
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000
Deferred tax assets EEREEE TR S Txn TEx Txx TEx
At beginning of year REA (10) (4) = = (10) 4)
(Credited)/charged to the consolidated ~ RERAWEERF (GTA)/
income statement (Note 13) M (FizE13) (17) 6) (1,215) - (1,232) (6)
Exchange differences ERER - - 19 - 19 -
At end of year iG-S (27) (10) (1,196) = (1,223) (10)
Accelerated/decelerated tax
depreciation allowances Total
M EEB BN E 2R &5t
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENFE ZTTAF —EENE ZTTEF
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
Deferred tax liabilities EEHREAE TERT T TERT F=r
At beginning of year EAE’W 126 129 126 129
(Credited)/charged to the consolidated BlEEE (G
income statement (Note 13) /?Dﬁﬁ? BisE13) (124) (5) (124) (5)
Exchange differences ERER - 2 - 2
At end of year REFLL 2 126 2 126
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30 Deferred income tax (Continued) 30 EEMBH @

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carry-forwards
to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through
future taxable profits is probable. The Group has not recognised
deferred income tax assets of approximately US$9,074,000 (2007:
US$6,902,000) in respect of losses amounting to US$50,187,000
(2007: US$39,440,000) that can be carried forward against future
taxable income. These tax losses have no expiry date.

RIEFTST B E T AR B IS Fl & 7 3 1B R
R PE R B e A IR T BE P 4S8 2 B TS B R R
FRARR o ZRE B I 4% i 7 45 65 DA 8 R 2R B AR
i UL A 2 /85 1850,187,000% T (Z T+ F :
39,440,000k 7t) MERBELEMEH EE LD
9,074,000 7T (Z & £ 4 : 6,902,000 7T) °
ZEM B EENEEm A -

31 Share capital 31 B
2008 2007
—EENF —ETEF
US$'000 US$'000
FEx Tt
Authorised: ERE
2,000,000,000 ordinary shares of US$0.02 2,000,000,000/% & AR EI{E0.023E 7T
each 2 &R 40,000 40,000
Nominal Number of
value shares
H{E BHEE
US$'000 ‘000
F=ET TFh%
At 1 May 2006 RZZEERFRA—H 13,337 666,845
Issue of shares to settle consideration BETIRMD AT E—RKTB AR
payable for acquisition of a subsidiary (Note) AR E () 81 4,075
At 30 April 2007 RZZEZLFMA=+H 13,418 670,920
Issue of shares to settle consideration BITRMD AR E - B AR
payable for acquisition of a subsidiary (Note) FERTEIRAE (P EE) 82 4,075
At 30 April 2008 R=ZBENFEOA=+H 13,500 674,995
Note: BiaE -

On 1 February 2007 and 27 February 2008, 4,074,635 ordinary shares of US$0.02 each of
the Company were issued respectively at a price of approximately HK$2.284 (equivalent to
US$0.29) per share as part of the consideration for the acquisition of a subsidiary.
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32 Share options

The Company's share option scheme ("Share Option Scheme"), was
adopted pursuant to a resolution of the then sole shareholder passed
on 22 April 2002 for the primary purpose of providing incentives
or rewards to eligible persons for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group. The Share Option Scheme will remain in
force for a period of 10 years up to 2012. Under the Scheme, the
Company's Board of Directors or a committee thereof may grant
options to eligible persons to subscribe for shares in the Company at a
price per share of not less than the highest of (i) the nominal value of
a share; (i) the closing price of a share as stated in the daily quotation
sheets issued by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on the
date of the offer of the relevant option; and (iii) the average closing
price of the shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer. A consideration of HK$1 is
payable on acceptance of the grant of options. The maximum number
of shares which may be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding
options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
scheme to be adopted by the Company from time to time must not
in aggregate exceed 30% of the share capital of the Company in
issue from time to time. The Company has no legal or constructive
obligation to repurchase or settle the share options in cash.

Movements in the number of shares options outstanding and their
related weighted average exercise prices are as follows:

32 B

RRARZEREERT 8 ([FBRERE]) =
ZE_FUA -+ - HRBERERRBG
RFBRMED  TEENEREHMHEE
BRALTHAEEZEKAESIEL 2T/ - B
BAEK—EENR BEE_T—_-FRIAH
TH - RIEZTE ARAESGXEEERE
SAHERERTEERALTURBARRR
7 SRERBETLRO—BREZ ZEE : (i)
BEEMARZMABERAREM 2T BRMHESR
PRSI R B — BB N BRI R A HE
BzWmE - Ri)&BMaXHMERARE
oz & R ERMFIA R AR EZLR B
AMABEXA 2RO FHRTE (ABRSER
) BEMALTRNEMABRER A MRE
BT - REBEEREF I RARRK FRAZE
fa] o 51 8 2 35 1B 18 AR 7T {52 2 8 AR 7T 2 By
AETZRNEE  TREBAQFTRDE
TTIRA 2300 © R A B 3 8 0A 2 3 HEE B 1E A
ReBERENBRE -

MR AT 2 B B R A 2 I 1T
EEZSHWT -

2008 2007
—EENF ZETLF
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price exercise price
per share Options per share Options
FRMME FAR N
FHITEE BRE THITRE B
HK$ '000 HK$ '000
BT T I T1n
Beginning of the year REA]) 2.386 32,222 2.404 45,264
Granted i 0.830 40,580 - -
Lapsed KK 2.021 (12,662) 2.480 (10,676)
Cancelled wE8H 2.369 (22,759) 2.437 (2,366)
End of the year NGRS 0.830 37,381 2.386 32,222
During the year ended 30 April 2008, no options were exercised under REBEE_ZZNFOA=TRHILFE  TER

EERETZTERRE - R /N\FHA
=+8 ' WE(ZZZLF :29,2220001) &
A HER] FATME o

the Share Option Scheme. As at 30 April 2008, no (2007: 29,222,000)
share options were exercisable.
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32 BRE »
BATR A 4 AR B 4 R 17465 7 B AR A 2 7 D B
RATE(E -

32 Share options (Continued)
Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following
expiry dates and exercise prices:

Exercise price

per share Shares
BRITEE [igv)

2008 2007
—EZTN\F —ETEF
HK$ '000 '000
Expiry date JEw B H# BT TR TR
20 May 2008 —ZEENFHEA=T+H 2.550 - 12,672
5 November 2008 —EE)\F+—HARH 1.600 - 5710
29 May 2009 —ETAFRA=TANAB 2.125 = 2,890
29 March 2010 —E-TF=F=+NH 2.975 - 5,950
13 October 2011 —T—F+HA+=H 2.315 - 5,000
23 August 2013 —T—=F)\A=+=H 0.830 37,381 =
37,381 32,222

£ A 72— &F B HT (R (E R B TE 2 FE LR A
BYFHRAFEEORENERE 48T (BF
R0.023%7T) » AR FT EESFTH I AR R 5

The weighted average fair value of options determined using the
Black-Scholes valuation model was approximately HK$0.14 (equivalent
to US$0.02) per option. The significant inputs to the model were as

follows: EHIF :
30 March 14 October 24 August
2004 2005 2007
—TTNE —ZTTRHEF —TTEF
Grant date BHBEH =A=+H +A+mAE NA=-+mEH
Number of share options granted Rz Bk EE B 16,200,000 10,500,000 40,579,500
Share price at date of grant (HK$) RIRE AR ERE OB8T) 2.975 2.275 0.830
Exercise price (HK$) T8 OBIT) 2.975 2.315 0.830
Annualised volatility REFHRIE 43.03% 37.40% 37.97%
Annual risk-free interest rate =R BRI IR F R 2.22% 4.13% 4.16%
Life of share options (years) R ER M FER (F) 40 to 4.5 3.5t0 4.5 3.5to0 4.5
40%45 3.56%45 3.56%45
Dividend yield i S = 2.13% 2.85% 4.32%

The volatility measured at the standard deviation of continuously

compounded share returns is based on statistical analysis of daily

share prices of the Company's shares over one year immediately

preceding the grant date.
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33 Reserves 33 f#1E

(@) Group (a) A%M
Share-
based Capital
Share  payment  Special redemption  Capital Translation  Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve  earnings Total
NRHA
ERAR &x

ke R RHRE RERE EXRE BERE  REEN At
US§'000  US§'000  US§'000  US$000  US$000  US$'000  US§'000  US$'000
T¥r TEr TR TR TEr TR TR TER

Balance at 1 May 2007 RIZZLERA-AER 20564 647 184 48 - 212 25,197 48,76
Loss for the year FEER . 5 = = . - (12789 (12.789)
Employee share option scheme - value (SR E 2

of employment services - EERBER - 236 - - - - - 236
Cancellation of employee share options R {E S B MRiEat 2l - (301) - - - - 301 -

Premium arising on issue of shares upon FAEE—Z K BT
acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 31)  EfTRHEEZ&E

Ui 1,068 - - - - - - 1,068
Currency translation differences ERnEES s S . = s (622) = (622)
Dividend paid ERERS - - - - - - (2154 (2154
Balance at 30 April 2008 R=ZZNEMA
ZtRER 21,632 582 184 48 - 1500 10,555 34,501
Representing: RE:
2008 final dividend proposed BE-ZZN\ERERE -
Others i 10,555
10,555
Balance at 1 May 2006 WETAGRA-BER  194% 49 184 .8 569 885 40277 61907
Loss for the year FEFE = = = = = - (o) (11,062
Employee share option scheme - value (B S EERRZ:T2)
of employment services - EERBEE - 199 - - - - - 199
Premium arising on issue of shares upon FAEE—ZKBAR
acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 31)  EfTRHEE2&E
(Wt3E31) 1,068 - - - - - - 1,068
Currency translation differences ERpnEES = = = = = 1237 = 1237
Waiver of dividend receivable from  HEWBEN-FHE2E
a non-wholly owned subsidiary MBRRZRE - - - - (569) - - (569)
Dividend paid ERRE - - - - - - (4018 (4019)
Balance at 30 April 2007 RIZZLE
MA=TR&ER 20,564 647 184 48 - 212 25,197 48,762
Representing: f&:
2007 final dividend proposed RE-TZLERBRE 2,150
Others = 23,047
25,197
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33 f#&E @

33 Reserves (Continued)

(b) Company (b) &"AF]
Share-based Capital
Share payment redemption Contributed Retained
premium reserve reserve surplus earnings Total
URGBAER EXER
REE  ARREE wE  BRE%  REEA Bt
Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FE FE FET TEx S TEr
Balance at 1 May 2007 RZZT+F
TRA—R&R 20,564 647 48 9,946 5,754 36,959
Loss for the year FEBE - - - - (362) (362)
Employee share option scheme EEREREE
- value of employment services - EEMR&BAE - 9236 - - - 236
Cancellation of employee share options EUH{E 8 BB #Es 2] = (301) - - 301 -
Premium arising on issue of shares upon R EE— K KB A )
acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 31)  4FRMHELY
&l (MEEs1) 1,068 - - - - 1,068
Dividend paid BERRE - - - - (2,154) (2,154)
Balance at 30 April 2008 R-BENE
A=tH&® 21,632 582 48 9,946 3,539 35,747
Representing: & :
2008 final dividend proposed BR-ZZST\FRARE -
Others Hith 3,539
3,539
Balance at 1 May 2006 RZZTRF
hA-R&ER 19,496 448 48 9,946 5325 35,263
Profit for the year FEER - - - - 4,447 4,447
Employee share option scheme EERREE
- value of employment services - EEREBE - 199 - - - 199
Premium arising on issue of shares upon B Uk B — 5 i B A 7]
acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 31)  B4FRMHEL Y
wfE (ffrzsn) 1,068 - - - - 1,068
Dividend paid BARE - - - - (4018) (4018)
Balance at 30 April 2007 RZZETtE
MA=+R#&R 20,564 647 48 9,946 5,754 36,959
Representing: &
2007 final dividend proposed RE-ZZLERERE 2.150
Others Hits 3,604
5,754

Special reserve represents the difference between the nominal
value of share capital of the Company issued and the aggregate
amount of nominal value of share capital of subsidiaries acquired
by the Company through an exchange of shares.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the contributed
surplus account of the Company is distributable to equity
holders. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend
or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) it is,
or would after the payment be unable to pay its liabilities as
they become due; or (ii) the realisable value of its assets would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued
share capital and share premium accounts.
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34 Cash flow statement 34 BERER

(a) Cash generated from operations (a) REEEMBES
2008 2007
S A
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FEx
Loss for the year FEEE (20,417) (30,870)
Adjustments for: KA
Income tax (credit)/expense Fri8® (&+40), S H (365) 2,659
Share of loss of a jointly FE1E — R [F 12
controlled entity B EE 45 53
Interest expense F B 418 1,164
Interest income FEUA (598) (905)
Impairment loss on goodwill [EESEREY EiE] 3,000 2,494
Impairment loss on purchase A E U EE (B
consideration recoverable BB EE - 5,699
Impairment loss on patents and BH AT
trademarks TEET1E 10,254 51,529
Write-back of purchase P Ui
consideration payable RAB#E = (21,469)
Depreciation of property, ME - HE R
plant and equipment RIBITE 1,715 1,575
Amortisation of intangible assets B A EEE 1,158 921
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - KE R
plant and equipment B ! 2 392
Share options, value of fBliE — B B R
employment services BE 236 199
Changes in working capital EBECEE
(excluding the effects of exchange (TEERGEERE
differences on consolidation): RERZRmovE
Inventories FE (3.238) 3,748
Trade receivables FEE Z RN 9,923 3,171
Prepayments, deposits and TBRFIE - BE Rk
other receivables b fE W sk I8 1,960 (319)
Amount due from a JEURBAE A F]Z
related company HIA 59 129
Trade payables BT E SR (6.788) (13,258)
Accruals and other payables JEETE R K HE A R FE (3,182) (1,284)
Warranty provision AR 6,412 595
Post-employment benefits 1B B8R IKEF (173) (329)
Cash generated from operations REEBREHRE 421 5,894
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34 HERER @)
REERERERN  HEYWE - M&E

34 Cash flow statement (continued)

(b) In the consolidated cash flow statement, proceeds from disposal (b)

of property, plant and equipment comprise:

KRB SREE

2008 2007

ZEBEN\F —ERAF

US$'000 US$'000

FEx FEr

Net book amount (Note 17) RmEHE (FisE17) 44 440
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE  BER

plant and equipment RIEEE 2) (392)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE  BER

plant and equipment A PTIS TIE 42 48

(c) The principal non-cash transaction was the issue of shares as () FEZIREXFHAETRMAERIE

—KMBLRRZRE -

consideration for the acquisition of a subsidiary.

(d) For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash d) FEEERELRERM:  RakBEassE
and cash equivalents comprise: BEIEE B
2008 2007
—EEN\F —ETLF
us$'o00 Us$'000
Fx FET
Bank balances and cash RITHEFTRE S 16,752 30,405
Less: Fixed bank deposits with original B =AM ERH 2
maturity over three months TEBRERITIE X
(Note 23) (FfF5E23) - (7,000)
Cash and cash equivalents ReMIBeEEEER 16,752 23,405
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35 Commitments

(a)

(b)

Operating lease commitments — where the Group is (a)
the lessee

The Group leases various office premises, staff quarters,

furniture and equipment under non-cancellable operating

lease agreements. The leases have varying terms, escalation

clauses and renewal rights. The future aggregate minimum lease

payments are as follows:

35 KIE

REHEARE - UAKREREAREA

AREERBEIITHELEHERZMEE
ZEBA=EM  EIES  BMER
e 2EHECEY  FBES ZHRK
BHOENESBTE - RRSKEBEEFIAN
T

Office premises and Furniture and
staff quarters equipment
MAEBNR ERR
ETIRES KRB
2008 2007 2008 2007
ZBEN\F —ITTt+HF ZBENF —TT+HF
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FTER FET FEx FET
Not later than one year —FR 987 1,314 165 132
Later than one vyear but not later —%F ML
than five years BRFUT 696 1,566 355 405
Later than five years AENUE 117 277 - -
1,800 3,157 520 537
Capital commitments (b) BEAFEE

The Group had the following capital commitments for the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment:

NTRAKEEBEEYE  BMENMEEZ
BAEIE

2008 2007
—EENF —ETLF
us$'oo0 Us$'000
FEx FET

Contracted for but not provided in BRI AE R SR E A
the financial statements B 27 335
Authorised but not contracted for BEAZEBRETL 7 2
34 337
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36 Related party transactions 36 ERAEALRS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability,
directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making financial and operating
decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject

to common control or common significant influence.

(a) Particulars of significant transactions between the Group and
related parties are summarised as follows:

BEREATEATERIEREN S -7 &
EHM B R EERREH S —TITEEATE
NZ AT - KRR AZEHXZMAERTE
ZANLTTEBEEEANL -

(a) AEEEBEEATETZEARZHIE
WA an R

Identity of related parties Nature of transactions 2008 2007
EREALEHR REME —ETN\FE ZTTLF
Note US$'000 Us$'000
b=s S FET
Sky Fame Group Limited Rental expense (i) 128 -
HESEER AR e
Turmar Limited Rental expense (1) - 109
BEAERAT HeM>
Ken Ball Limited Rental expense () 135 108
P =1 1 YNG] e
DGC GmbH Royalty income (i1) 95 93
-k 3 ON
DGC GmbH Inspection income (iii) 37 50
BmERA

Sky Fame Group Limited and Turmar Limited are 100% owned
by Mr. WANG Lu Yen, a Director, and his spouse.

Ken Ball Limited is 100% owned by Mr. Peter Loris SOLOMON,
a Director.

DGC GmbH is 64% owned by Mr. Raymond Anthony NUGENT,
a Director of Dowry Peacock, a 60% owned subsidiary of the
Company.

Notes:

(i) Rental expenses are determined based on market rate and floor area.

(i) Royalty income was charged in accordance with the terms of agreement
made between the parties.

(i) Inspection income was determined based on the rate agreed by both
parties.
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36 Related party transactions (Continued)

(b) Balances with related parties

The outstanding balances at 30 April 2007 and 2008 were
receivable from DGC GmbH. The amounts due from related

companies were unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable

within one year.

(c) Key management compensation

36 BEAEALTRZ @
() REBMEALZELS
R-TT+ER-FT/\EMA=+HZ
S T 45 84 75 FE UKDGC GmbH2 207 - &
WEREAT Y RARELR  RERA
R—EREIE -

() EEEHEZFM

2008 2007
—EENFE —ETLF
us$'o00 Us$'000
FEx FET
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e~ B4 ROERL 1,155 1,675

Pension costs - defined RIKRE KA
contribution plans — EREHGEE 78 90

Share options - value of B RRE
employment services — EERBEE 80 42
1,313 1,807
37 Subsidiaries 37 B AAF

2008 2007
—EEN\F —ETLF
us$'oo0 Us$'000
FEx FET
Unlisted shares, at cost K EMRRD (FRAA) 9,987 9,987
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE WL FfY 8 A R 5k I8 36,945 33,234
46,932 43,221

Amounts due from subsidiaries represent equity funding by the

Company to the respective subsidiaries and are measured in

accordance with the Company's accounting policy for investments

in subsidiaries.

REARH B 2 MRS A R Al KB A AR
2 BRARE - HREAD AL BEARRAE
2RI BRI R -

ZERNFFH MELREERAA



Notes to the Financial Statements

BTSSR

37 Subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company's subsidiaries as at 30 April 2008 are as

37 B AFE )

AAAR=EEN\EMA=1+AONBEARE

follows: BT
Place of
incorporation/
establishment/ Issued and fully Percentage of
principal place of paid share capital/ attributable
Name operations registered capital Principal activities equity interest
MR L ERTRBRERE FEfR
=L FTEKE MR & FTEXK REBMLL
Benchmark Profits Limited (i) British Virgin Islands Ordinary share US$1 Investment holding 100%
REBERRHS LBk BB PR
CU Packaging & Design British Virgin Islands Ordinary share US$1 Investment holding 100%
(BVI) Limited (i) HEERMRES TRRkIET B
CU Packaging & Design Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 Trading of 100%
REFEZEFRAA a5 L@ 2B T merchandise and
procurement agent
EmE 5 M ERERIE
Dowry Peacock Group Limited  United Kingdom Ordinary shares GBP300 Investment holding 60%
R T AR300H & BB
eServices (BVI) Limited (i) British Virgin Islands Ordinary share US$1 Inactive 100%
EEER RS LRR1ET R
eServices Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares Inactive 100%
BB HK$100,000 EEE
38 % 100,000/ 7T
Ever Eagle Limited (i) British Virgin Islands Ordinary share US$1 Investment holding 100%
EEERRAES LRRIET =gy
Golden Rules Enterprises Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1 Investment holding 100%
Limited (i) B ERRVET BB
=EARRAT (1)
IGCS Group Limited (i) British Virgin Islands Ordinary share US$1 Investment holding 100%

Linmark Group Limited annual report 2008
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37 Subsidiaries (Continued)

37 B AFE )

Place of
incorporation/
establishment/
principal place of

Issued and fully
paid share capital/

Percentage of
attributable

Name operations registered capital Principal activities equity interest
MR B ERTRARKRE FEA
=L FTEKEHR & FEER RIER B L
IGCS International Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary share US$1 Provision of social 100%
EBERRHS L@R1ZETT compliance services
TS EELE
SF I BE S AR 7%
IGCS Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 Provision of social 100%
B EmAR2ETT compliance services
RELSEELE
<F I BS S AR 75
Inspire World Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1 Inactive 100%
EAARAT B TRBETT EmE
International Laboratory Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1 Provision of laboratory 100%
Services Limited B w1 BT services
B A e AR TS B PR A 7] he i IR%E
ISO International (BVI) Limited  British Virgin Islands Ordinary share US$1 Investment holding 100%
EEER RS Tm1ET REZER
ISO International (Holdings) Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$100 Provision of technical 100%
Limited BB 3@k 1007 7T support and

management services,
and trading of home
lifestyle consumer
electronic products
PR BT SR I
EERE  RKE
HEBEFEMES

“TERN\FFER MEEEERAF
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BTSSP RE

37 Subsidiaries (Continued)

37 B AT )

Place of
incorporation/
establishment/
principal place of

Issued and fully
paid share capital/

Percentage of
attributable

Name operations registered capital Principal activities equity interest
ML, B ERTRBERE FEAL
=L FTEKEHR & FEER RIER B
Linmark Agency (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary shares Investment holding 100%
HEHAR RS US$50,000 and procurement
3B AR 50,0003 7T agent
BB PR N BRAE R
Linmark Agency (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Ordinary shares Procurement agent 100%
Limited B HK$10,000 REBHRIE
T3/ A% 10,0007 7T
Linmark Agency (Mauritius) Ltd  Republic of Mauritius Ordinary shares US$2 Procurement agent 100%
FE B EATHFE L@k T RERIE
Linmark Development (BVI) British Virgin Islands Ordinary share US$1 Procurement agent 100%
Limited HEERRES ERRkIET RIBHIE
Linmark Electronics Limited United Kingdom Ordinary shares Design and 60%
e GBP12,500 procurement
A% 12,500 85 of entertainment
and customer
electronic products
RERHEE T Em
Z et MEREE
Linmark (HK) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 Investment holding 100%
W2 (F8) ARAF B AR 2B TT and procurement

Linmark Group Limited annual report 2008
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37 Subsidiaries (Continued)

37 B AT )

Place of
incorporation/
establishment/
principal place of

Issued and fully
paid share capital/

Percentage of
attributable

Name operations registered capital Principal activities equity interest
ML, B ERTRBERE FEAL
=L FTEKEHR & FEER RIER B
Linmark International Bangladesh Ordinary shares Procurement agent 100%
(Bangladesh) Ltd. gk Taka20,000 EREBMIE
/A% 20,0005
Linmark International Hong Kong Ordinary shares Investment holding, 100%
(Hong Kong) Limited &% HK$200,000 procurement agent
WEBR (F%) BRAF T3 A% 200,00078 7T and trading of
merchandise
R EER  PRAE IR
EEmES
Linmark Merchandise Mainland China Registered capital Provision of marketing 100%
Consultancy (Shenzhen) F RMB 1,500,000 consultancy and
Limited (ii) & AR product development
MER@E SR ORYI) AR #1,500,0007C services
ABRAA (i) He T 5 HE FE ) B
E A B AR 7S
Linmark (UK) Limited United Kingdom Ordinary shares Provision of market 100%
HE GBP100 trend consultancy
EBAR 1005 55 services
RIS E®R
o A AR 75
Linmark Westman Investments  British Virgin Islands Ordinary shares US$11  Investment holding 100%
Limited (i) HEERRES ERR1ET B
Market Asia Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1 Inactive 100%
MEBEFRA R BB L@ s TT BEx
Merchandise Creative, Inc. British Virgin Islands Ordinary share US$1 Inactive 100%
EEER RS LRRIFET R

“TERN\FFER MEEEERAF
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BTSSP RE

37 Subsidiaries (Continued)

37 B AT )

Place of
incorporation/
establishment/
principal place of

Issued and fully
paid share capital/

Percentage of
attributable

Name operations registered capital Principal activities equity interest
MR B ERTRARKRE FEAL
=L FTEKEHR & FEER RIER B
Merchandise Creative Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares Procurement agent 100%
B8 HK$10,000 REEAIE
iM% 10,0007 7T
Pacific Technologies Limited United Kingdom Ordinary shares Inactive 60%
HE GBP45,000 BEEL
L 3F AR 45,000 8%
Power Path Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1 [nactive 100%
EEARAR BB BB BT
Tamarind Agency Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary share US$1 Inactive 100%
EEER RS Tm1ET BERS
Tamarind International British Virgin Islands Ordinary share US$1 Investment holding 100%
Holdings Limited (i) HBHR RS LEAR1ZETT B
Tamarind International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1 Investment holding 100%
BB w1 ETT and trading of
merchandise
REEBRNEME S
Tamarind Marketing Services Macao Ordinary shares Trading of merchandise 100%

(Macao Commercial Offshore) &P

Limited

RE L% RS
ORPIBE =3RS )
AR AAE
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37 Subsidiaries (Continued)

37 B AT )

Place of
incorporation/
establishment/
principal place of

Issued and fully
paid share capital/

Percentage of
attributable

Name operations registered capital Principal activities equity interest
ML, B ERTRBERE FEAL
=L FTEKEHR & FEER RIER B
Tamarind Trading (Shanghai) Mainland China Registered capital Procurement agent 100%
Limited 2lE RMB5,500,000 and trading of
RKELES (L8) & A merchandise
BRAT] AR #5,500,00070 REREMEME S
Trend Xpress (Bangladesh) Ltd.  Bangladesh Ordinary shares Provision of market 100%
ay)iEae Taka20,000 trend consultancy
LB A%20,00088 R services
TRAE T I% M 15
e A AR 75
Trend Xpress, Inc. (i) British Virgin Islands Ordinary share US$1 Investment holding 100%
EBERRHES @RI and provision of
market trend
consultancy services
WA MR T
R 15 A AR TS
Trend Xpress Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 Investment holding, 100%
s i1 EREE BR A Al BB w28 TT provision of

market trend
consultancy services
and trading of
merchandise
WEER - RHEmS
R B R 5 AR TS
EEmE 5

“FE\EER AEREERAT



Notes to the Financial Statements

B TR I T
37 Subsidiaries (Continued) 37 Fﬁ%i\\ﬁ] (#&)
Place of
incorporation/
establishment/ Issued and fully Percentage of
principal place of paid share capital/ attributable

Name operations registered capital Principal activities equity interest

MR B EBRITRHBERE, ik

8 FELKE B & A FEHEK RERHGL

Trend Xpress (S) Pte. Limited Singapore Ordinary shares S$2 Provision of market 100%

AN AR 2R AN T trend consultancy
services
RIS B R
B AR
Westman Linmark Thailand Ordinary shares Procurement agent 100%
(Thailand) Ltd. ZREY Baht5,880,000 and REBAIE
Preference shares
Baht6,120,000 (iii)
L3 1% 5,880,000 8k [
B 4EAR6,120,0005= #K(iii)
Westman (Singapore) Singapore Ordinary shares Procurement agent 100%
Private Limited AN $$200,000 RIBRIE
=38 A% 200,00057 A0 TT
Westown Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares Procurement agent 100%
EHERAR B HK$100,000 RERE
T3/ % 100,000 7T

Notes: BaE -

(i) The shares of these subsidiaries are held directly by the Company. The shares of (i) ARREERFREZSEMBAR KRG - R EA
other subsidiaries are held indirectly. AIZ kM RIfEERES -

(i) Linmark Merchandise Consultancy (Shenzhen) Limited is a wholly foreign owned (i) MEFREEZA CRID BRARE—FKNF
enterprise established in Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, Mainland China for a BERERVK 2R ERE - REI15F  BEE
term of 15 years up to 2019. —ZE-NEFRIL -

(i) The Group has beneficial interest in these preference shares which are held by (i) AEERZEELRTEAZTEER  MZSEL
nominees through a scheme of arrangements. Holders of the preference shares are BRITBRREBABB—IHLHERFE - ERTARKR
entitled to a dividend equivalent to 3.5% of the paid-up value of the preference FHAEARGEMRER - BERZIFEAGRER
shares, before any dividend could be distributed to the holders of the ordinary HERME RS R RFBE3 DR E - BIRZE
shares. Each of these preference shares carries one-tenth of the voting right (when BERERARZRREAE LERERE+H— (Y
compared to ordinary share) in the company's general meetings. BIREEED) ©

(i) None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at the end of the year (iv) BT A B G 4B Bl N 4F 5 A0 A ] B AR 4 A 4T
or at any time during the year. REBEZEBEER -
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38 Ultimate holding company

39

Since 28 March 2007, Rl Special Holdings Bermuda Limited ("Rl
Special”), a company incorporated in Bermuda, has been the
controlling shareholder of the Company and Megastar Holdings
Limited (“Megastar"), a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands, has been the ultimate holding company of the Company.
The ultimate controlling party of the Group is Mr. WANG Lu Yen, a
director of the Company.

With effect from 25 October 2007, Roly International Holdings Ltd. (a
company incorporated in Bermuda and the previous ultimate holding
company up to 28 March 2007) amalgamated with Rl Special pursuant
to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and the terms and conditions
of the amalgamation agreement entered into among Rl Holdings
Bermuda Limited (a company incorporated in Bermuda), Rl Special
and Roly International Holdings Ltd. The name of the amalgamated
company is Roly International Holdings Ltd. (“Roly International)
and it continues to be a Bermuda exempted company with limited
liability.

As at 30 April 2008, Roly International, directly and indirectly, held
approximately 71.64% of the issued share capital of the Company.

Approval of financial statements
These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue
by the Board of Directors on 31 July 2008.

38 RAER AT

39

—EELEF=AF+NAE —HEHRER
Z kAL 2 A FIRI Special Holdings Bermuda
Limited ([RI Speciall) BX & 2N A &) 2 2 i% I%
RoMm—ERRBEBREES MK AT
Megastar Holdings Limited ([ Megastar|) BIEK %
RRABZRIEIERDE o REE 2 HBZERA
REARBZEFEHEERE -

BIEBRE—NN\—FR8E * LAKRI Holdings
Bermuda Limited (—AR B R ZEZMALZA
7)) * RI Special XRoly International Holdings Ltd.
(2R EBRZERERA A 5] 2 F#F 032 15
A& Roly International Holdings Ltd. (—F&
RBEREFME L2 AR RBE ST LF=
AZ+N\B 2Rl A&&ERAR]) BRI Special
FOF-BHZEEEFTAZTRARBER - 5
14 A7) 2 %78 BRoly International Holdings Ltd.
([2ERBEE])  WEEARREEREZER

UNCII

RZZEZNEFENA=1+H 2EBEEEZELHE
BRARNARE B TIRAL71.64% °

PR ERaR 2t

EZgERN_EENFLA=T—BHERM
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5-Year Financial Summary

hFHMBHE

Results
For the year ended 30 April
BZOB=1+HILEE
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
—TETNF ZTTRF ZEEF ZTTEF —BENF
US$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 Us$'000
FZE=x Fx=x F=x FE=r FErx
Revenue Weas 44,338 89,837 288,322 383,583 289,707
Cost of sales SHER A (5,652) (41,513)  (229,923)  (329,897) (260,109)
Gross profit EM 38,686 48,324 58,399 53,686 29,598
Other income HAb WA 787 1,122 1,787 2,593 2,594
General and administrative —M R
expenses THAX (26,861) (35,112) (50,521) (45,925)  (39,855)
Impairment loss on goodwill R EE 1R - = = (2,494) (3,000)
Impairment loss on purchase A B EE R (E
consideration recoverable BB E R - - - (5,699) =
Impairment loss on patents EH M ERRE
and trademarks &8 - = = (51,529) (10,254)
Write-back of purchase FERT U BB AME
consideration payable B [ml - - - 21,469 -
Excess of interest in fair REEAKBAREEFE
value of acquired subsidiaries’ ~ AFEEH
net assets over cost TR BN AN 2 FRE - - 3,397 = -
Gain on disposal/dissolution HE BB ARZ
of subsidiaries Wz = 13 - - -
Operating profit/(loss) M (&1R) 12,612 14,347 13,062 (27,899)  (20,917)
Interest income FEHA 2,160 1,321 814 905 598
Finance costs W% E R (4) (22) (549) (1,164) (418)
Share of loss of a jointly MG — R LRI E
controlled entity 218 - (12) (49) (53) (45)
Profit/(loss) before income tax ~ BRFTSBLATR T~ (&18) 14,768 15,634 13,278 (28,211) (20,782)
Income tax expense/(credit) Frsfis i (3530) (143) (880) (2,763) (2,659) 365
Profit/(loss) for the year FERF (EB) 14,625 14,754 10,515 (30,870) (20,417)
Attributable to: AR & 75 FE1h
Equity holders of the Company ~ ANABHEZERA A 14,625 14,754 10,444 (11,062) (12,789)
Minority interest DEIT R AER - = 71 (19,808) (7.628)
14,625 14,754 10,515 (30,870) (20,417)
Dividends B 5,872 6216 4,829 3,679 -
Earnings per share TR AR
(US cents) (=)
Basic ER 2.3 2.3 1.6 (1.7) (1.9)
Diluted e 2.2 2.2 1.6 (1.7) (1.9)
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Assets and liabilities

As at 30 April

MREA=+H
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
—ZTENF —ZTTRF —TERF —TTLF ZBENE
us$'ooo Us$'000 us$'000 US$'000  US$'000
FET FET FE= FET FEx
Non-current assets EMBNE E 21,454 48,832 116,855 61,246 47,309
Current assets mENE E 47,715 51,395 92,610 78,677 56,320
Total assets BERE 69,169 100,227 209,465 139,923 103,629
Current liabilities mEaE (7,255) (25,947) (85,799) (62,991) (49,922)
Non-current liabilities EmEBE (5,267) (8,961) (18,889) (2,627) (1,189)
Total liabilities BEESE (12,522) (34,908)  (104,688) (65,618) (51,111)
Net assets BESE 56,647 65,319 104,777 74,305 52,518

—ETN\FEH WEEBERAT



Corporate Information
N A&

Executive directors

WANG Lu Yen (Chairman) (Note)

Peter Loris SOLOMON (Chief Executive Officer) (Note)
KHOO Kim Cheng

Non-executive directors
WONG Wai Ming
Mark HSU

Independent non-executive directors
WANG Arthur Minshiang

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius

Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS

Audit committee

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius (Chairman of the Committee)
WANG Arthur Minshiang

Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS

Qualified accountant
KHOO Kim Cheng

Company secretary
CHEUNG Hoi Yin, Brenda

Registered office
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

Head office and principal place of business
1101-1108,

Hongkong International Trade & Exhibition Centre,

1 Trademart Drive, Kowloon Bay,

Kowloon, Hong Kong

Principal share registrar and transfer office
The Bank of Bermuda Limited

The Bank of Bermuda Building,

6 Front Street,

Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

Hong Kong branch share registrar
and transfer office

Tricor Standard Limited

26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen's Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
22nd Floor, Prince's Building
Central, Hong Kong

Principal bankers

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Level 10, HSBC Main Building,

1 Queen's Road Central, Hong Kong

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
13th Floor, Standard Chartered Bank Building,
4-4A Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong

Citibank, N.A.
48th Floor, Citibank Tower, Citibank Plaza,
3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong

Note: Mr. Peter Loris SOLOMON resigned as executive director and chief executive officer of
the Company with effect from 1 August 2008 and Mr. WANG Lu Yen was appointed the

acting chief executive officer of the Company with effect from 1 August 2008.
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AR &

Listing Listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since
10 May 2002

Stock Code : 915

Board Lot ;2,000

Par Value : US$0.02

Trading Currency : HK$

Financial calendar 2008
Financial year ended

Full year results announced
Annual general meeting

Interim results to be announced

30 April 2008

31 July 2008

4 September 2008

by end of January 2009*

*

subject to change

Final dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend in respect
of the year ended 30 April 2008.

Shareholder services
For enquiries about share transfer and registration, please contact the
Company's Hong Kong branch share registrar:

Tricor Standard Limited

26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen's Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2980 1768

Facsimile: (852) 2528 3158

Holders of the Company's shares should notify the Hong Kong branch share
registrar promptly of any change of addresses.

Investor relations
For enquiries relating to investor relations, please contact:

Linmark Group Limited

1101-1108, Hongkong International Trade & Exhibition Centre,
1 Trademart Drive, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2734 0888

Facsimile: (852) 3151 7882

Email: ir@linmark.com
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Linmark Group Limited

MEEBERAR"
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

(RBEFEEMA L 2 BRAR)

1101-1108, Hongkong International Trade & Exhibition Centre,
1 Trademart Drive, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong

ERNENEEREE —RBEBEEREF L 1101-1108

Tel E:E @ (852) 2734 0888
Fax {8E : (852) 2721 6554
http://www.linmark.com

*For identification purpose only {5l
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